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DAY 1 – 5 OCTOBER 2015 

 

  [10.00 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning, everyone.  I would like to introduce you to 5 

Mr Willis who is going to be sitting on this matter.  So, just in terms of 

appearances, Mr Winchester for the Council. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, with Mr Leslie.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Allen for the Crown. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, with Mrs White. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mrs White, that is right. 15 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Ms Crawford. 

 20 

MS CRAWFORD.   Ms Crawford appearing for Foddercube submitter 2225, 

BDF Family Trust submitter 2088, and Castle Rock Limited only in 

respect of the Castle Rock submission 2169 not 2168. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  So 2169 is to do with the industrial? 25 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, and that is Port Hills Road if you will recall from 

previous hearings. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I do.  There is an issue that is going to come up on 30 

that this morning which I will raise with Mr Allen. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary. 35 

 

MR CLEARY   Mr Cleary on behalf of Wilson, Martin and Chang submitters 

2278, and that is in respect of land located within area 3. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Cleary.  All right, just working across the 40 

room, Professor Bagchi. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Submitter 2164, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Avonhead Community Group, 2164. 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Any other appearances?  All right, okay, 

thank you.  There are just a few preliminary matters before we start 

with your submissions, Mr Winchester.  The first I put on the record 5 

again, as I have in previous hearings, that prior to my appointment as a 

judge I acted for the New Zealand Transport Agency and did so up 

until the end of my time as a partner at Chapman Tripp.   

 

 I see there are issues from the evidence which I was reading over the 10 

weekend that pertain to the different interests of the Crown and NZTA 

and different submitters including your client, Mr Cleary.  So I simply 

put it on record that I have had that role and that if any party has any 

issue with my dealing with matters in regard to those submission 

interests they should feel free to raise those issues without hesitation.  15 

Certainly there is a Panel here that allows for a quorum on those issues 

in the absence of my taking part but, subject to the views of parties, I 

would be inclined to proceed but I certainly welcome any submission 

that might be made in regard to my role.  So that doesn’t come up for 

some time but that is just one matter. 20 

 

 Now, there is another matter and I see it is raised in your submissions, 

Mr Winchester, in regard to the late submission by Whittle Knight and 

Boatwood 2301, and the question of scope. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is just a matter in regard to that Ms Huria wanted to 

put on record. 

 30 

MS HURIA:   I have no interest in the property except as the beneficiary of my 

husband’s will as he and his brother own the property that is the subject 

of this matter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just in terms of how this is managed I think it doesn’t 35 

require recusal as such because the proper order is in fact for the 

Hearings Panel chair, not myself but the Hearings Panel chair, Sir John 

Hansen, to consider these matters and make appropriate rulings.  So I 

will simply confer with Sir John on the matter in terms of timing of 

getting that issue resolved bearing in mind we are dealing with the 40 

merits of these submissions on these matters during this hearing.  So 

that is that matter. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 45 
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 Now, there is a memorandum from the Council of 1 October in regard 

to the New Brighton Medium Density Overlay and I just think just as a 

matter of record, Mr Winchester, clearly we haven’t made any 

decisions on these matters as yet which is effectively the gist of the 

Council’s memorandum was to request that we don’t do so given the 5 

live submissions from Maunder, Werner and Zaneen in this particular 

hearing.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So clearly there is no decisions that have pre-empted what 

the Council has been seeking which is that we don’t make any rulings 

on these matters until we have heard the merits of those submissions. 

 

 Now, the next matter was the question of the notification errors that we 15 

were notified of by the Council in regard to stage 1 submitters and we 

issued a minute giving a notice of hearing and directions for this last 

week.  In that document we indicated that the 19 October at 10 am is 

when we would hear any of those submitters that wished to be heard on 

these matters.  Just to signal that there is a difficulty on that day, as it 20 

turns out, with regard to Ms Dawson and so a further correspondence 

will go out on the basis that effectively those submitters need to make 

themselves available on the 20th and following days simply to allow 

for that timetable issue with regard to Ms Dawson’s availability. 

 25 

 Now, there is another preliminary matter, I understand four statements 

of evidence on which there is no cross-examination and I understand no 

– I will just check with my Panel members in regard to Mr Klein, K-l-

e-i-n, a Crown witness, Mr Chrystal and Mr Williams from Illogen 

Trust in respect of which there has been an arrangement settlement 30 

reached and Mr Phillips for Scentre and NPT, I don’t have any 

questions of those witnesses and I will check with my Panel members. 

 

 All right, so all of those statements can go in on the basis that there are 

no questions arising from either the Panel or any cross-examination so 35 

the witnesses don’t need to come to be sworn or anything.   

 

 Is Mr Williams, does anyone know who is representing the Airport?  Is 

it Mr Williams or Ms Appleyard, does anyone know that? 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   It is Ms Appleyard I understand. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well, we may have to convey a message on this 

but first of all Mr Clark for the Crown.  Now, Mr Allen, just in terms of 

Mr Clark’s evidence, he refers I think in his paragraphs 10.1 to 10.3 I 45 

think it may be of his rebuttal but I can check that, effectively at the 
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invitation of the Council’s transport engineer, Mr Milne, he has 

commented on two submissions on which the Crown did not make a 

submission or further submission.  Ms Crawford, is one of those your 

client? 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Castle Rock. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   That affects Castle Rock but I believe it may also affect 10 

Foddercube Products, I am just inquiring into that, I have received 

quite late instructions to represent that submitter, but I don’t recall a 

Crown submission in relation to that.  Mr Cleary may be able to clarify. 

 

MR CLEARY:   No. 15 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So there is actually a number of submitters I suspect 

where the Crown is straying into areas beyond their jurisdictions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, Mr Allen, you may be able to help me, but in 20 

terms of the Order in Council under clause 10, our role is to have a 

hearing on submissions on the proposals and as I read the right to be 

heard under schedule 3 it refers to those who have made a submission 

or further submission may speak at the hearing personally or through a 

representative and call evidence.   25 

 

 So the question for me at the moment, particularly in regard to there 

might be some difference with the Airport I am not sure, but 

particularly in regard to the Crown’s submission in regard to parts of 

the state highway on which it hasn’t made a further submission.   I am 30 

thinking about Castle Rock, I hadn’t appreciated that there might be 

another one, I am just wondering on what basis we can if the evidence 

hasn’t been requested by the Panel, effectively it has been volunteered 

by a party to serve their own interests, how it is that we can receive that 

evidence in in terms of procedural fairness. 35 

 

MR ALLEN:   Two responses to that first up, your Honour, is the Crown’s 

submission does have a general submission point in part A, 

acknowledged straight up the Crown did not make a further submission 

on that submission, but the Crown’s general submission point is in 40 

relation to the efficient and effective functioning of strategic 

infrastructure such as the state highways and that is in part A of the 

Crown’s submission.  So that is a general submission. 

 

  [10.10 am] 45 
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 The second point you made was that it is in the Crown’s interests and, 

sir, with this particular one, with respect, it is actually in a safety 

interest.  There is significant safety concerns and that is as far as I will 

take it. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, it is possibly wise only to take it that far 

because otherwise we could end up in some debate I think on that and 

the contrary interests of parties and the potential implications for 

parties. 

 10 

 Now, before I saw Ms Crawford in the room in regard to Castle Rock, 

my concern procedurally, which made me see it as possibly different 

from the Airport although I am not entirely sure, was that it potentially 

was catching the submitter by surprise effectively, to receive evidence 

in on the record for us to say effectively decline their relief without that 15 

submitter perhaps being put on specific notice.  I mean it could well 

have been for the Council to have elected to call Mr Clark as part of its 

case as well and I haven’t fully considered so I won’t make a 

determination on it, the matter you raise in regard to the general 

submission and whether in fact that provides scope. 20 

 

 I wonder whether the best course is at this stage at least that you further 

confer with Ms Crawford about what procedural arrangements can be 

made in order that her client can properly be given opportunity to 

respond to the matters raised in Mr Clark’s brief.  The one concern I 25 

had when I read the statement in Mr Clark’s evidence was he was 

saying the issue came up through invitation of the Council’s transport 

engineer, Mr Milne, an unusual way for the NZTA to feel as though it 

can volunteer evidence. 

 30 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, it was one, there is that general submission point, but given 

the many submission points that the Crown made on the stage 2 

proposals it appears a further submission was missed on that exact 

point so therefore the only reliance the Crown can have is back to the 

general submission point beyond of course the Panel accepting 35 

evidence that it considers may be of assistance to it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  I think the most constructive way forward is, 

prior to us hearing from Mr Clark, if you could come back to us after 

your discussions with Ms Crawford and determine whether or not you 40 

can come to any consensus on how best to manage the issue in regard 

potentially to both of the submitter interests.  As I say I have only 

considered the Castle Rock one at this point and I won’t make any 

determination but if you could think about the interests of procedural 

fairness and to ensure that the submitter has the proper opportunity, if 45 
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they want to take it, to respond to what is stated in Mr Clark’s evidence 

bearing in mind it is the opinion of an expert. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, the other issue is in regard to the Airport and 

Ms Harte’s statement of evidence raised it in my mind and I have to 

say, looking then at the submission, I started to wonder about this issue 

and the submission seems that the Airport made was a neutral 

submission in regard to two party interests, that is 2183 Equus and 10 

2278 Wilson, then a further submission 2817, saying it neither 

supported nor opposed the relief being pursued subject to the Airport’s 

noise relief being granted and then raising a focus on the noise 

sensitivity issue.  Whereas the evidence called is from Mr Penny on 

traffic and Mr Bonis on related planning issues.   15 

 

 I have two queries in my mind with regard to that.  One is, is there any 

basis upon which a party can call evidence that goes beyond the theory 

of their submission again and, secondly, is it I think in one sense 

Mr Penny is effectively recommending for retention of rural zoning in 20 

light of the concerns he has about traffic and I have to wonder about 

whether a traffic expert is qualified to give us that ultimate view. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 25 

 But in any event I wonder about the proprietary of calling evidence 

beyond the theory of a submission.  Now again I won’t make a ruling 

on it but before the Airport is heard I would like to have a response to 

this and, Mr Winchester, I wonder whether the Council could please 

convey to the Airport a message that we have a question at least about 30 

this matter. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Certainly, sir, happy to do that.  Are you wanting 

Ms Appleyard or Mr Williams to make an appearance today, sir, or 

simply be ready to deal with it when - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It would be helpful I think if they were to assist us today 

on how we manage it.  I appreciate there is a point of difference in the 

fact that in this case Mr Carr is giving evidence for one of the 

submitters at least and is fully on notice about the issues and also the 40 

issues that have come through the NZTA’s submission and through the 

evidence of Mr Clark, and they are relatively focused on the issues 

around the safety and appropriateness of an access arrangement off the 

proposed loop road as I understand it. 

 45 
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 So in that sense I suppose the submitters have been put on notice about 

the issues and are able to deal with them and have dealt with them at 

least in the case of one of those submitters.  But there is still a residual 

anxiety I have got about the construct of a submitter making a 

submission in one sense that is quite confined and narrow and neutral 5 

and then taking a position through their experts which is effectively to 

oppose the substance of the relief being pursued through experts that 

aren’t even signalled in any sense by their submission.  It seems to be a 

noise concern, a noise sensitivity concern from the submission whereas 

the case being mounted seems to be about traffic and transportation 10 

management. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, understood.  I will contact either Ms Appleyard or 

Mr Williams and relay that position to them and I will report back if I 

hear anything in terms of a likely appearance today. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks very much, Mr Winchester, I appreciate that.  

Yes, Mr Cleary. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sir, would it be okay if I make a few comments? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, by all means. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I would view the Airport’s further submission on our client’s 

original submission has actually not been neutral in the sense that in 25 

terms of the relief sought the Airport has sought that what we are 

seeking be granted and we have sought rezoning to industrial and if you 

look at the Airport’s, it would be the right hand column in terms of 

their further submission relevant to our clients, it says “Relief sought 

except the relief sought by our clients”.  Hopefully I haven’t confused 30 

you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I thought I had a copy of it actually, I thought I had 

brought a copy of it in with me but I seem to have left it behind.  Yes, 

well - - - 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   So now the evidence actually, as you know, seeks an entirely 

different outcome.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does seem to be different, I accept that, it is a question 40 

of I guess how different it is and I think it is at least something where 

we need to actually determine in a due process sense what happens to 

evidence like this.  I am mindful for instance that the evidence of 

Mr Penny is dealing with pretty much the same issues that Mr Clark is 

dealing with and Mr Carr is dealing with in response to Mr Clark.  But 45 

nevertheless even if it wasn’t replicated in other evidence, it is still a 
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matter of principle at a first level as to whether a party is free in this 

process to disarm other submitters by putting a submission in which is 

expressed in one way and then taking a theory of case which is entirely 

different. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   I mean I would say we were taken a little bit by surprise 

which is why we actually put in some rebuttal evidence and Ms Harte, 

as you know, hasn’t filed any evidence-in-chief but has rebuttal 

evidence to respond.  And Ms Harte’s rebuttal evidence also responds 

to the evidence on behalf of the Avonhead Community Group and the 10 

Avonhead Community Group wasn’t a further submitter on our relief 

sought.  But can I just say, I mean obviously in terms of fairness to our 

clients we have had the opportunity to provide rebuttal in terms of the 

process. 

 15 

  [10.20 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well it may be, Mr Cleary, this could be an example where 

I would welcome any further discussions you and Ms Appleyard might 

be able to have about the matter in the meantime as well.  But 20 

nevertheless I have put it on record of now that we have some 

questions about the matters that I have just raised in terms of what has 

occurred. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I understand Ms Appleyard is not available today. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I do not know. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I understand. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I see, all right.  Well may be we will just have to deal with 

that - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   And can I also - - -  

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - (INDISTINCT 0.43) 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - just confirm that our clients are not seeking to establish 

noise sensitive activities on this land. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well certainly I would have assumed that was the position 

given the lack of any evidence that suggests that there is any issue.  All 

right, thank you.  So now after all of that I think, Mr Winchester, if you 

could open the Council’s case, thank you. 

 45 



 Page 9 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you, sir.  I have filed some brief opening 

submissions and I have got some hard copies available as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  The Panel has had a chance to read them 

this morning so just take that on board. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  In terms of preliminaries, just to close 

the loop from my perspective, sir, obviously it was slightly untidy in 

terms of the issues we have just been dealing with but one matter which 

has occurred to me and as a consequence of the MAIL hearing and its 10 

relationship to this hearing is the Industrial Park zoning and I have 

spoken with my learned friends for the Crown about Ms Whyte’s 

evidence and there was some evidence given by Ms Whyte during the 

course of that hearing about cumulative effects in terms of the 

Industrial Park zoning generally and with your leave, sir, I would like 15 

to perhaps continue that theme with some short five minutes’ worth of 

questioning of Ms Whyte tomorrow. 

 

 I understand there is no objection from the Crown to that, and given 

that Mr Klein is not going to be required it should not take undue time. 20 

 

 The second point is as raised by my learned friend, Mr Cleary, Ms 

Harte has provided rebuttal evidence, obviously the Council does not 

oppose that rebuttal evidence however I would seek leave, sir, for five 

minutes with questioning Ms Harte on the basis of that evidence and I 25 

do so acknowledging the point about scope et cetera which has been 

raised. 

 

 And on the issue of 1 Clyde Road which Your Honour indicated you 

were going to discuss with the Panel, the Panel’s chair, I spoke with my 30 

learned friend, Mr Hughes-Johnson QC, who has had a late instruction 

in regard to this matter.  He did indicate that he was intending to make 

an application to file late evidence.  I have not seen that, I did - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think a timetable should be set by the Hearings 35 

Chair, Sir John, to allow for an exchange of views before a minute 

issues with a determination? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, sir, he did give that indication to me prior to 

having an awareness of the scope issue which is raised in opening.  I 40 

have alerted him to that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And I have not heard back from him as to how he wants 45 

to play it.  I think the best course, sir, with your leave, is for me to 
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make contact with Mr Hughes-Johnson today and try and agree how he 

wishes to progress the matter.  Certainly the Council does not wish to 

stand in the way of appropriate evidence being put before the Panel on 

this issue and it should be - - - 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There obviously is a primary question as to whether in 

fact it is beyond the scope of the Panel at this stage. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That’s right. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which again as a matter of principle needs to be dealt 

with in the proper way. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   YES. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I encourage those discussions, my only view expressed on 

it would be to make sure that we can get closure on the matter one way 

or the other, in plenty of time for the matters to be dealt with or not 

dealt with on their merits based on that determination.  So perhaps if 

you were to have discussions with Mr Hughes-Johnson, to 20 

communicate with the Secretariat about arrangements and then any 

timetabling suggestion for that for an exchange of memoranda or 

whatever before a minute is issued. 

 

  [10.25 am] 25 

 

 Obviously in any sort of arrangement of any kind that you have in mind 

needs to be on a basis that allows for a determination within a few 

days. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, yes, that is what I had in mind and I would like 

to try and resolve it as between myself and Mr Hughes-Johnson by 

lunchtime if possible. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, right, thank you very much, Mr Winchester.  I will 35 

convey that to the Panel Chairman. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Well with those matters dealt with I 

will just alight briefly on parts of the submissions in terms of, 

particularly what the key issues from the Council’s perspective are in 40 

this hearing and one of them we’ve broached to an extent already and it 

involves Mr Cleary’s clients and I deal with that issue in paragraph 2.1 

and 2.2 of the submissions and that is the issue about land which is 

identified as greenfield priority land in the LURP not being proposed to 

be rezoned and there is obviously a debate to be had about that. 45 

 



 Page 11 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 The submitters are saying that the land needs to be rezoned in order to 

give effect to the RPS.  From the Council’s perspective it takes a 

slightly broader view of the RPS, it doesn’t depend on just one 

objective and one policy, it looks at the RPS in a broader fashion and 

that is where I make the submission at paragraph 2.2 that the land 5 

should not automatically be zoned Industrial simply because it has been 

identified as a greenfield priority area, and while the zoning of the land 

as Industrial may give effect to parts of the RPS that identify the land 

as greenfield priority areas, it is submitted that the Industrial zoning 

does not give effect to other parts of the RPS and is inconsistent with 10 

other parts of the Proposed Replacement District Plan.  And I have 

recorded at sub-paragraphs A, B and C what the specific issues are in 

terms of the inconsistency with the RPS of zoning this land.  It is built 

to the west of Hawthornden Road, sir, as Industrial.  So that is the 

Council’s position on that particular matter. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I also touch on the point at paragraph 2.3 that there are 

requests for rezoning for areas that are outside the urban limit and not 20 

in greenfield priority areas and that obviously raises fundamentally a 

legal issue in my submission but it has been dealt with on the merits as 

well by the Council’s witnesses. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I will not address the consolidation of the New Brighton 

Commercial Area. There does not appear to be any competing evidence 

which deals with that of Mr Heath on that particular point.  And in 

terms of the resource efficiency provisions, you may recall during the 30 

pre-hearing meeting on this matter I gave notice that while they were a 

preference of the elected members, they are not a recommendation of 

the officers acting in their role as experts. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And the position we have now reached is that the evidence 35 

is not contested in that sense, it can be just simply considered on the 

basis of the written evidence. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, sir, and I have dealt with the issue of the 

out of scope submission in terms of 1 Clyde Road - - -  40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - and I have set out at paragraph 6.1 Council’s 

witnesses and the order in which I intend to call them. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much, Mr Winchester.  If you would just call 

your first witness. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  I call Mr Heath. 

 5 
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<TIMOTHY JAMES HEATH, sworn [10.29 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.29 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Your full name is Timothy James Heath and you have 

the qualifications and experience set out in your statement of evidence? 

 5 

MR HEATH:   That is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have produced only a statement of evidence-

in-chief for this matter dated 2 September 2015. 

 10 

MR HEATH:   That is correct. 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any amendments or additions to that 15 

evidence? 

 

MR HEATH:   No, I don’t.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you. Will you then confirm that to the best of 20 

your knowledge and belief your evidence is true and correct. 

 

MR HEATH:   I do.  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. You will have a short highlights package 25 

which I would ask you to read to the Panel and then remain where you 

are to answer any questions. 

 

MR HEATH:   Thank you.  

 30 

 New Brighton has a centre that has been under sustained decline over 

the last two decades. Its heyday has been fairly well documented with 

the first weekend trader and it drew custom from well beyond its 

catchment on that basis. In that regard, to service that market at the 

time it grew bigger than what its local market could support. The 35 

additional floor space that was provided during those days had a 

requirement of being able to attract significant custom to New Brighton 

to sustain that level of floor space.  

 

 As a result or changes in the market weekend trade is now the norm or 40 

common perhaps amongst all retail centres to be competitive, and that 

has seen a dilution of the number of shoppers going to New Brighton to 

undertake their shopping, and in fact there’s been an almost complete 

reversal now where most of the New Brighton market shop out of the 

New Brighton catchment to service their needs. That is both the larger 45 
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format and the convenience retail offer as a result of the decline in the 

quality and the scope of offer at New Brighton over that time. 

 

 Importantly, looking forward, the growth in the core market for 

New Brighton is forecast to be very low and slow on a comparative 5 

basis in the Christchurch context and the national context of only 1,000 

odd people over the next 18 years. So that level of growth is not 

significant in terms of retail GFA that could support or could be 

supported by that.  

 10 

 As a result of the level of leakage out of New Brighton as a result of 

people choosing to prefer shopping in other destinations, the quality of 

the stores, the scope of offer, the environment and the amenity of 

New Brighton as a whole has fallen and led to quite a low retail 

experience for shoppers and people are just choosing to shop elsewhere 15 

because they can and because it’s just as efficient and it provides a 

better environment and a better experience for them. 

 

 At the moment under the operative plan, the current New Brighton 

centre is approximately 11 hectares in land area. Based on my analysis 20 

of what the market could sustain, based on the role and function of 

New Brighton within the wider network, and the level of growth in the 

market moving forward, I have estimated approximately four hectares 

is appropriate for the size of New Brighton based on my analysis. 

 25 

 It is important, in New Brighton’s instance, a more consolidated retail 

core is provided and a more extensive centre just dilutes the offer and 

dilutes the performance, and it doesn’t help it fulfil its role and function 

successfully when you have a more expansive centre, primarily 

servicing the core convenience market.  30 

 

 I think that a more consolidated approach, a smaller, higher performing 

centre, in my view, is a more appropriate pathway forward for 

New Brighton, so it can successfully play its role and function in the 

market and service the needs of its community, and a higher 35 

performing smaller centre would have a higher potential to minimise 

the level of retail leakage and start recapturing some of that core 

convenience then. 

 

 Questions? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Heath. So there’s no cross-examination, so 

just Panel questions. Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Heath. 45 
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MR HEATH:   Morning. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the long term in the future, do you see New Brighton 

continuing to function or needing to function as a key activity centre? I 

mean I know this is not something we are deciding now, but it’s just of 5 

interest as to where it’s heading. 

 

MR HEATH:   Beyond the, I suppose the 2033 timeframe which my analysis is 

based on, longer term growth projections aren’t that strong for the area 

as well. Whether it plays a role similar to other KACs, KACs are both 10 

small scale and large scale and have quite a range of functions, so I am 

more about giving New Brighton the potential to perform its role and 

function, which is a local convenience supermarket based centre in the 

future. I think that should be its focus and any other label that’s 

attached to it is a little bit irrelevant to me. 15 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

 A lot of centres around the country still use the word “town centre” and 

that has connotations well beyond the role and function they play, so 20 

whether it’s a KAC or not, I haven’t really given a lot of consideration 

to that, but if it was to be a KAC, it would be a very small 

neighbourhood centre defined KAC. 

 

MS DAWSON:   One of the things about key activity centres is that it’s not 25 

just a retail centre or service centre, it also is a centre for community 

facilities and wider community needs focusing around the centre, and 

also the transportation network focusing, and given the sort of relative 

isolation of New Brighton from the next nearest KACs, and you turned 

your mind to those sort of aggregation other than retail activities in 30 

New Brighton. 

 

MR HEATH:   Yes, I think New Brighton is the commercial hub for that 

catchment and for that area, and there is a lot of activity in 

New Brighton that is non-retail, a lot of commercial service, there are 35 

some community facilities and there’s a school in there as well, so it is 

a wider community hub than purely just a retail centre hub, so in that 

regard it does have – would tick a lot of the, possibly the KAC boxes, if 

there was to be any small scale office development within New 

Brighton, that’s an appropriate location for it.  40 

 

 So it does have the ability over time to meet the wider needs of the 

market from a non-retail perspective as well, it can be an all 

encompassing commercial centre, you have the land for that there, and 

that’s playing part of that role now, it’s just not playing it very 45 

successfully, that’s all. 
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MS DAWSON:   The fact that the retail offering might always be smaller 

doesn’t detract from that wider role that it can play as a centre? 

 

MR HEATH:   No, not at all, no. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much for that. I have one other 

question and I can’t remember where you address it, but at the end of 

your evidence you talk about the Corston land and Russley Road and 

Harewood Road, and I just wanted to make sure I know where it is, if 10 

someone could bring up a planning map or an aerial photo, because this 

is a submission from the Corstons who wanted to have it within an 

Industrial Park Zoning, having more retail and hotel development (ph 

03.07), which you have commented on, so I understand what you have 

said, I just want to make sure I know where it is. That’s it? 15 

 

MR HEATH:   Yes, it’s on the diagonal as a red collect from Raeward Fresh, 

there’s Raeward Fresh there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it’s on the corner - - - 20 

 

MR HEATH:   The opposite diagonally. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Near the corner of Harewood Road and Russley Road? 

 25 

MR HEATH:   That’s my understanding from my recollection of the 

submission map that they put in there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. Okay, thank you very much, that’s all the questions 

from me, thank you. 30 

 

MR HEATH:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 35 

MS HURIA:   So getting back to that map, it’s the one beside the school? 

 

MR HEATH:   Yeah, and it tracks down to just below that map as well, there’s 

two sites that I think can join together. 

 40 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you, otherwise nothing from me, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, Mr Heath.  Thank you for your evidence. I have a 45 

couple of questions. I took it from your analysis, in particular table 8, 
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you were looking at obviously talking about the leakage from the retail 

catchment, did you take into account or was there any value in taking 

into account leakage to New Brighton from other areas, is that taken 

into account in that or is that simply not a factor? 

 5 

MR HEATH:   Yes, it is, yes. That’s the inflow of dollars to the catchment, 

yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay. From outside the catchment? 

 10 

MR HEATH:   Yes. That obviously, in its heyday, was quite significant, but 

that’s diminished now and the complete reverse is happening. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, I picked that up from the evidence. And I guess what 

you’re saying here is that there is really no prospect of it being an 15 

attractive centre in that sense in the future, is drawing from outside this 

catchment? 

 

MR HEATH:   Well, I am not saying it can’t be an attractive centre, I am 

saying it’s got very limited potential to see mass inflow of retail spend 20 

to the catchment or to that centre on the basis of the retail analysis I 

have looked at, given the competitive environment that has been 

established around the city. 

 

  [10.40 am] 25 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, yes, okay. 

 

 And just finally, I think in your comments earlier, you said you’re 

drawing the suggestion that a smaller centre will necessarily do better, 30 

is that necessarily going to be the case, making it smaller will it 

necessarily prosper and have a higher retail offer or better retail offer 

because of that for size alone? 

 

MR HEATH:   Yes. In my experience that is the case for the role and the 35 

function of that centre. When you start broadening into more regional 

centre or sub-regional centres where you have large malls and you can 

have large format next to it, often size does matter in terms of the 

extent of the catchment. 

 40 

 But when you have predominantly convenience oriented activity in a 

centre and that is its role and function with no real potential to go 

beyond that, a smaller and more consolidated higher performing centre 

tends to provide greater amenity to the market and perform better and 

capture more of its local sales than a centre that is quite dilute and 45 

spread out. 
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MR WILLIS:   Okay. And on that, just one final point if I may, I think if you 

crunch the numbers down a bit as I tried to do, you end up by saying 

that, I think it is around, is it 60-70% - sorry, the floor space you’re 

providing would provide thirtyish, maybe 40% of that required to 5 

service a community that size, so you’re factoring in a 60/70% loss 

outside the catchment, is that - - -  

 

MR HEATH:   That would be about right, because you grab potential to 

capture a higher proportion of your convenience market because it is 10 

convenient spend, but the non-convenience fashion and things like that, 

a higher leakage rate would occur. So that is what the analysis does. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, and saying so what you – would you say that that is 

typical for a centre of that sort of type and size or is this quite peculiar 15 

too - - -  

 

MR HEATH:   That is quite normal. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Right, quite normal? 20 

 

MR HEATH:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, thank you. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Heath, I do not have any further questions, 

your evidence is very clear and there is no contest amongst other 

parties so thank you very much, any questions arising, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. You’re free to go, Mr Heath. 

 

MR HEATH:   Thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Osborne. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.42 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Next witness is Mr Osborne, on economics matters. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 
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<PHILLIP MARK OSBORNE, affirmed [10.43 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.43 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you confirm your full name is Phillip Mark Osborne 

and that you have the qualifications and experience set out in your 

statement of evidence-in-chief? 5 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. And you produced two statements of 

evidence for this matter, Mr Osborne, first being your evidence-in-chief 10 

dated 2nd of September 2015 and the second being rebuttal statement 

dated the 24th of September 2015. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   And do you have any amendments or additions to those 

statements? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I do not. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you confirm then that to the best of your knowledge 

and belief, your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. You have a highlights package, Mr 

Osborne, can you please convey that to the Panel and then remain 

where you are to answer any questions. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Thank you. 30 

 

 A key objective of the proposed Replacement Plan is the provision of 

sufficient industrial land within Christchurch. The sufficiency of this 

land and its accessibility to the market is necessary in providing for 

future growth and existing and new businesses. 35 

 

 Insufficient land provision is likely to lead to uncertainty within the 

market, rise in land prices and fall in the competitive environment 

within Christchurch. 

 40 

 While the undersupply of industrial land presents real economic costs 

to an economy, so too the oversupply of industrial land can result in 

similarly harmful effects. It is therefore important that a balance is 

maintained and the competitiveness of Christchurch economy is not 

undermined through the general zoning of more industrial land. 45 
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 By 2031 it is expected that Christchurch City will need to 

accommodate up to 350 hectares of additional industrial activity. The 

Replacement Plan currently provides for over 950 hectares of industrial 

land, more than sufficient to allow for considerably more growth than 

expected. 5 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

 It is important when considering any submissions for rezoning 

additional industrial land to have regard for this balance for demand 10 

and supply. The additional provision of industrial land within this 

context has the very real potential to simply compete with existing land 

supply and generate economic cost to the community in terms of an 

efficient and effective planned market. 

 15 

 Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms Crawford? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sir, can I just make a preliminary observation and - - -  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, are you making a submission or are you - - -  

 

MR CLEARY:   In sense in the order of cross-examination. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sure. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Because it appears that Professor Bagchi, his case is more 

closely aligned - - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no, thank you very much for that - - -  

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - for the Council, if he could perhaps go first, I do not think 

he has any objection to that, other than - - -  

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, sometimes this order is a little bit – it does need to be 

looked at that way, but I agree in principle. 

 

 Professor, are you ready to ask your questions? 

 40 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir, thank you, we have excused Mr Osborne. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You do not have any questions for Mr Osborne? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right, well there you go. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [10.46 am] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So much for an extra 10 minutes to prepare, sir. 5 

 

 All right, good morning, Mr Osborne. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Good morning. 

 10 

MS CRAWFORD:   So in your evidence on Stage 2, is it correct that you have 

looked at specific Stage 2 submissions taking a high level macro city 

wide approach? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 15 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you make the broad statement in your evidence-in-

chief at paragraph 6.5 that rezoning of any industrial land is likely to be 

accompanied by a high propensity for reduced and economic 

efficiency? 20 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   But you do qualify that where you say, “Unless meeting a 

specific need or demand”? 25 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct, there is sufficient – my evidence is tailored 

around the fact that there is sufficient industrial activity, but within 

certain conditions there is room for some movement in particular areas. 

 30 

MS CRAWFORD:   That is helpful, that leads to my next question, where in 

your evidence did you analyse the BDF Family Trust submission, can 

you take me to that? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I did not specifically look at that. I looked at how it fit 35 

within the wider context of that. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And have you visited that site? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I have looked at the site, yes. 40 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   You appreciate it is a small slither of land in Templeton 

between the railway line and the road? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   And have you read the evidence of Sarah Oliver in the 

residential chapter hearing for Stage 2 that covers the other aspect of 

this submission? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I do not believe I have, no. 5 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   But would you accept or do you recognise Ms Oliver’s 

view expressed at page 57 of her evidence that some form of urban 

zoning may be appropriate? 

 10 

MR OSBORNE:   I would not be able to comment on that, no. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Are you also aware that no technical issues have been 

raised by the City Council in relation to fundamental impediments like 

servicing or traffic? 15 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Again I have not looked at the impediments of this particular 

site. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well as an economist would you accept the rezoning of 20 

the small slither of land is unlikely to redistribute, “inevitably 

redistribute” which is your words in your evidence, growth from 

existing or planned industrial areas? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I believe that the addition of any land has a proportional 25 

impact obviously to the size of that land and the relative benefits of that 

land, but we are talking about cumulative impacts when we talk about 

one more piece of land. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So you are saying on a quantum basis, any extra land will 30 

have a proportional impact no matter where it is located in the city? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   It will have an impact on the amount of land obviously that 

is available to the market and impact upon the land that is already 

provided for within that market, yes. 35 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right. And you have not analysed that specific site to 

provide assistance to the Panel on whether that would in fact be the 

case on the ground here, have you? 

 40 

MR OSBORNE:   I am of the understanding that any additional land, unless it 

is absolutely unique, will provide simply additional industrial land - - -  

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right. 

 45 



 Page 25 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

MR OSBORNE:   - - - and impact upon the rest of the network of that 

industrial land. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well this is a quite unique site, is it not, Mr Osborne, you 

have visited it? 5 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I do not believe it is in the wider context of Christchurch. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well, Council planners have given evidence previously in 

these proceedings that rural zoning of this site may give rise to 10 

unnecessary transaction cost and requirements to resource consent that 

it cannot be used for rural purposes, do you accept that? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I would accept the Council’s position on that. 

 15 

MS CRAWFORD:   And it is really not appropriate for residential either, is it? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Again, I am not sure if it is appropriate for residential. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right. Well I do not think I can take that particular one 20 

any further. 

 

 Foddercube products, in your rebuttal you comment on Ms Aston’s 

evidence in general terms, but again I am assuming you have not 

undertaken a specific analysis – cost benefit analysis in relation to 25 

Foddercube products. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I have not, no. 30 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Have you visited that site? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I have visited that site. 

 35 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you know that is texture plants with surrounding 

activity? (ph 0.12) 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I understand the context of the site, yes. 

 40 

MS CRAWFORD:   Are you familiar with the existing business? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I am not overly familiar with the existing business, no. 
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MS CRAWFORD:   Are you aware that the intention of the landowner is to 

develop a nursery community concept of closely aligned businesses to 

enhance customer experience - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that in the evidence? 5 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   - - - create a one-stop shop - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that in the evidence, Ms Crawford? 

 10 

MS CRAWFORD:   That will be, sir, when delivered by way of summary by 

Ms Aston tomorrow. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am sorry, is that in Ms Aston’s evidence? 

 15 

MS CRAWFORD:   I will rephrase it, sir. 

 

JDUGE HASSAN:   In terms of a summary, the summary is just of the 

evidence that has been tended. 

 20 

MS CRAWFORD:   I understand. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is important for the process not to catch a witness out 

with something that is not in evidence. 

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   I understand.  So given your familiarity broadly with the 

existing business, would you agree as an economist that it might be 

efficient and effective to enable a, for example, one-stop shop 

destination for all things garden and lawn related?  For example, 

landscape contracting associated with the garden shop. 30 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I am sure there would be efficiencies in the type of compact 

form of those activities, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   For example Terra Viva in northwest Christchurch, a café 35 

to support the shopping gardening enthusiasts? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that in evidence, Ms Crawford? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   No.  Well, I will need to check, sir, but I will - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just going on your own knowledge? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, just putting a position to the - - - 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   The position you are putting, you need to be aware, in 

terms of the time available, an expert witness is only able to assist us 

within the scope of their expertise, and there is only a limited ability of 

a witness to assist when there is no evidence on the matter before the 

Panel to which the question relates.   5 

 

 I have been to Terra Viva, probably most people have, I have had a 

coffee there, probably most people have.  That is general knowledge 

but just be careful please about how you position your question in 

regard to things that are not in evidence. 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir.  I acknowledge your answer before, Mr 

Osborne, that you recognise some merits in colocation – I think I 

paraphrase correctly – of likeminded businesses. 

 15 

 Rezoning to enable that sort activity is hardly going to attract city-

based high-value business urban industrial park users out to this part of 

town, is it? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I believe there are 950 additional hectares of vacant 20 

industrial land where that can happen already.  These colocations of 

these activities could happen. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   But not on the site immediately adjacent to texture parks 

(ph 2.32)? 25 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Not on that particular site at this stage, no. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And would you accept in general terms it is sufficient to 

encourage colocation? 30 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I believe there are efficiencies in relation to colocation and 

those need to be balanced against inefficiencies, obviously, created by 

particular additions. 

 35 

MS CRAWFORD:   That conclusion that you have reached is based on simply 

on a macro citywide approach quantum?  So many hectares of land 

elsewhere in the city will lead to an effect? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 40 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   All right.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Crawford.  Mr Cleary? 

 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Sir, I neglected to mention that I certainly do not have any 

issue with you being on the Panel in terms of your previous 

representation with - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Mr Cleary. 5 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [10.53 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Good morning, Mr Osborne. 

 10 

MR OSBORNE:   Good morning. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Good to see you again.  I just want to actually start by 

focusing on your analysis of the Northwest Review Area in your 

evidence-in-chief, and that is from your paragraphs 5.41 through to 15 

5.51. 

 

 If it may be sort of paraphrased, your evidence, you essentially extol 

the virtues of providing industrial land within this area.  I just want to 

take you to 5.49, which I think sort of neatly encapsulates your opinion, 20 

and that is where you refer to the symbiotic relationship this land has as 

both an area of high demand, an area of significant potential, which 

suggests additional employment potentially created is unlikely to be 

replicated elsewhere in the city.  You remain of that opinion?  

 25 

MR OSBORNE:   In terms of that area, in general terms, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you are familiar with the Land Use Recovery Plan, the 

LURP? 

 30 

MR OSBORNE:   I am. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that it is a collaborative exercise involving various local 

authorities, including the Council and NZTA?  Would you agree, Mr 

Osborne, that the LURP sets out the location, the scale and type of 35 

business activities within specific geographic areas to meet industrial 

demand to 2028? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I believe it has set out particular areas, or identified 

particular areas, within greenfield locations. 40 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   And it provides direction and certainty to support the recovery 

to 2028? 45 
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MR OSBORNE:   That is its general objective, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And to ensure that the words “sufficient and suitable” 

industrial land for recovery through to 2028 is provided, there has been 

a range of greenfield priority business areas that have been identified? 5 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And the LURP, as you know, was implemented at least in part 

by the Regional Policy Statement chapter 6? 10 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that also identifies specific geographical areas for 

business and industrial? 15 

 

MR OSBORNE:   It has, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Getting back to your evidence in 5.51, you refer to there being 

no need to develop more than 100 hectares of additional industrial land.  20 

That is correct? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct? 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that is in the Northwest Review Area, it is within that 25 

quadrant? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and that 100 hectares is identified in the LURP and the 30 

Regional Policy Statement.  That is correct? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Beyond that 100 hectares, it is your opinion that the 35 

efficiencies that you refer to might occur? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I believe that even within that – having done a report 

obviously, or an assessment, for plan change 83, I believe it was, with 

the Northwest Review Area, that there were three areas that I identified 40 

that totalled 100 hectares.   

 

 It was the findings of that report that some of those areas were more 

suitable than others and that potentially not all of that 100 hectares 

would be needed, especially under the life of this replacement plan. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay, and you understand that my client’s land is within 

an identified Greenfield Priority Area? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I do. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   That is great.  Which the LURP – your understanding – 

directs that it be rezoned? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I understand that under the Regional Policy Statement there 

needs to be either an identification or a balance again between the 10 

demand for that land to enable efficiencies in terms of infrastructure 

and so forth. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And the Regional Policy Statement says that development of 

these Greenfield Priorities should be enabled for urban development? 15 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Again, that is based on the fact that there is a demand for 

that.  From an economic point of view - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sorry, is that a yes or a no? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, perhaps it is better framed with reference to the 

actual provisions, and I wonder whether better put to a planning expert? 

 

MR CLEARY:   I will put them to the planning expert.  Now, you have been to 25 

our client’s site? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I have, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the costs that you refer to, you have not actually 30 

provided any analysis.  There is nowhere in evidence any analysis of 

the costs associated with rezoning our client’s site to Industrial. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Once again, this is simply additional industrial land, 

although I recognised within the report that it was a good location in 35 

terms of logistics and warehousing opportunities, that there existed 

insufficient demand over the period, especially of the plan, to warrant 

its rezoning.   

 

 There were also other issues beyond my expertise with the site that 40 

meant that obviously within the replacement plan land is being rezoned 

further up the road. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Where in your evidence did you say there is insufficient 

demand for that area? 45 
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MR OSBORNE:   In my evidence?  I believe that in terms of the development 

there was only the need for the 100 hectares, but in the report itself, 

where I broke that down, I talked about the fact that this particular area 

obviously had other issues and would be more a long term supply 

provision that within the life of this plan. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the demand for this particular piece of land, there 

is evidence before the Panel of demand for this land.  That is correct? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I am sure there is, yes.  I have not seen it myself.  10 

 

MR CLEARY:   You are sure there is.  Okay, and I think it is undisputed 

evidence, isn’t it?  At least at this stage. 

 

HUDGE HASSAN:   There is probably a submission in that, Mr Cleary. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   It is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you identify the evidence you are referring to? 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   It is the evidence of Mr Young. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Young, all right.  So you are quite entitled to test with 

the witness whether he has disputed Mr Young’s view. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   I just actually do want to ask him some questions on your 

rebuttal of – actually I will say your veiled criticisms of Mr Young. 

 

 Mr Young essentially agrees with you regarding the multiple benefits 

of providing industrial land near the airport, that is correct, isn’t it? 30 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MR OSBORNE:   That’s correct. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   You would acknowledge that? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You do not refer to that in your rebuttal though? 40 

 

MR OSBORNE:   No. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You would accept Mr Young is an experienced commercial 

real estate agent? 45 
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MR OSBORNE:   I wouldn’t know apart from what he has put in his evidence 

about what his experience is. 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the experience he has put in his evidence, you 

would accept that he has considerable experience in his field? 5 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I understand that he has been in his job for a while, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You would accept he has day to day knowledge of the 

demand for industrial land in Christchurch? 10 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I am not sure whether he has day to day knowledge of the 

market for industrial land, the entire market over the entirety of 

Christchurch or not.  I am not sure where his expertise in industrial land 

specifically lie. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:  Would you accept that the knowledge of supply and demand 

on that day to day basis is perhaps more reliable than a vacant land 

register? 

 20 

MR OSBORNE:   I would disagree with that.  I believe that the job that 

Mr Young does affords him certain demands from certain clients to 

either rezone land or to buy and sell industrial land but that does not 

necessarily mean he has an understanding of what is going on in the 

wider market nor the future demand for that market. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, all right.  But in terms of that vacant land register that 

you refer to and you rely on, I mean how detailed of analysis have you 

done of that register in terms of the size of the sites, whether or not they 

may be too small for example to meet certain types of demand – have 30 

you done any analysis in that respect? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I believe there is a variety of sizes and there is an assessment 

that has been done that I have seen.  I have not got it in my evidence 

obviously - - -  35 

 

MR CLEARY:   No. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   - - - but I know that there is for example 50 hectares of land 

on one site being rezoned further up the road, or on a contiguous site 40 

anyway. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Which site is that? 

 

MR OSBORNE:  That is, I only know it as area 2 of the north west review 45 

area. 



 Page 33 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

MR CLEARY:   You make a comment regarding 3.3 of your rebuttal and you 

are saying that the fact that Mr Young works on commission may have 

some influence on his opinion as the merits of the rezoning? 

 5 

MR OSBORNE:   I believe it has an influence on his perception of the market 

and whether there is in fact demand and whether there is demand 

through to the future as well. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, all right.  You actually – do you dispute the fact that 10 

private individual benefits from the increase in the value of land, do 

you not consider that a benefit under section 32 of the Act? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I do not consider it a benefit because I believe that it is 

offset by the potential loss from every other land holder – as you 15 

increase the amount of industrial land you obviously decrease its value 

everywhere else.  So simply by saying that you have increased the 

value of one person’s land does not mean that you have increased the 

value of land throughout the city.  It can have an impact, obviously as it 

is meant to in some cases, of decreasing industrial land value across a 20 

much wider area. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But does that not create competition? 

 

MR OSBORNE:  Of course, and that level of competition creates inefficiencies 25 

as well, and if you have too much there are inevitably lines and 

balances to be made in terms of how much industrial land you actually 

release to the market and how much you rezone. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But that competition creates benefits of course as well. 30 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Absolutely - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   Absolutely. 

 35 

MR OSBORNE:   - - - but there is inevitably a level of that and that is why we 

are talking about the sufficiency of industrial land that is currently on 

the market and I think most people will agree that there is a significant 

amount of industrial land that is provided for in Christchurch. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   Right.  In terms of our client’s piece of land you have not 

done any relative cost benefit analysis at all have you, specifically in 

terms of what the relief is sought? 

 

  [11.05 am] 45 
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MR OSBORNE:   I have simply looked at your client’s piece of land as an 

increase in industrial land across the city. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. 

 5 

MR OSBORNE:   And how that will be impacted, apart from the work that I 

did under the plan change 83 which also showed that there were some 

constraints on your client’s land. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You have read the Council’s section 32 analysis in respect of 10 

this? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I have looked at that, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:  And that identifies a range of benefits associated with rezoning 15 

of the land, that is correct? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Absolutely. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that includes economic benefit to the landowners, that is 20 

correct?   

 

MR OSBORNE:   In terms of what the Council has produced, yes, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   No more questions. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Osborne.  Just following up on Mr Cleary’s 

questions, I am trying to get my head around how much of the land that 30 

is identified in the LURP, RPS Map A as being a priority for future 

business has not been zoned in this proposed city plan?  Is the piece 

west of Hawthornden, the road that Mr Cleary’s clients are concerned 

about, is that the only substantial piece of land? 

 35 

MR OSBORNE:   Just in terms of what I am aware of, within the north west 

review area there were three pieces of land that were identified by the 

LURP, identified simply as area 1, 2 and 3, and I believe that only 

area 2 is being rezoned under the plan. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   And area 1 – you may not know – but is that land that is 

sometimes referred to as north of Waimakariri Road or south of 

Waimakariri Road or? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I believe so. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   It is sort of a quarry type area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Is that a smaller area than the other two? 5 

 

MR OSBORNE:   It is, it is 15 hectares if I remember rightly. 

 

MS DAWSON:   15. 

 10 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes.  But beyond that area I am not sure what the balance is 

that the Council is providing for. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you have not looked at the broad south west sort of 

Hornby quadrant and know whether similar decisions have been made 15 

about land to bring in into the plan at this stage and land to be held for 

maybe bringing in later on? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I am aware there is a significant amount obviously of land 

there that has been rezoned under the replacement plan but whether that 20 

is in exact alignment with the LURP I am not sure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You are not sure?  Because I mean we are faced with 

submissions from, in this case and from Mr Cleary’s clients and 

potentially from the Waimakariri area 1 and potentially maybe others, 25 

of land that is identified in map A but not yet zoned, versus a whole lot 

of other submissions from people who are beyond map A and also want 

to be brought into the zone. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Sure. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in terms of your evaluation of the impact of oversupply as 

you put it, the inefficiencies of oversupply, is there any fine line 

between the areas that are in map A versus out of map A, given that 

someone must have turned their mind to this at some stage in drawing 35 

up map A? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Without looking at specific sites, I think as has even been 

questioned here this morning the value of the rezoning of specific sites, 

I would say having an understanding of what has been identified under 40 

the LURP, those locations are actually quite good for industrial activity 

in general and so I would suggest that there is almost a priority for 

those identified under the LURP to those that are not, but again there 

are very specific sites obviously that are quite good for industrial that 

lie outside that as well, so it is quite a general comment that those 45 

identified under the LURP are actually good locations for industrial 
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activity, it is just the level of industrial activity that that potentially 

exposes the market to, and the impact it will have on everybody else 

that currently sits with industrial land. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So although the sites that have been identified as you say are 5 

potentially good for industrial activities, so is it really a matter of 

timing?  You know over time all things being equal those sites will 

remain good and may well be needed in the future? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   It is difficult, I mean industrial activity especially is quite 10 

dynamic in what it demands.  We are finding that some industries that 

were land intensive are becoming land extensive and they are looking 

for things like warehousing and so forth that have very few employees 

but have significant tracks of land now that they’re actually occupying. 

 15 

  [11.10 am] 

 

 So there are and there are changes around the attributes that those 

particular industries look for. So it is dynamic but at the same time I 

believe that the areas that have been located or identified under the 20 

LURP are more likely to be rezoned later on when the significant 

amount of industrial land that is already available to the market, some 

of that has been taken up. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, and you refer to a report that you did I think for Plan 25 

Change 83 - - -  

 

MR OSBORNE:   83, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - which was around – particularly focused on this 30 

northwest area and areas one, two and three - - -  

 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and that did not progress as I understand it to a Plan 35 

Change hearing rule or anything, we are really addressing those matters 

now. 

 

MR OSBORNE:   We are addressing that now, yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you for that, so I just have one other specific 

question, and again it is just because I have not got my head around it 

all yet, but you have talked about the, I think it is the M & B (ph 1.16) 

properties in Twigger Street – I do not know where in your evidence, it 

is probably somewhere up at the back of your evidence – yes, right at 45 

the end – can you just tell me what is actually on that site? 
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MR OSBORNE:   I believe there are – I did a – I think it is an Ernest Young is 

on there, something like that at the moment, from having looked at the 

site that is - - -  

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Ernst and Young? 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Ernst and Young, sorry, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, Ernest Adams or something, is cakes - - -  10 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes, Ernst and Young, yes, sorry, is on there at the moment 

and some other office type activities 

 

MS DAWSON:   There is office, substantial office buildings - - -  15 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - I mean bigger than would normally be provided for in 

the commercial local zone there. 20 

 

MR OSBORNE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the actual physical buildings are there that - - -  

 25 

MR OSBORNE:   They are. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - could be used for other things and other offices in the 

future. 

 30 

MR OSBORNE:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. So irrespective of their location, inside of a theatre 

and outside of the Central Business District, are you comfortable with 

the long term zoning of those offices for ongoing large scale office use? 35 

 

MR OSBORNE:   It is essentially a practical response to one site I think more 

than anything. It has the potential to divert activity from centres as it 

already has, but I think practically what is there is not going to change 

and is not usable if we apply those rules to it. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, it would not be usable for other uses very easily if - - -  

 

MR OSBORNE:   No, not very easily. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right. Thank you very much, that is all. 
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MR OSBORNE:   Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 10 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, Mr Osborne. You have answered a couple of my 

questions already but I do have just a couple more for you. 

 

 Firstly, when we are talking about “oversupply” or a “surplus” of land 15 

relative to what you modelled to be required or projected to be 

required, is there a need to look at that with a slightly finer grain 

resolution in terms of what is might be theoretically available versus 

what might be zoned but for other reasons, maybe not likely to come 

onto the market in the near future, is that something you look at? 20 

 

MR OSBORNE:   I think that is potentially something that could have an 

impact on the enabled capacity for example, in terms of the viability of 

some of this land to actually be developed, whether it be geotechnic, 

things like that. But that would be – my assumption is that this land at 25 

this point is developable. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Would land banking be an issue in this space or - - -  

 

MR OSBORNE:   Land banking becomes an issue especially if you supply 30 

more land, essentially the price of that industrial land drops and there is 

an unwillingness by the market to release that until that price has been 

driven up and essentially it artificially constrains supply, until that price 

becomes more viable to release essentially and that is one of the 

problems with over supplying a market with industrial land. 35 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you. Just one more, we have had and I think you will 

have noticed or may have even addressed it in your evidence, but there 

has been some suggestion of, whether one should treat all industrial 

land the same or whether it is possible to see I suppose different classes 40 

of industrial land and I guess for each segmented theory, it might it be 

possible to have a different forecast of demand, is that something that 

you could or would do? 

 

  [11.15 am] 45 
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MR OSBORNE:   We have broken this down in terms of our industrial land by 

sector. Now each sector – I mean as you pointed out – is quite different 

and there are high amenity sectors within even logistics and more low 

value sectors as well within those. It is quite difficult to first of all 

project that moving forward, and also quite difficult to zone 5 

specifically for that. 

 

 It tends to be that areas that exist in general industrial centres that have 

high amenity or values for high value businesses, both businesses 

themselves bid up the price of that land and therefore you get these 10 

groupings of high value/high amenity activities. So they generally find 

their own equilibrium to an extent. 

 

MR WILLIS:   I see. Thank you and do you – have you detected any trend over 

time in terms of the relative demand for industrial space? 15 

 

MR OSBORNE:   As I say it has been – it is the changes within sectors that 

have become quite pronounced, that is such things as logistics as 

logistics goes out and up and becomes much more of the land in a 

particular area. 20 

 

 Whereas, it is not necessarily replicated in the increase in employment 

demand in that sector - - -  

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 25 

 

MR OSBORNE:   - - - simply because you need less employees now with a 

forklift than you did previously you were stacking the pallets by 

another means. So you have got those changes where there is more land 

per employee needed for particular sectors and there is also sectors that 30 

are now demanding much higher amenity than they did previously. 

 

 So there is a crossover in some cases almost between industrial and 

those commercial attributes that they seek because they could be high 

technology, electronic firms or something like that, that are essentially 35 

industrial but are actually catering for a well-paid workforce that seeks 

that amenity in the surrounding area where they work. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think all my questions have been covered. Any questions 

arise, Ms Crawford? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   No, sir. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Cleary? 
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 Any re-examination, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much, Mr Osborne, you are free to go. Now 

we got Ms O'Brien I think before the morning recess. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW  [11.17 am] 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will see how we go on this. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I understand notice was given - - -  15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so we might be able to - - -  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - supporting of a withdrawal by the Airport in terms 

of cross-examination. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I see that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   We’ll call Ms O'Brien anyway. 

 25 
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<BRIDGET MARY O’BRIEN, affirmed [11.17 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [11.18 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now do you confirm your full name is Bridget Mary 

O'Brien and that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

your statement of evidence-in-chief? 5 

 

MS O'BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have produced two statements of evidence for 

this matter, first being your evidence-in-chief dated 2nd of September 10 

2015 and the second being a rebuttal statement dated 24 September 

2015. 

 

MS O'BRIEN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   And do you have any changes or additions to those 

statements, Ms O'Brien? 

 

MS O'BRIEN:   Just one addition please, to paragraph 1.4 of my evidence. I 

wish to add one sentence which says that, “The Council has agreed to 20 

me giving expert evidence on its behalf in accordance with my duties 

under the Code of Conduct”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms O'Brien. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, Ms O'Brien, subject to that addition, do you 

confirm that your evidence is otherwise to the best of your knowledge 

and belief, true and correct? 

 

MS O'BRIEN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Will you please relay your highlights 

package to the Panel and remain where you are and answer any 

questions. 

 35 

MS O'BRIEN:   My evidence considers the technical merits of each of the 

submission seeking rezoning to a commercial or industrial zone in 

terms of water and wastewater servicing.  

 

 Some rezoning requests are significant extension to the Council’s water 40 

and/or wastewater networks would be required and there is no budget 

for this in the Council’s long term plan.  

 

 Where this is the case, I do not support the rezoning requested, in 

particular I do not support the rezoning sought for the land west of 45 
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Prestons, submitter number 2234 and 2459 and 559 Pound Road 

submitter number 2090. 

 

 There is insufficient capacity in the wastewater network to 

accommodate some rezoning requests and there is no budget for 5 

upgrading the network to accommodate the additional flows in the 

Council’s long term plan. 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 10 

 Where this is the case I do not support the rezoning requested.  In 

particular I do not support the rezoning sought for Awatea South, 

submitter numbers 2260, 2264, 2279, 2290 and 2306, and 76 

Hawthornden Road, submitter number 2183, and extensions to the 

Wairakei Road Industrial Park, submitter numbers 2271, 2446 and 15 

2567. 

 

 Submitter number 2278 seeks to rezone 270, 280 and 298 Russley 

Road and 82 Hawthornden Road from Rural Urban Fringe to an 

Industrial zone.  This in the Riccarton wastewater interceptor 20 

catchment and there is no wastewater capacity for this area at present.  

However I acknowledge that this is within a greenfield priority area 

identified in map A in the Land Use Recovery Plan and therefore the 

design of both the Upper and Lower Riccarton interceptor upgrades 

will take into account future flow from this area. 25 

 

 While the Lower Riccarton interceptor upgrade is included in the 

Council’s long term plan, the upgrade to the Upper Riccarton 

interceptor is not included in the Council’s current long term plan.  

Until upgrades to both the Upper and Lower Riccarton interceptor are 30 

complete, I do not support development in this area.  I am happy to 

answer questions from the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you .  Mr Cleary. 

 35 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [11.21 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, good morning Ms O’Brien. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Good morning. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   I will just ask you some brief questions regarding the LURP 

and you are aware that I am here on behalf of Wilson Martin & Chang, 

Russley Road, and you are obviously familiar with that issue.  You are 

aware that the Land Use Recovery identifies this land as greenfield 45 

priority area for business? 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct, and you are aware that the Land Use Recovery 

Plan, the LURP, directs the Council to take an integrated approach 5 

towards development of greenfield priority areas adjacent to the 

airport? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the actual modelling that has taken place to date, I 

understand the modelling has been associated with the Special Purpose 

Airport zone and the MAIL site, you are familiar with that? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:  By the Special Purpose Airport zone do you mean Dakota 15 

Park? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Dakota Park is part of the Special Purpose Airport zone. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   And are you referring to wastewater modelling in particular? 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So could you put the question again Mr Cleary just so we 

know what the question is? 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   So the question is that in terms of that integrated approach 

required of the Council, the area 3 land including our client’s has not 

been factored into the modelling to date. 

 30 

MS O’BRIEN:   It has now been included. 

 

MR CLEARY:   It is going to be included? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No, it has already been included just recently.  It has been 35 

added in. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Just recently? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, well I am grateful for that.  Just in terms of the various 

possible alternatives that might provide some capacity for my client’s 

land and I am bearing in mind engineers are good at coming up with 

solutions, and I did not want you to be surprised by this and you have 45 
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had discussions with Mr Hall regarding the potential option this 

morning, that is correct? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay, and the option that I am going to suggest would 

have a certain range of features and that would include, amongst others, 

a standalone weather station centre, and that would ensure in terms of 

this site a solution for this site, so to have a weather centre that would 

ensure that there would be no discharge during storm events, and there 10 

would be a control panel which would allow the Council to remotely 

monitor and control discharges, that is one of the features. 

 

 There would be a combination of pump, storage and rising sewer, that 

is another feature, and the system would allow for discharge at a time 15 

when post-upgrade of the Lower Riccarton interceptor, that the 

modelling would allow discharges when there was a window available, 

either during the peak or off peak, that is another feature;  and the 

system would be established at the cost to the developer, it would not 

be a cost to the Council;  maintenance of the system proposed would be 20 

at the cost of the developer, and finally in prolonged storm periods it 

may be necessary to actually cart stored wastewater away and 

discharge to a system that had capacity. 

 

  [11.25 am] 25 

 

 Those are essentially the features and it is a very long-winded way of 

asking your question when that is something you actually think that 

there is some merit in that? 

 30 

MS O’BRIEN:   As I have said to Mr Hall this morning we would need to do 

some further modelling - - -  

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 35 

MS O’BRIEN:   - - - to check whether that approach would work.  We are 

certainly taking that approach with other sites nearby, in particular with 

the MAIL site and also the Hawthornden Road ODP area, so we just 

need to do some further wastewater modelling to see if there were any 

other windows in which there could be a discharge from the site in 40 

addition to those other sites. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, okay.  And this would be after the upgrades to the 

Lower Riccarton interceptor? 

 45 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I understand that. 
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MR CLEARY:   That is correct, yes.  Okay, and those upgrades are schedule to 

take place very shortly? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, so the Lower Riccarton interceptor is being designed at 5 

the moment and should be built within the next two or three years. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay, and so I am just wondering how the Panel might be 

assisted in this in terms of the modelling and the potential for windows 

to be available, because it is quite an important issue for the Panel to 10 

consider whether or not there is a solution available for wastewater. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I agree, I am just not sure of the timeframe for the hearing and 

whether there could be an opportunity later on in the hearing to do 

some modelling in the next two or three days and then come back to the 15 

Panel with the outputs of that.  I do not know what the timeframe is but 

if the Panel - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well the timetable for the hearing is, well as counsel 

know, it is probably a reasonable period of time in the hearing 20 

timetable itself but I think this is probably in a better order for counsel 

to talk about these matters in a break and determine whether or not they 

want to ask for any of this sort of thing to be done by way of a 

direction.   

 25 

 I am not going to express a view now other than to say that the hearing 

timetable for this particular hearing happens to be reasonably generous 

given the fact that we have got a need to accommodate the slight error 

that was made by the Council in notification of certain submissions, in 

which case, as I mentioned earlier, is an indication that those will come 30 

back about the 19th or the 20th of the month in terms of this hearings 

schedule.  So that is enough information from me and it is a matter for 

counsel. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But just in terms of the features that I have tried to summarise 35 

would you be happy to discuss those in more detail with Mr Hall before 

I suppose plug in those features into the model? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes of course, I mean this is a similar approach to what we are 

taking at other nearby sits so it is certainly something we can take into 40 

account. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And I just want to make sure that – I will move on.  But just 

in terms of the integrated approach required by the LURP in terms of 

rezoning of those areas, are you familiar with the evidence at the MAIL 45 

hearing? 
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MS O’BRIEN:   I was not able to give evidence at the MAIL hearing but I 

have read parts of Mr Collins’ evidence for the MAIL hearing and I 

have discussed it with him so I am broadly familiar with it. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   And are you familiar with the rules that the Council is 

proposing as part of that in terms of wastewater? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Again I am broadly familiar with it. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Broadly familiar. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  Just to try and summarise, my understanding is 15 

essentially that there is some capacity available with the upgrades to 

the Lower Riccarton interceptor and that will provide for wastewater 

flows from the Special Purpose Airport zone, I think it is Dakota Park 

aspect, and also for the MAIL site.  Is that your understanding? 

 20 

MS O’BRIEN:   My understanding is that is for Dakota Park, the MAIL site 

and I think also the Hawthornden Road ODP area.   

 

MR CLEARY:   Is that a Residential area or? 

 25 

MS O’BRIEN:   I believe so, yes, yes it is. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and again my understanding is that there is a sort of a 

nominal allocation between the different parties or the different 

development areas, that is correct? 30 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, so what we did was we looked at the wastewater model 

and worked out how much spare capacity there was in the network 35 

during peak dry weather flow and peak wet weather flow periods, and 

then allocated the spare capacity to those three sites based on the MAR 

areas of each of those sites, so in proportion to the area and the 

expected wastewater flow from each of those sites was allocated 

amongst the three of them, so I just need to check whether there is any 40 

other capacity at other times when this other area could discharge.  

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, do you have many more questions, we will 45 

take the morning recess and you can resume after. 
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MR CLEARY:   I have a few more. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we will take the morning recess and you can do that 

when we come back. 5 

 

ADJOURNED [11.31 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.50 am] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms O’Brien, under your former oath, thank you.  

Mr Cleary? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, thank you.  Ms O’Brien, I was just asking you some 

questions regarding the wastewater provisions that were discussed in 15 

the MAIL hearing which I understand you are generally familiar with 

but not necessarily on top of all the details, that is correct? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   It is a fair summary.  And my understanding and I wonder if 

you share that understanding, that essentially there was a proportional 

allocation between in terms of discharges at times when there is 

capacity, and that was described as an equitable allocation between the 

Special Purpose Airport zone and the MAIL site, is that? 25 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, and Hawthornden Road ODP area. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, and I am just wondering in terms of the integrated 

approach required for development of these various areas, there hasn’t 30 

been a scenario modelled whereby a portion of that allocation could be 

assigned to the submitter’s land, that additional 11 hectares? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No, we have not done that modelling yet but, as I said before, 

we could look into doing that modelling. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   You could do that as part of the exercise we have been 

discussing earlier, that is correct? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, we could. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just to clarify that, so the question was put about equitable 

allocation and the answer came back in regard to not having done the 

modelling and the modelling could be done. 

 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Yes, in terms of my understanding if I am correct on the 

numbers, that there is an allocation for discharge at times when there is 

capacity. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I understand that.  It is just that I understood the 5 

answer not to be a commitment to make an equitable allocation but a 

commitment to consider whether the modelling could be done, I am not 

sure if I heard that correctly. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, whether the modelling could be done which had the 10 

scenario that involved the additional 11 hectares sought by our client. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks, Mr Cleary. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And in terms of the Council’s position before the MAIL 15 

hearing and in terms of the rules the Council suggested, I mean I 

understand that the rule contemplated additional discharges when 

upgrades to the upper Riccarton interceptor were done, that is correct? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   So my understanding of the rule is that there is an allocation 20 

that is allowed for currently which assumes that the lower Riccarton 

interceptor is complete.  The capacity then increases again when the 

upper Riccarton interceptor is complete and there is an allocation at 

that point which increases, and then there is when the Avonhead Road 

sewer is upgraded the capacity increases again and there is a higher 25 

allocation again at that point. 

 

MR CLEARY:   The rule proposed by the Council contemplates additional 

discharges when the upper Riccarton interceptor is upgraded? 

 30 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, and the design of that takes into account the industrial 

areas that are being rezoned as well as growth, general residential 

growth within the catchment as well. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And it is my understanding that the upgrade to the 35 

upper Riccarton interceptor is not funded? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No, but we will certainly be putting it forward for funding in 

the next LTP round. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   Right, okay, that is very useful.  This may be a matter more 

for the planner rather than yourself, Ms O’Brien, but in terms of the 

potential solution that I have suggested to you earlier or indeed the 

second alternative solution that could be modelled, I mean quite clearly 

there would need to be a rule in relation to development of this land 45 

which only allowed wastewater to be discharged via a – well, first of all 
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you would agree that any system that was established for wastewater 

management on this site it would have to be approved by the Council? 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 5 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay.  And a rule would be appropriate to make sure that 

the Council was able to check from an engineering perspective that it 

was satisfied with all the features that I previously described? 10 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Just leaving aside those scenarios you essentially support a 

deferred zoning which does not allow development to proceed until 15 

there is some capacity? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   That is right. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is right.  And that is our position, the client’s position is 20 

the same, you understand that, yes? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, I understand that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, no more questions. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary, now Professor Bagchi.  Now just 

before you start, Mr Cleary, possibly this is another example, I am not 

sure of what you were concerned about before in terms of order, order 

of cross-examination, so what I will do is I will leave the door open if 30 

you wanted to make an application for a question arising to ask it. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, professor? 35 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY PROFESSOR BAGCHI [11.56 am] 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir.  Thank you, Ms O’Brien.  Is it 

correct that there will be no capacity for sewage discharge from area 3 40 

that is submitter 2183 and waste of area 3 that is submitter 2278 until 

the upper Riccarton wastewater interceptor is upgraded? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  As the upgrade of upper Riccarton 

wastewater interceptor as not in the long term plan is it correct that the 

upgrade is unlikely to take place until 2025? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that is my expectation. 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  And is there any certainty that the 

upgrade will be included in even the next long term plan? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   There is no certainty but we can put a strong case to the 10 

councillors explaining why we need the upgrade because there is so 

much demand in the area and because these areas have been identified 

in the LURP the current capacity is so constrained.  And it is just 

unfortunate that the budget in the current LTP is not sufficient to fix the 

whole of the catchment, only half of the catchment, so I am reasonably 15 

confident that we can make provision for it in a future long term plan. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  In light of this is it possible to have an 

industrial development on the land within the next 10 years? 

 20 

MS O’BRIEN:   Well, as discussed with Mr Cleary, we could look at 

undertaking some wastewater modelling to see if it would be possible 

to store wastewater onsite and only discharge at times when there is 

spare capacity in the network.  So most of the time there is some spare 

capacity in the network, this is generally speaking, I am not talking 25 

about the Riccarton interceptor specifically, but generally speaking 

there are times when there is capacity in the wastewater network and it 

would be a matter of looking at whether there could be storage onsite 

and discharging only at times when there is spare capacity, but would 

need to do the analysis. 30 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you.  And in your rebuttal you have 

suggested as a possibility is a deferred rezoning for the site, is your 

opinion based only in terms of the wastewater management? 

 35 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am only giving evidence on water and wastewater, I have not 

looked at water supply for this particular site, but I have looked at it for 

the nearby Hawthornden Road ODP area and there is sufficient water 

pressure for that particular site.  I would have to do further water 

supply modelling to check whether water was an issue or not.  40 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Sir, no more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, professor.  We will leave any questions 

arising until the end if there are any, Mr Cleary.  Ms Dawson? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Hello, Ms O’Brien, thank you.  Just following 

on, on the same grounds and I am probably going over something that 

you have already answered but I just want to be clear.  Would you be 

satisfied in relation to wastewater discharge from this 

Hawthornden/Russley business area if there was a rule that said there 5 

could be no discharge until the lower Riccarton interceptor was 

upgraded and then subject to the modelling, showing that there could 

be some capacity at times to discharge, but there would be rules that 

then governed how much discharge there would be from the site 

depending on what subsequent upgrades were done to the Upper 10 

Riccarton or the Avonhead Road’s, in other words, which is much the 

same as what is proposed for the MAIL site. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 15 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, so I think we could take a similar approach to what is 

proposed for the MAIL site. The question is, I need to go back and 

check the modelling and see whether we are already fully allocated in 

terms of the MAIL site, the Hawthornden Road ODP area and the 

Dakota Park site, it may be that even with our storage on site and 20 

discharging only when there is spare capacity, that we have actually 

used up all of the spare capacity in the sewer and there may not be any 

more capacity unless we adjust the allocations for those three other 

areas, reduce them to allocate some capacity to this area 3.  

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and all of that - - - 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sorry, can I just finish answering your question? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 30 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   So it may be that once the lower Riccarton interceptor upgrade 

is complete that may not provide any spare capacity for this site, unless 

we reduce the allocations for those other three sites.  I am not sure until 

we have done the modelling, so if there was some spare capacity then, 35 

yes, we could write a rule that said once the lower Riccarton interceptor 

was complete there could be a certain allocation at that point and then 

an increased allocation once the Upper Riccarton interceptor is 

complete, or it might be that modelling says well, actually there is no 

spare capacity even once the lower Riccarton Interceptor upgrade is 40 

complete, in which case the rule should say that once the Upper 

Riccarton interceptor is complete there could be a connection in the 

discharge.  
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MS DAWSON:   Assuming whatever capacity has to be realistic so that the 

storage is not needing to be unrealistically large or so that it is 

commensurate with a development of the scale proposed. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, but as was pointed out by one of the earlier witnesses, a 5 

lot of the development out here is sort of quite large warehousing 

which actually does not have much in the way of employees, and so the 

wastewater discharges from some sites could be quite small, depending 

on what the actual use of the site was.  

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So even if there was only a small capacity it may allow some 

development or some types of development on that site in the interim. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, or a development of part of the site for example. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So on the same sort of line, you understand that the area 

sought to be rezoned by Mr Cleary’s clients is only part of the 

greenfield business priority area, area 2? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I do understand that, but in terms of long term planning for 20 

wastewater, we are putting in infrastructure that is going to last for 

100 years so we need to take into account the whole of that north west 

area, but I do understand that their submission only relates to a part of 

it, but in terms of our long term planning, we will take into account the 

whole area that is identified on map A. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, that was going to be my question. So you are modelling 

for the design work for both interceptors is taking into account the 

whole of area 3? 

 30 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. So I am just going to ask you a couple of other 

much more specific questions and I am only asking this because you 

are the first witness that has brought these areas to my attention. The 35 

areas in Johns Road, I think they are 170-180 Johns Road? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   177? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Six or seven or something. 40 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   711, is that in area 1? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, this is 176, I think, 180, 180A Johns Road, I think it 

might be Rosebank. 45 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Rosebank? 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is right down near – here have you covered it, it is in your 

evidence-in-chief, yes, section 6 of your evidence-in-chief.  It is, you 

have actually got it written there, it is Rosebank Estate.  5 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sorry, which paragraph? 

 

MS DAWSON:   6.1, and when I read it properly you have actually answered 

my question in your evidence.  It is Rosebank Estates.  The other one 10 

was 121 Papanui Road, which is 6.8 in your evidence-in-chief, can you 

tell me what is on that site? 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 15 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sorry, I cannot recall, I would have to go back to my earlier 

evidence. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because you cover that in your residential evidence.  All 

right, well, Mr Stevenson might be able to answer that I am sure, I will 20 

ask him. Thank you very much.  That is all, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   None for me, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Nothing for me either. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, and I do not have any questions either, 

Ms O’Brien, but just before you go there are questions arising process. 

Professor Bagchi, any questions arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, I have a question following Ms Dawson’s one. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson’s question, all right. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, if you permit me. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly. 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY PROFESSOR BAGCHI [12.06 pm] 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, thank you. Ms O’Brien, even if the lower 45 

Riccarton interceptor is upgraded by 2018 or so as we are assuming, 



 Page 55 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

would you recommend area 3 east, I am not talking of the west, east be 

allowed until Upper Riccarton upgradation? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am not sure.  Until we have done the modelling to check 

whether there is any additional capacity that hasn’t already been 5 

allocated, I don’t know the answer to that.  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Professor. Mr Cleary, any questions arising 10 

from Professor Bagchi’s cross-examination and the Panel’s questions? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [12.06 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   I think in terms of an answer to a question from Professor 15 

Bagchi, you did mention that there are times when there are capacity, 

and it may be you cannot answer that off the top of your head without 

doing the modelling that we have discussed, but broadly speaking the 

capacity would be available off peak, is that correct? 

 20 

MS O’BRIEN:   I am not sure, I would need to go back and check when the 

modelling was done, it may have been that the modelling was done for, 

I think it was probably done for peak dry weather flow, so we get a dry 

annual flow pattern happening and we may have modelled it during 

peak dry weather flow, I would just need to check that.  So it might be 25 

that there may be some capacity off peak on a daily basis when there is 

not a storm, but like I say, I would just need to check that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Just so I am clear when you refer to peak and off peak, could 

you just generally speaking let me know what peak is? 30 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Sure, so with a wastewater network you typically see a peak 

first thing in the morning when people get up and have a shower and 

get ready for work, and then you see another peak late in the day when 

people get home from work and start making dinner and so on, so you 35 

see sort of peaks early morning and sort of early evening.  So off peak 

would be at night, for example, which is the case for Dakota Park at the 

moment, they discharge at about 1.00 in the morning. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that is discharge from a system generally along the lines 40 

of what we have discussed earlier? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Slightly different from Dakota Park, Dakota Park is just 

discharged every night at the same time, I think they discharge for 

about 50 minutes each night.  So they have got a storage tank, they 45 

store all the wastewater during the day, discharge at night for just under 
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an hour when it is off peak, but not taking into account – it assumes 

that there is capacity in the wastewater network, they are not actually 

checking is it a storm even or not, so we have moved on a bit since then 

in terms of how we’re managing the network. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, a little bit more sophisticated now. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any re-examination Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, Ms O’Brien.  So you are free for the 

moment, but presumably you are available during the latter course of 

the hearing in case there is any application via counsel to have you 

recalled? 

 20 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, that is fine. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much, thank you for your help. 

All right, Mr Norton. 

 25 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.09 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. I call Mr Norton. 

 

30 
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<ROBERT BRIAN NORTON, affirmed [12.10 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.10 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Your full name is Robert Brian Norton and you hold the 

qualifications and experience set out in your statement of evidence-in-

chief? 5 

 

MR NORTON:    Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   You have produced two statements of evidence, Mr 

Norton, your evidence-in-chief, dated 2 September 2015, and your 10 

rebuttal statement, dated 24 September 2015? 

 

MR NORTON:    Yes, which also includes supplementary. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  Do you have any amendments or 15 

additions to that evidence, Mr Norton? 

 

MR NORTON:    Yes.  The one you just gave me, which is an addition to 1.6, 

my evidence-in-chief. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Could you just read that so that that goes into the 

record? 

 

MR NORTON:    I confirm that I read the Code of Conduct for expert 

witnesses contained in the Environment Court practice note - - - 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry, the addition that you wish to relate to that 

paragraph. 

 

MR NORTON:    Just the addition? 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry. 

 

MR NORTON:    At the end of that paragraph, “the Council has agreed to me 

giving expert evidence on its behalf in accordance with my duties 35 

under the Code of Conduct”. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, Mr Norton.  Do you have any other 

amendments or additions to your evidence? 

 40 

MR NORTON:   Yes, paragraph 7.10 of my evidence-in-chief.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What was that number again? 

 

MR NORTON:    Sorry, 7.10. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR NORTON:    Sorry, 7.9.  Let us start there, I suppose.  It is just a 

correction to the address of the subject site.  So I would like to change 

7.9 to read, “the submitter seeks rezoning of land at 131 Bridle Path 5 

Road”.   

 

 Then in paragraph 7.10, if I could just read that paragraph corrected?  

“A change to commercial use here is unlikely to have significant 

stormwater effects due to a property already being developed with 10 

residential dwellings and associated hard sand.  A redevelopment 

which creates additional impervious surfaces would be able to mitigate 

effects onsite using rain tanks or other methods. 

 

 “I consider that stormwater issues would not preclude this property 15 

from being zoned as requested by the submitter provided the 

stormwater effects can be mitigated onsite, and the land is outside of 

the flood management area.” 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Please remove the first sentence. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So delete the first sentence, I take it? 

 25 

MR NORTON:    Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

MR NORTON:    Also paragraph 8.4 of my evidence-in-chief through to 8.5. 30 

 

 “The area in question is relatively small and stormwater-serviced by an 

existing network in Wordsworth Street.  An additional car park or 

building would be able to mitigate stormwater effects onsite using rain 

tanks, rain gardens or a proprietary treatment device. 35 

 

 “I consider that stormwater effects do not preclude this site from being 

zoned as requested by the submitter provided the anticipated land swap 

is successful.” 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   So add those last words. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   “Provided the anticipated land swap is”? 

 

MR NORTON:    Successful.  The submitter sought rezoning of what is 45 

currently Council reserve on the premise that there was an agreed swap 
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of land and that has not happened yet.  So that just merely reflects that 

the swap would need to happen for them to zone what was playground 

to commercial.  Does that make sense? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

  [12.15 pm]  

 10 

MR NORTON:    I have an update to paragraph 4.10 of my rebuttal 

supplementary evidence.  I might just sort of discuss the context of that 

and then give you what my suggested changes are. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   How about perhaps give the suggested changes and 15 

cover the context in your highlights package?  Would that that be 

preferable to the Panel? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, Mr Willis (ph 0.28).  So perhaps just cover 

the changes that you want in 4.10 and we will get your evidence 

confirmed and then you can speak to it. 

 

MR NORTON:    To keep it simple, my only change, I suppose, would be 4.10, 25 

sentence 3.   

 

 “I therefore recommend that the waterway be represented on the ODP 

as shown in Option A” – not Option B – “presented in attachment A of 

Mr Stevenson’s evidence.” 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Subject to those amendments and additions, 

do you confirm that your evidence is to the best or your knowledge and 

belief true and correct? 

 35 

MR NORTON:    Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now perhaps you could relay your 

highlights package, including those additional matters that you wanted 

to cover with the Panel? 40 

 

MR NORTON:    Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And remain where you are and answer any questions. 

 45 
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MR NORTON:    Thank you.  My evidence for the Stage 2 Commercial and 

Industrial chapters focuses on individual submissions seeking rezoning 

of various land uses to a commercial or industrial use. 

 

 In some cases, the requested rezonings would allow sites to be 5 

urbanised through subdivision into commercial-industrial 

developments.  I previously discussed the effects of urbanisation of 

land on water quality and flooding through my evidence on the 

Commercial and Industrial Stage 1 and Subdivision chapters. 

 10 

 The key components that must exist in order to service new 

development for stormwater are a physical outfall for stormwater 

discharge, either some part of the Council stormwater network and 

waterway or soils suitable for disposal of stormwater to ground, and a 

way of mitigating the effects of development, which is to say a method 15 

of treating and/or attenuating stormwater either onsite or within a 

collective stormwater facility. 

 

 For sites which expect to be able to dispose of stormwater to ground, 

typically in the western part of the city, provision must also be made 20 

for secondary overland flow path to manage stormwater in excess of 

the disposal system capacity, or for situations where the soakage 

systems fails. 

 

 Secondary flow paths can be public roads, waterways, private or public 25 

easements, or sometimes Council reserves.   

 

 In most circumstances where one of these components is not attainable, 

requires the use of other land outside of the property owner’s control, 

or where the implementation proposes an unacceptably high risk, I 30 

have opposed the rezoning. 

 

 Where the solution is not obvious, the burden is on the submitter to 

demonstrate how the key components required to mitigate the effects of 

development can be achieved.   35 

 

 Where an outfall for stormwater is available, the order of preference for 

mitigation of the effects of the discharge are 1) within an existing or 

planned collective Council stormwater facility, 2) within a new 

collective stormwater facility to be constructed to service the 40 

development, and 3) within individual building sites. 

 

 Specifically, back to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Paragraph 4.10? 45 
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MR NORTON:    4.10, thank you.  Subsequent to filing of my rebuttal 

evidence, Mr Stevenson and I met with the property owner at 75 

Stanleys Road, Mr Glubb, whose land would likely be affected by 

placement of an additional stormwater facility to serve zoning of 

commercial properties west of Stanleys Road. 5 

 

 Mr Glubb felt that he would be disadvantaged by a stormwater 

mitigation facility being located within his land when compared to 

other property owners in the proposed rezoning area.  

 10 

 While there are many property owners in this area who support the 

rezoning and appear to accept the benefits of a collective 

(INDISTINCT 4.45) stormwater management system, it is clear that 

many of them also have no immediate plans to develop their land or 

sell it off for that purpose. 15 

 

 In the absence of any coordinated agreement by landowners in this area 

to evolve their own integrated development plan, I consider that the 

Council must progress its overall preferred stormwater solution, which 

is consistent with its relative strategies and guidelines. 20 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

 Option A as presented in Mr Stevenson’s rebuttal evidence therefore 

remains what I consider to be the preferred stormwater layout because, 25 

1.) it contains the fewest number of mitigations facilities, making it the 

most efficient use of land and accordingly, the most consistent with 

Council’s preference for collect of stormwater management with 

greenfields development.  And 2.) it contains provision for an enhanced 

blue-green corridor operating as a primary stormwater conveyance 30 

system as a visual and ecological extension of the Styx River 

headwaters, and as a pedestrian cycle route while utilising some of the 

natural landform and opportunities for protection of some of the 

existing mature vegetation. 

 35 

 While I still consider Option B to an acceptable albeit inferior 

alternative to Option A, I defer to the Panel on the question of whether 

the flexibility offered by additional stormwater facility to the west of 

Stanleys Road is justified considering the opposition from Mr Glubb.  I 

expect Mr Stevenson will address this matter further in the afternoon. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does that conclude your summary? 
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MR NORTON:   Yes, thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Cleary.  I do not have Professor Bagchi 

cross-examined.  Is that correct, professor?  I do not have your name in 5 

for cross-examination. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, actually we have no questions for Mr Norton. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 10 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   And we sought leave to withdraw a few of the cross-

examinations in the morning and you have very kindly permitted that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am up to date on that. 15 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   I was not aware of that, Your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that is right, but together we will get there. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [12.22 pm] 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Good afternoon, Mr Norton. Just going to ask you a few very 

brief questions regarding the properties of my client’s land at Russley 

Road and Hawthornden Road which you are obviously familiar with. 

 30 

MR NORTON:   Yes, to some extent. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, and have you visited the site? 

 

MR NORTON:   No. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   No, then firstly, and you acknowledge that the site is 

identified as a greenfield priority area in Land Use Recovery Plan? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   If I summarise your opinion it is essentially that an overland 

flow path can be established and you say an overland flow path is 

required for at least part of the development.  That is correct? 

 45 
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MR NORTON:   An overland flow path would be required for any 

development. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Again, I understand your position is that in terms of part of 

the development, you do not oppose it anymore because there is an 5 

easement which would allow for discharge.  That is correct? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, but the other part of the development you say, would 10 

require an overland flow path to be established and protected at the 

time of subdivision? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 15 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the overland flow paths, you understand there is an 

overland flow path running partly through one of the submitter’s land? 

 

MR NORTON:   One of yours? 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, Mr Wilson’s land. 

 

MR NORTON:   At which property? 

 

MR CLEARY:   At Mr Wilson’s property. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it in evidence, Mr Cleary? 

 

MR CLEARY:   No, I apologise, it is not. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How is this witness supposed to know, then? 

 

MR CLEARY:   It could have been established by a site visit, Your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It depends, does it not?  What if there is an easement or 35 

what if there is not?  That depends on a tile search as well as a site visit, 

or some other means.  I am guessing as much as anybody else is apart 

from yourself, given it is not in evidence. 

 

MR CLEARLY:   Yes, but essentially in terms of protecting an overland flow 40 

path, that is the obligation of the developer at the time of subdivision, 

to satisfy the Regional Council that a discharge consent meets its plan 

requirements. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 45 
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MR NORTON:   My opinion is that an overland flow path is necessary for 

development and that I am generally opposing new zoning of land for 

development which does not have a legal overland flow path. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But essentially, would you not agree that that is a matter to be 5 

resolved at the time of discharge consent? 

 

MR NORTON:   I think it is a matter of subdivision and discharge consent. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, and so the applicant for the discharge consent will need 10 

to come along and satisfy the Regional Council at least, that those 

features, the overland flow path, is in place.  That is correct? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes, but I consider that if one is not able to be achieved then 

it cannot be subdivided. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   But essentially that is the obligation of the developer at the 

time of subdivision and discharge consent.  You agree with that? 

 

MR NORTON:   I agree that it is the obligation of the developer. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and so therefore if at that time the developer can satisfy 

those requirements, then that would meet your concerns? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Now to the extent that there might have to be any negotiations 

with adjacent landowners to establish that flow path to cater for the 

discharge, that is essentially a matter of commercial negotiation 

between land owners? 30 

 

MR NORTON:   It can be, yes.  That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   No more questions. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary. Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Norton.  So focusing still on this 

Hawthornden/Russley Area 3 that Mr Cleary has just been talking to 

you about, just to make sure I am clear about your evidence, as I 40 

understand it you are saying that the property, I think it is Equus Trust 

that is on Hawthornden Road itself, it would be able to provide a 

secondary flow path directly to Hawthornden Road because it fronts 

that road.  I think that is 10.3. of your evidence-in-chief. 

 45 

MR NORTON:   Sorry, let me just – ah, yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   What I am wanting to know is you have said part of the site 

you do not oppose and part you do.  I just want to make sure I am clear 

as to why. 

 5 

MR NORTON:   Yes, so 76 Hawthornden Road, which is able to use 

Hawthornden Road as an overland flow path, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because it has got a reasonable frontage through 

Hawthornden Road, but the difference as I understand it from what you 10 

are saying with the other properties in that area, the Russley Road 

property and one of the back properties off Hawthornden Road, is that 

they have not been able to identify a legal way of obtaining a secondary 

flow path through to anywhere? 

 15 

MR NORTON:   That is right, so Hawthornden Road is downstream of these 

Russley Road sites, however there are other private properties below 

them which could be affected by stormwater discharges that are not 

controlled, and so my opinion is that they would need a method of 

getting stormwater to Hawthornden Road which is downstream of their 20 

site, essentially by going through other private property.  It is the only 

way to go. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Over which they would need to have some legal right to do 

that? 25 

 

MR NORTON:   That is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so Mr Cleary talked to you about whether that would be 

the sort of thing that would be covered in a subdivision consent and 30 

you said yes, it would be, but my question is when you are looking at 

these new greenfields development areas and the requirement for an 

outline development plan that covers the whole of those areas, do you 

think that how stormwater would be disposed of from that area, and 

where, and the land required, is a matter that would normally or is 35 

required to be covered on an Outline Development Plan? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

  [12.30 pm] 40 

 

MS DAWSON:  And are you familiar enough with the Regional Policy 

Statement to say whether that is required? 

 

MR NORTON:   I believe servicing of new development is requirement in the 45 

RPS. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, and through the Outline Development Plan? 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. Have you seen the Outline Development Plan attached 

to Ms Harte’s rebuttal evidence about these sites? 

 

MR NORTON:   I probably have but I cannot recall it. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that is fine, I will not ask you about its nature then. 

 

 I think that is all my questions, thank you very much, Mr Norton. 

 

MR NORTON:   Thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Now questions arising, Mr Cleary? 25 

 

MR CLEARY: I have a couple of questions leading on from what 

Commissioner Dawson's questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, I did not have any questions myself, but it is - - -  30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, fine. 

 35 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [12.31 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:  Sorry. In terms of you saying that “discharges need to be 

controlled,” can you be a bit more specific, do they have to be 

controlled such that the level of discharge is the same pre and post 40 

development? 

 

MR NORTON:  It depends on whether the sites disposing of stormwater to 

ground as a primary mitigation system or whether it is disposing to 

surface water. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Right. 

 

MR NORTON:  Generally if it is disposing to ground, all we require is what 

we would consider sort of an emergency is “floor hearth” that is 

basically clear of structures or other buildings. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   And is that in case there is a sort of an unexpected storm event 

or a higher than one activity - - -  

 

MR NORTON:   That is right. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - is what - - -  

 

MR NORTON:   So we typically would expect mitigation up to a 50 year 

return period event - - -  15 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right. 

 

MR NORTON:  - - - and then we would need to identify the flow path for 

stormwater in excess of that event - - -  20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right. 

 

MR NORTON:  - - - or in the event of blockage or failure of the soakage 

system. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:  Okay. Thank you that is helpful. In terms of the actual ODP 

that has been included with Ms Harte’s rebuttal evidence, I just want to 

read out the extract that relates to stormwater, yes, and it says that it is 

“surface water management system consisting of above ground 30 

absorption and infiltration basins and rapid soakage chambers shall be 

provided”, the first flash of runoff and disposal stormwater to ground 

soakage were all events up to and including the critical 2% AEP 

probability storm. 

 35 

 The design of the system shall have regard to the need to avoid the risk 

of bird strike. Secondary, flow paths will be required to be identified 

and protected when subdivision or development of site is proposed. 

 

 You generally agree with that? 40 

 

MR NORTON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. Thank you. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN: Thank you, Mr Cleary, any re-examination, Mr 

Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, a couple of matters with your leave, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.33 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now just dealing with the questions asked by my friend, 10 

Mr Cleary, about flow paths and management of stormwater from his 

client site, is it your understanding or what is your understanding of the 

management of the stormwater that would be generated by these sites, 

would it be managed in the Council’s network or some other 

mechanism? 15 

 

MR NORTON: Typically for industrial/commercial subdivision, facilities 

would be vested as public facilities to the Council. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes. 20 

 

MR NORTON:  Occasionally for developments which are maintained as a 

whole block by one owner, it is possible that those can be private 

facilities. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   And in terms of the consenting arrangements that would 

apply, you talked about management during subdivision, but with 

regard to whether consents are required from Environment Canterbury 

or otherwise, are you able to advise the Panel on the option? 

 30 

MR NORTON:  At the moment the City Council holds an interim consent for 

stormwater discharge, but has limitations in terms of the site size that 

can be covered by it. Council has lodged a consent with the Regional 

Council for a comprehensive discharge over the entire city which could 

be used to authorise discharges from this land. Alternatively they could 35 

be separately authorised through their own consent with the Regional 

Council. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, Mr Norton, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Winchester. 

 

 Now the next witness on the list is, I see the first traffic engineering 45 

witness and that has crossover into Mr Clark’s evidence on these issues 
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that we were discussing this morning, Mr Allen, have you made any 

progress in discussions? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, yes, and I have spoken during the morning tea adjournment 

with my learned friend, Ms Crawford - - -  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   - - - and the position is the Crown, the road in respect of that 

particular development is a limited access road, so the Crown or NZTA 10 

has another tool - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   - - - so on that basis NZTA and the Crown will removes that 15 

part of the evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   My friend may wish to address you about what the Panel does 20 

with it but obviously it is taken from it any issues that were raise can be 

addressed by the NZTA at the time of any discussion, if any, about 

access to the State Highway because NZTA has control over safe 

access. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right. So, Ms Crawford, have you any comments 

before a - - -  

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, sir, as I signalled to my friend during the break, that 

is helpful insofar as that evidence is no longer on the record, but what 30 

is not clear to me at this point is whether the witness for NZTA has 

changed his position with respect to the assertion on traffic safety or is 

deferring it for another day, and I do intend to question Mr Milne in 

relation to these issues, and I really need some clarity on whether the 

Crown still holds this view - - -  35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, he is not the Crown, he is an independent expert. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Correct. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Clark is an independent expert and obviously questions 

that counsel ask are grounds for questions to be put to a witness 

sometimes, so in some ways we are in counsel’s hands if this evidence 

is taken from the record and we will talk about that shortly. I think it is 

really a matter for counsel how they wish to approach questioning of 45 

expert witnesses. 
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 Obviously you will notice that he has certain opinions. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, thank you, sir, I will perhaps reserve my position and 

maybe I do not have any questions, but it may depend on where I get to 5 

with Ms Milne. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, well just in terms of Mr Clark’s brief then, I 

think probably the – obviously on the basis the evidence that Mr Clark 

addresses would be taken from the record then parties should bear that 

in mind in terms of how they ask other witnesses questions – from a 15 

quick look at Mr Milne’s evidence I do not know that there is too much 

crossover but if there was some crossover by way of rebuttal of 

evidence of Mr Clark on matters that have already been struck from the 

record, then I just ask for counsel to assist in removing that as well. 

 20 

 But coming back to Mr Clark’s evidence, I think the easiest course 

would be for counsel to provide updated copies with the status of 

evidence that have been removed which I direct will be removed on the 

basis of counsel’s request, be provided through the independent 

secretary so we can update our files in time for Mr Clark to be called. 25 

 

MR ALLEN:  Thank you, sir, and to assist the Panel in the interim, it is section 

10 of Mr Clark’s statement of evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes. Now there is two statements at section 10, one relates 30 

to, I think the Port Hills sort of area, Ms Crawford's client, and the 

other one is effectively a statement indicating no concern being on the 

part of Mr Clark about another piece of land at Akaroa. 

 

 I think probably either way probably the neatest thing is to remove that 35 

section from his evidence, do you agree? 

 

MR ALLEN:   That is what we propose, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much. 40 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And just to assist my friend, sir, and I am sure this will be 

dealt with when opening legal submissions are presented, there may 

need to be consequential amendment for the record to (INDISTINCT 

4.20) and submissions that specifically reference at paragraphs 20 to - - 45 

-  
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, well that can be done orally if you like. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay, thank you, Mr Winchester, if you can call Mr Milne 

- - -  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Mr Norton excuse. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Sorry, Mr Norton, you are excused and thank you very 

much for your help. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.39 pm] 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:  I think he was getting worried he may have to answer 

questions on transport matters. 

 

 Sir, with your leave I will call Mr Milne. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 
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<ANDREW FARQUHARSON MILNE, affirmed [12.40 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.40 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Good afternoon, Mr Milne. 

 

MR MILNE:   Hi. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Can you confirm you full name is Andrew Farquharson 

Milne and that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

your statement of evidence-in-chief? 

 10 

MR MILNE:   Yes, I confirm that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, and you have produced three statements for 

this matter, the first being your evidence-in-chief, dated 2 September 

2015; the second being a rebuttal statement, dated 24 September 2015; 15 

and a further rebuttal statement, dated 1 October 2015? 

 

MR MILNE:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Do you have any amendments or additions 20 

to any of those statements? 

 

MR MILNE:  Yes, I do.  I have got three amendments to my evidence-in-chief. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, can you just take us through them and allow 25 

the Panel to take notes? 

 

MR MILNE:  Okay.  I would like to make an amendment to my part of 1.7 of 

my evidence-in-chief and just add a further sentence to the end of that 

paragraph that states, “the Council has agreed to me giving expert 30 

evidence on its behalf in accordance with my duties under the Code of 

Conduct”. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR MILNE:   I would also like to make an amendment to my paragraph 7.1. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right, page 18. 40 

 

MR MILNE:   Page 12, 7.1.  What I would like to do is just insert in the start of 

the second sentence of that paragraph the words “With the exception of 

2278 and 2183” and then the sentence flows on from there. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it the sentence “that flows on from there, these sites are 

not identified”? 

 

MR MILNE:   Correct, yes. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

MR MILNE:  One further amendment – sorry, I am going to go back here – 

6.13.  I would like to take out that second sentence. This is the sentence 

that states “I am of the view”.  I would like to take that out, that whole 10 

sentence. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  The word also comes out of the next sentence, I take it?  15 

The request provides no information – it is all there.  Is that what you 

are saying? 

 

MR MILNE:   I would like to keep that in.   

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  Subject to those additions and amendments, 

do you confirm that your evidence is true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge and belief? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you.  You have a highlights package.  I will ask 

you to take the Panel through that and then remain where you are to 

answer to any questions. 

 30 

MR MILNE:   Thank you.  I would like to start on my highlights package. 

 

 I have considered each submission in regard to their impact on the 

surrounding transport network. I assessed the impacts of each 

submission in view of the likely constraints of the road network and 35 

whether such constraints may be overcome through programmed 

works, transport strategies, or appropriate rules within the Proposed 

District Plan. 

 

 I have also assessed the merits of the rezoning requests for land that is 40 

not identified as being within a Greenfield Priority Area.   

 

 I have been involved in expert conferencing, which has continued up 

until today, with regard to submissions associated with Area 3 that seek 

to take access from the proposed southern airport access. The key 45 
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transport issues discussed relate to the cumulative effects on the 

surrounding road network and safe site access.   

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 5 

 Expert conferencing has also focused on a 3.8 hectare site within the 

east of Area 3 and which takes access from a local road. I rely upon 

specific modelling and collected data to conclude that the traffic 

impacts of the zone request can be managed to within acceptable limits. 

 10 

 Finally, conferencing and additional modelling has also taken place in 

regard to a 20 hectare site on the corner of Marshes Road-Springs Road 

that sits outside an identified Greenfield Priority Area.   

 

 The modelling confirms that the surrounding road network 15 

infrastructure operates over capacity at peak times and that the traffic 

impacts of the rezoning request, while relatively small, adds to these 

high delays, and as such I do not consider there to be sufficient network 

capacity to accommodate the additional traffic demands associated with 

a zoning request. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Allen? 

 25 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ALLEN [12.46 pm] 

 

MR ALLEN:  Thank you, sir.  I will just get some water, Mr Milne.  Good 

afternoon, Mr Milne. 

 30 

MR MILNE:   Hi. 

 

MR ALLEN:  Mr Milne, you mentioned in your highlights package the issue of 

cumulative effects.  I would just to start with those.  The New Zealand 

Transport Agency is currently undertaking significant upgrade works to 35 

the western access corridor of State Highway 1, isn’t it? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:  Are you aware of the evidence of the MAIL hearing about 40 

potential effects of that proposal on the State Highway network? 

 

MR MILNE:  Yes, I have read the evidence provided on that. 

 

MR ALLEN:  Do you agree that in 2026 key intersections, such as your 45 

Yaldhurst and Hazelwood, are predicted to have a level of service of F? 
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MR MILNE:   I cannot confirm the precise level of service but I know that they 

are under strain, particularly at Yaldhurst Road. 

 

MR ALLEN:  That particular modelling for the MAIL proposal did not include 5 

any traffic from Areas 2 or 3, did it? 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MR ALLEN:  You accept that the modelling undertaken for this hearing 10 

highlights wider network capacity issues? 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MR ALLEN:  So you do not agree that there are modelling issues of the 15 

rezoning proposals for Areas 2 and 3 on the capacity for the State 

Highway network? 

 

MR MILNE:   No, I do not. 

 20 

MR ALLEN:  Just briefly then, just to assist me, at paragraph 7.4 of your 

evidence, the wider network capacity issues you are referring to there, 

are they solely then the local road network? 

 

MR MILNE:  Sorry, I was thinking you were talking about Area 3.  So yes, no, 25 

the modelling has shown wider cumulative effects.  I do apologise. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sorry, I could have been clearer on exactly the areas there.  So 

with Area 2 there is wider - - - 

 30 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   - - - the modelling shows - - - 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 35 

 

MR ALLEN:   Yes, thank you.  So therefore, with Areas 2 and 3 then, just to 

be clear, you would agree that the modelling shows those rezoning 

proposals would increase capacity issues, especially in focus of Area 2? 

 40 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:  Thank you.  For this proposal the only cumulative modelling has 

assumed a through route across Area 3, hasn’t it? 

 45 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 
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MR ALLEN:  Such a through route is not supported by any of the traffic 

experts, is it? 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 5 

 

MR ALLEN:   Would you support a rule that would prevent the creation of 

such a through road? 

 

  [12.50 pm] 10 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   For submission 2183, that’s the Equus Trust, do you accept that 

approximately, or it is from the modelling 59 PCUs, I understand that’s 15 

passenger car units, outbound at peak time in the evening are modelled 

to exit via Hawthornden Road using the local road network? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 20 

MR ALLEN:   Therefore, if access to Hawthornden Road is not permitted, the 

only option would then be for that traffic to use the southern airport 

access? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 25 

 

MR ALLEN:   Turning to submission 2278, which is the Wilson and other 

submissions, and just for clarity we are down in area 3, turning to that 

submission do you accept that the modelling shows 155 PCUs 

outbound during the evening peak that will use the southern access 30 

interchange? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Of that 155, 105 PCUs outbound will access the State Highway 35 

network? 

 

MR MILNE:   I understood there was 155 movements, PM peak movements 

from area 3, of which 45 percent go south to Yaldhurst Road.  

 40 

MR ALLEN:   Just while we’re on that one, if we could refer briefly to your 

evidence-in-chief, and we’re going to page 18 of the QTP exhibit, I 

understand that Yaldhurst Road, when we look at figure 6.7, is the big 

red blobs at the bottom – sorry for the ineloquent way of saying it, but 

the red squares at the bottom? 45 
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MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Is it right that those red squares show an intersection under 

stress? 

 5 

MR MILNE:   Typically it does, but there is currently within the report on 

paragraph 6.3.4, and it really talks about the convergence of the model 

in that location.  

 

MR ALLEN:   Yes, and that comes under 6.10, which again shows a large area 10 

of red at the Yaldhurst Road intersection. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. What it’s saying is there is no significant delay in parks 

greater than five seconds that can be associated with the Zone request. I 

think what it’s saying is that it’s under a lot of pressure and this does 15 

add some extent to the pressure. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Mr Milne, turning now to the issue of mitigation, no submitter 

has proposed to fund mitigation to reduce effects on the State Highway 

network, have they? 20 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MR ALLEN:   You are of a view that the better business case provides an 

opportunity for mitigation? 25 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   That mitigation, for the State Highway network, would be paid 

out of the National Land Transport Fund? 30 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   You attach the strategic business case to your evidence, that is a 

broad scale first step of potential new development of the western 35 

corridor, isn’t it? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   And it’s followed by a programme business case? 40 

 

MR MILNE:   It is indeed, yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   That, in respect, is then followed by a detailed business case? 

 45 

MR MILNE:   I think an indicative business case, yes. 
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MR ALLEN:   At that time there is an assessment made against the National 

Land Transport Plan and the Regional Land Transport Plan? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 5 

 

MR ALLEN:   At that time funding may or may not be approved? 

 

MR MILNE:   That is correct, there’s always a risk that at that stage the 

benefits haven’t been proven. 10 

 

MR ALLEN:   And then there’s the designation and consenting process? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 15 

MR ALLEN:   And even after all of that, funding decisions can change, can’t 

they? 

 

MR MILNE: They can, yes.    

 20 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, Mr Milne. No further questions, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Allen, one of the things I’ve found with 

Mr Cleary’s order of cross-examination before us, it occurs to me that 

it may reoccur, and I see you proceed, Ms Crawford, and in hindsight 25 

that possibly is more friendly cross-examination following more 

aggressive cross-examination for different parties’ positions.  

 

 So I think what I’m going to have to do is to go with the flow, if 

counsel wants to ask for permission to be examined from prior cross-30 

examination, they’ll have to ask where these sorts of things – ideally I 

think you should have been in a different order. So, anyway, we will 

see how we go. But, by all means, don’t hold back, Ms Crawford. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sir, I would like to think it’s not going to be aggressive, 35 

but I will certainly cut to the chase, sir. I am going to be asking 

questions in relation to two submitters, I am down for 10 minutes, five 

minutes before and five minutes after lunch, I’ll do my best to keep to 

that. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I’ll just see how we go. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Firstly, good afternoon, Mr Milne.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Would it assist you just to have an early lunch and just 45 

start after lunch? 
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MS CRAWFORD:   If that suits the Panel it might be more - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think we will do that. We will take an early lunch. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir. 

 

ADJOURNED [12.56 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.40 pm] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Not hiding are they? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Well, he may have been frightened off, sir. No, I suspect 

it might be just a quick comfort stop. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That’s fine. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   People have seen Mr Milne very recently, so he is 

around. I have sent Mr Leslie to try and find him. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  We will retire and come back in I think. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sorry, I apologise, sir. 

 25 

ADJOURNED [1.41 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.43 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So was it off peak traffic delays, Mr Milne? 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. Sorry about that.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, Ms Crawford. 

 35 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [1.43 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir. Mr Milne, just before we broke for lunch I 

mentioned I’d asked you some questions in relation to Castle Rock, 

195 Port Hills Road and Foddercube Products Limited. Firstly, Castle 40 

Rock, you will recall at the Residential Chapter hearing for Stage 2 that 

you indicated you could support, in transportation terms, the rezoning 

of 195 Port Hills Road, but you expressed or you tentatively expressed 

the view that there may be safety effects and effectively defer to NZTA 

on that point, have I summarised that correctly? 45 
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MR MILNE:   That’s right, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right. Would it be fair to say that this is based on 

potential concern around the proximity of the site access to the merge 

area? 5 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, that is right, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. I understand you participated in a 

conferencing session with Mr Clark after the Residential Hearing had 10 

concluded, is that right? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, with regards to Stage 2, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   With regard specifically to this rezoning request, is that 15 

correct? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, I let Mr Clark know that I had raised that issue. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   All right, and that occurred on 18 August, do you recall 20 

that date being the date of the conferencing session? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   This is on the record, sir, but just to recap for the witness’ 25 

benefit, he has signed the conferencing statement. Mr Milne, you recall 

that the agreement was reached between Mr Clark and yourself to agree 

to investigate the appropriateness of this request in regards to safe 

access to the road network? 

 30 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

  [1.45 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   What safety analysis have you undertaken to assist the 35 

Panel at this hearing today on that point, Mr Milne? 

 

MR MILNE:   I haven’t taken any further analysis on that access. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Has Mr Clark provided you with anything? 40 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Have you spoken to Mr Metherell, the traffic expert for 

the submitter? 45 
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MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Did you caucus with him in any way after the Residential 

Chapter hearing had concluded? 

 5 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Do you think that might have assisted the Panel had you 

done so? 

 10 

MR MILNE:   Well, my understanding was that it was an NZTA road, that it 

was primarily an NZTA issue. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right. But just turning to your expert opinion on this 

point, were you present when Mr Metherell summarised his evidence at 15 

the Residential hearing? 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Have you read the transcript from the Residential? 20 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well, at page 561 of the transcript Mr Metherell says “a 

safe layout can be achieved whilst avoiding adverse effects on the 25 

efficient operation of the strategic transport network”, do you agree 

with him? 

 

MR MILNE:   I am not sure. I mean there may be a design that can 

accommodate the forward visibility. I guess it’s just a matter of, is it 30 

good sense to have an access over a high speed bend. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you base that on the assumption that the access 

would be 30 metres from the merge area, am I right about that? 

 35 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   If we could just bring up figure 7 of Mr Metherell’s 

evidence from the Residential Chapter hearing? Just bear with me, sir, 

for a moment. You will see here, Mr Milne, and I am sure you have 40 

read this because you did respond to it in the Residential hearing, figure 

7 shows the site access point, should this site be rezoned. Yes? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   If you scale that off, that’s some 60 metres from the merge 

area, isn’t it, Mr Milne, not 30 metres? 

 

MR MILNE:   I can’t scale it off from here. I don’t know. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   Okay, well, to the left of the plan there’s a scale, is there 

not? It may be difficult to see on an A4, sir.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It might be able to be blown up and perhaps moved down 

to – is that where you wanted it to be? 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, so perhaps the key to the left is not actually that 

helpful. I probably can’t take that point any further, sir, the Panel will 

no doubt deliberate on that evidence in due course. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   This is the Residential evidence you’re referring to? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is this witness giving evidence for this hearing on 20 

Industrial? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sir, I made the request at the end of the Residential 

Chapter that the Castle Rock evidence be transferred to this hearing, 

which I understand was accepted by the Panel and there has been no 25 

request to question the witnesses because everything was effectively 

put up at the Residential hearing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will have to have a look at it. 

 30 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 

 Just while we’re on figure 7, Mr Milne, you’ll see, and I’m sure you’ll 

agree, Mr Metherell’s evidence shows a range of modifications to 

accommodate turning movements, including improvements for 35 

pedestrian connectivity and safety. 

 

MR MILNE:   Are you saying can I see that? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Would you accept that figure 7, I’ll put it a different way, 40 

shows a range of modifications to accommodate turning movements 

including improvements for pedestrian connectivity and safety? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, yes. 

 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. Were you present when legal counsel for the 

Christchurch City Council, Ms Scott, confirmed at the Residential 

Chapter hearing that there were no concerns about whether the wider 

transport network can readily accommodate the additional traffic safety 

and efficiently? 5 

 

MR MILNE:   I cannot recall. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well, it is at page 562 of the transcript, but I accept you 

haven’t read that. 10 

 

MR MILNE:   Okay. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Now, I’ll just turn briefly to Foddercube, that’s submitter 

2225, I understand that you have engaged in expert conferencing with 15 

the submitter’s expert, Mr Fuller? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, that is right, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   That conferencing statement was filed on Friday, 20 

2 October? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   For the Panel’s benefit, I am not sure whether that has 25 

been received, it is on the record now, sir, but I’m not sure it the Panel 

has had an opportunity to see it. I can provide extra copies if that helps 

and one for the witness. 

 

  [1.50 pm] 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think we just got it this morning. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Foddercube and Christchurch City, Milne and Fuller 

prior to 2 October.  I came in this morning and I actually haven’t had a 35 

chance to read it myself but I will have a skim through it, I just might 

have a quick look at it.  Thank you, Ms Crawford. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So, Mr Milne, when you summarised your evidence in 

your highlights package earlier in relation to this submission request, 40 

you said the effects on the traffic on the road network were, in your 

words, relatively small should the site be rezoned, do you recall saying 

that? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, well, in the context of the sentence it may be helpful just to 45 

repeat the sentence. 
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MS CRAWFORD:   That is fine. 

 

MR MILNE:   Sorry, it starts with “and”, sorry about that, “And that the traffic 

impacts of the zoning request while relatively small adds to these high 5 

delays and as such I do not consider there to be sufficient network 

capacity”.   

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  And in the conferencing statement you use 

slightly different terminology “marginal or negligible changes”? 10 

 

MR MILNE:   That is right, it depends on the scenario you are looking at, 

whether it be the morning peak or the evening peak and depending on 

what intersection you are looking at. 

 15 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, that is right and that is in agreement with the 

submitters’ expert, Mr Fuller, isn’t it? 

 

MR MILNE:   It is, yes. 

 20 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you both agree on the modelling inputs and outputs, 

don’t you? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   So is it fair to say the only area of disagreement is whether 

the zoning has the potential to exacerbate network capacity in a 

material way? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, I guess so.  I mean what the modelling showed and agreed 30 

between us is that the network is under strain at peak times and over 

capacity now or predicted at 2016 without the rezoning, and that when 

you factor in the effects of rezoning it makes those capacity issues 

worse. 

 35 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right.  So turning back to your expert statement that you 

signed with Mr Fuller, is it right that you say in relation to the Halswell 

Junction Road/Springs Road intersection that there will be marginal 

effects on delay in 2016? 

 40 

MR MILNE:   That is right, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And in 2026 high delays on some approaches but 

negligible delays as a result of the requested rezoning? 

 45 

MR MILNE:   That is right, yes. 
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MS CRAWFORD:   And of course Springs Road/Marshs Road being closer to 

the site you agree high delays on some approaches but the requested 

rezoning adds marginal additional delays? 

 5 

MR MILNE:   That is right, yes, to an already high delay intersection. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And once the Christchurch Southern Motorway extension 

is completed wouldn’t you expect upgrades to follow and consultation 

between relevant authorities? 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How can he expect that? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well, sir, the witness’ own - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How can he expect that, he is an expert witness, he is not 

here representing anyone other than in the reserve capacity beforehand, 

unless your question relates to some knowledge he has of what has 

been agreed or arranged between authorities otherwise it is speculation, 

isn’t it? 20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well, it may be, sir, but the witness’ own evidence says 

“likely to occur”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just put the question, but bear in mind my 25 

comment which I guess is really to signal that there is only so far we 

can go in the absence of any particular agreements or commitments 

between agencies as to what might or might not happen in regard to 

funding issues. 

 30 

MS CRAWFORD:   Understand that completely, sir, and I just signal that the 

witness’ own rebuttal statement of 3.5 makes the comment “likely to 

result in intervention”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 35 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So perhaps I leave it there, sir.  Are you prepared to 

accept, just a couple more questions, Mr Milne, that site access can be 

addressed through the design process? 

 40 

MR MILNE:   Yes, a very limited access arrangement, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, but it can be done, can’t it? 
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MR MILNE:   It can be done and I say limited based on the modelling which 

shows the access would be severely under stress if it was to be all 

movements onto Springs Road. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So a design solution would be anticipated to at least 5 

resolve in part some of those concerns? 

 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

MR MILNE:   In part it would but it could have a knock on effect as well.  If 10 

you can’t turn right into the site from Springs Road it will add 

additional turning movements onto Marshs Road which has its own 

problems. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Would that depend on where the site access is ultimately 15 

located within the subject site? 

 

MR MILNE:   Not necessarily, what has been put forward is an access onto 

Springs Road and an access onto Marshs Road, so somewhere along 

those frontages the same issue occurs. 20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   But further away from the intersection one would assume 

it would be less of a concern? 

 

MR MILNE:   Well, it depends in terms of turning movements, yes, but, as I 25 

said, if you cannot take a right turn into the site then right turners, 

regardless of what position they access in, will impact on the turning 

movements at Springs Road and Marshs Road. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Okay.  Sir, I have nothing further, thank you. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Crawford.  Professor Bagchi? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY PROFESSOR BAGCHI [1.56 pm] 

 35 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir.  Mr Milne, this is about your 

evidence on area 3 east should be accessed from Hawthornden Road in 

case the Panel decides to rezone it to Industrial General category.  

Now, my question is do you accept that the Christchurch Replacement 

District Plan has concluded that a local road is only meant for access 40 

purposes and not for through roads for motor vehicles? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, sir, I confirm that but just to clarify in your question there, 

I believe the rezoning sought is Industrial Park not Industrial General. 

 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   It is Industrial General.  Let me clarify as per the 

document it is Industrial General. 

 

MR MILNE:   Okay. 

 5 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Okay.  The second question is would you agree that 

an industrial rezoning on area 3 east would turn Hawthornden Road, 

which is a local road, into a through road for vehicles?  

 

MR MILNE:   It would form an access route, yes. 10 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, access. 

 15 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Now, I have got a few questions about 

the measurements you have cited in your evidence.  Now, you have 

stated that Merrin Street has a 20 metre wide road corridor. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 20 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Are you aware that a significant, a very significant 

stretch of Merrin Street are only 10 metres wide? 

 

MR MILNE:   I was referring to the section of Merrin Street between Withells 25 

Road and Hawthornden Road. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, that is the area which is 10 to 11 and 11.4 

metres, because we live there we measured it and I am coming with 

that measurement. 30 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, well, 20 metres is the road corridor through there in 

accordance with Council records. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Do you know between Avonhead Road 35 

and Withells Road Merrin Street is between 8.9 metres and the widest 

part is 14.4 metres? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor Bagchi, is this repeating the earlier question? 

 40 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir, this is a second question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, put it again, are you aware – you 

understand the question? 

 45 

MR MILNE:   Oh, sorry, can you repeat the question? 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sure.  Are you aware that between Avonhead Road 

and Withells Road Merrin Street is between 8.9 metres at the lowest 

stretch width and highest is at 14.4 metres? 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, professor, before the question is answered, are you 

working off a measurement of the tar seal or are you working off a 

measurement of the road reserve, which one are you doing? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, this is to cover what he had mentioned in his 10 

evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so you are referring to the witness to evidence 

where it is stated? 

 15 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, are you aware of that, Mr Milne? 

 

MR MILNE:   No, I do make comment on Merrin Street between Avonhead 20 

Road and Withells Road. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir, I am citing the evidence.  You have 

stated that there are no high trip attractors such as schools or shops 

along the relevant section of Merrin Street? 25 

 

MR MILNE:   That is correct and that is between Withells Road and 

Hawthornden Road. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Now, do you know that Avonhead Mall is right at 30 

the corner of that stretch and the intersection of Merrin and Withells? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, which is beyond that section of road, yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you, sir.  Are you aware that Merrin 35 

School and Kidsfirst Kindergarten are just a few hundred metres along 

Merrin Street and Hawthornden Road of the proposed site? 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 40 

MR MILNE:   I am aware that there is a school on Merrin Street to the east of 

Withells Road and I am also aware that there is a kindergarten to the 

south of the Merrin Street accessed from Hawthornden Road. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Now I am coming to another issue.  45 

There are 600 vehicles per hour in each direction, that you have 
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mentioned.  You have stated that Hawthornden Road has a carrying 

capacity of 600 vehicles per hour in each direction, taking parking into 

consideration? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   You have cited OST (ph 0.51) roads, part 3, table 

5.1 as the source for this figure, is that correct? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 10 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   This is the document that you have referred to, isn’t 

that so? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 15 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Sir, we have provided the photocopy of 

the table, what I am referring to here, to the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are referring to another document, aren’t you, which 20 

is the RTA guide, section 7? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, there is one more with - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, Professor, okay.  I do not know what you are 25 

referring to.  You will have to take me through what you are referring 

to. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I’m trying to guess what you what you are referring to.  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I have got a document in front of me which the Secretariat 35 

gave me which I understood that you may want to produce, but you had 

better take me through what you want to do.  You are in control of this 

questioning, not me. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you.  Are you aware that the table you 40 

cited provides the figure not for local roads but for curb lanes in each 

direction in a multilane urban arterial road?  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you referring to a statement in the document that says 

that? 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, could you take the witness to that statement so that 

he can answer that question, please? 

 5 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, I will. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And does the witness have a copy of this in front of him? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Milne, have you got a copy of this? 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, then - - - 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, see, this was in his evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor Bagchi, at this stage I am in the dark on what 20 

you are referring to. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So are you referring to a statement in his evidence? 25 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Go to the statement in his evidence and find the page and 

paragraph reference so that we can all know what you are referring to.  30 

Can you go to that now? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes.  Sir, it is there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, thank you.  I will call you if I need to.  So which 35 

paragraph and page reference are you referring to from the witness’s 

evidence? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir.  This is 3.5 B. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So 3.5 of the witness’s evidence-in-chief? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   B. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Evidence-in-chief? 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir.  No, this is the rebuttal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The rebuttal statement? 

 

MR MILNE:   Of 1 October? 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   On 1 October. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I have 3.5.  I have got 3.5, page 5, I see.  We have got a 

second statement.  And in 3.5, Professor – it starts with your name – 10 

and where in the paragraph are you referring? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   B. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   B?  All right. 15 

 

MR MILNE:   There is a typo.  It should be – there are two A’s. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Read the footnote, sir. 

 20 

MR MILNE:   Footnote 4? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry – this is getting to be comical.  Are we referring to 25 

3.5 or 3.4 in the rebuttal statement? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, this is 3.5. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   3.5, all right, and you are in paragraph B and there are two 30 

paragraph A’s? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, actually by mistake it is printed twice – A, A – 

but actually it, sir, it should have been B. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, we will fix that next.  So we will call the second A 

B, and the first B, we will call that a C.  And you are in the renumbered 

paragraph B ? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are at the footnote, are you? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now ask the question. 



 Page 94 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir.  The question, sir, I am repeating it 

again? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just ask it again. 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes.  Are you aware that the table you cited 

provides this figure not for local roads but for curb lanes in each 

direction in a multilane urban arterial road? 

 10 

MR MILNE:   I have not got a copy of that table. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  The next thing is – I started with before – there 

is no point in putting a question like this unless the document is in front 

of everybody, otherwise no one will follow what you are referring to. 15 

 

 So when you say “are you aware” – what you have just put to the 

witness – why are you aware of it?  Because you have read it in the 

document?   

 20 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so what page of the document are you on? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, this is 57 of the - - - 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which the witness does not have a copy of. 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 30 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, we have submitted and the Secretariat said in 

the morning for circulation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, so is that 7.3?  Okay, so the next thing is just so that 

- - - 35 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   5.2, sir.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So just to assist counsel at this point, Mr 

Winchester, I have got a copy of a document headed “Section 7 – 40 

Residential Subdivisions, Traffic and Safety”, which was provided 

through the Secretariat this morning and I understand you have got a 

copy of it as well? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I am not sure that we have got the same documents, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, right.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   This is four or five pages – no, there are – it is all joined 

together, so it is possibly the same document. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so just that we are all on the page – thank you, Mr 10 

Winchester – Professor Bagchi, I have got an extract of a document 

handed to the Secretariat this morning from you? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I want to make sure we are all on the same document and 

the witness has got a copy of this. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, the document, the title is “Guide to Traffic 

Management – Part 3:  Traffic Studies and Analysis”. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So this extract is of the OST (ph 1.32) roads 

2009 document, page 57? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it is the third page in of the composite document? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And does the witness have a copy? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now you can put the question. 35 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Do you think that there is a difference between curb 

lanes and arterial roads and local roads? 

 

MR MILNE:   Not really, because this is referring to the road width regardless 40 

of whether it be local, residential or arterial.  This table is looking at 

how much traffic can a lane take in an hour, regardless of its 

classification. 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you.  Now I am coming to peak-hour 

traffic.  You have said that Area 3 east would add a maximum 20 

vehicles per hour to peak-hour traffic on Hawthornden Road.   

 

 Does this not contradict the QTP appendix to your own evidence, 5 

which says that Area 3 east will attract 84 vehicles per hour during 

peak hours? 

 

MR MILNE:   Sorry, can you take me to that part of the - - - 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you referring to the next page of this document, 

headed “QTP”, page 7? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir.  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and are you referring to the yellow highlighted 

text in the middle of the table? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just wait for the witness to get there.  I am not 

sure if it is coloured yellow in your copy, Mr Milne. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, I have got a copy here, yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So are you in the box in the middle, under 3.5.1? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Correct, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So do you understand the question? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well, please answer. 

 

MR MILNE:   This relates not necessarily to Hawthornden Road.  I see here in 

this table peak hour trips of 84.  So that would be distributed along 

Hawthornden Road and Merrin Street. 40 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, that is the document for plan change 84. 

 

MR MILNE:   For plan change 84? 

 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   You have attached it as an appendix to your 

evidence of - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor, this is going to get very confusing and if this 

does not stop being confusing I am going to get you to sit down.  At 5 

this point, what part of – no, you can stand up now.  But what part of 

the witness’s evidence are you taking him to when you said “you 

referred to”?  Where in his evidence are you asking that question? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Exactly in his evidence, sir.  10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So help the witness by telling the witness where he is 

referring to that in his evidence, as I think you said. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes.  Sir, this is the document, page 7 of 25 of the 15 

QTP. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, so you are referring to his appendix, the QTP 

document? 

 20 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And his page 7? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes.  The QTP, page 7 of 25.  25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Just pause a minute a longer.  Attached to his 

evidence is a memorandum headed “QTP – From Mike Calvert to Tim 

Wright”.  Is that the one you are referring to? 

 30 

 You ought to have yourself organised on these questions, Professor.  I 

am just trying to help you. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   In fact, I have got the page only with me, but 

definitely, sir, you are on the right page. 35 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well then you go to his page of his evidence and tell him - 

- -  40 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   It is there. 

 

MS……….:   (INDISTINCT 0.14) evidence, QTP. 

 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Appendix from Mr Milne’s evidence, sir, QTP, page 

7. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Professor Milne has attached to his evidence – sorry – 

Mr Milne has attached an appendix A to his evidence - - -  5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - which is a report that he attaches to his evidence - - -  

 10 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - it is not necessarily his evidence, but it is a report? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, report, that is right. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if we go to page 7 of that document - - -  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and it has got two diagrams, figure 4.5 and figure 4.6 

in the middle of the page, has it? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir, not that. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well then it is not the same one as in - - -  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   It is the three generation summary. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is attached to his evidence-in-chief, you got another QTP 30 

attachment to one of his other evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So you are referring to his evidence-in-chief, not 

his rebuttal? 

 35 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Not, sir, rebuttal this is - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   - - - evidence-in-chief. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And there is another QTP report - just to make life more 

interesting – and if we go to page 7 of that - - -  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   (INDISTINCT 1.42) 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I just say one thing about this process, Professor, it 

would help everyone if you use the evidence that is on file when you 

are asking questions, not reproduce it in another document which you 

give everyone which turns out to be the same page. 

 5 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have just wasted five minutes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I will in future. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we will go to the evidence in page 7 of his evidence-

in-chief and his attachment QTP - - -  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and please ask the question again, now that we are all 

on the same page. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   The question was, that you said that at a maximum 20 

of 20 vehicles per hour to peak hour traffic on Hawthornden Road and 

my question was, does this not contradict the QTP, appendix to your 

own evidence which says that, “Area 3 East will attract 84 vehicles per 

hour during peak hours”? 

 25 

MR MILNE:   No. In my evidence I refer to the impact of the rezoning in two 

places, one is Hawthornden Road to the north of the site and the other 

is Merrin Street. I take those figures from the QTP report in terms of 

the peak hour trip generation from the actual model values. 

 30 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir. 

 

MR MILNE:   So what we have in the report is 200 vehicles per day impacting 

on Hawthornden Road to the north of the site, which is equivalent to 

10% of the daily traffic which would be 20 vehicles per hour. 35 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. And does this figure of 1500 vehicles 

per day from Area 3 East include the existing flow of Hawthornden 

Road, or only the flow anticipated from the industrial development? 

 40 

MR MILNE:   Can you repeat that question for me please? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Does the figure of 1500 vehicles per day from Area 

3 include the existing flow on Hawthornden Road or only the flow 

anticipated from the industrial development 45 
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MR MILNE:   No, it does not, that 1500 per day represents recorded 1300 per 

day now plus 200 per day associated with rezoning, to give us a total of 

1500 per day on Hawthornden Road. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you. Sir, could I cite the next one as the 5 

arterial guide which is in front of you, sir, and is also in front of you? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is the first page? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   You have cited the arterial guide to say that the 

typical threshold for amenity in residential street is 2,000 vehicles per 15 

day, is that correct? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, that is a general figure, yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. And are you aware that the RP also says that 20 

the flow of traffic passing 85% of household should not exceed 1500 

vehicle per day and in fact the threshold could be as low as 1,000 

vehicles per day for a local street like Hawthornden Road? 

 

  [2.15 pm] 25 

 

MR MILNE:   I think it is referring to that in terms of the context of how much 

traffic is currently on the road at that time. So for instance, an increase 

of 400 vehicles per hour on a road that only currently takes 20 a day 

will be a noticeable impact, but that impact will be somewhat diluted if 30 

the existing flows are of a higher order. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you. Now do you agree that an 

industrial general zone is associated with more heavy vehicles than an 

industrial park zone? 35 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. Are you aware of studies that have 

shown that 23-40% of vehicles from industrial parks are trucks – I am 40 

referring here to Mr Ian Clark’s recirculated evidence? 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. Mr Clark quotes from sort of James Wattie Drive that is a 

heavy industrial zone, so you would expect a far greater proportion of 

heavies from that industrial heavy zone. 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you. Now according to our calculation, 

this indicates between 345-600 trucks per day on Hawthornden Road, 

Merrin Street and Avonhead Road, does it not? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well - - -  5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I mean – sorry, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you asking the witness a question whether your 

calculations right or not? 10 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I am asking a question, sir, using your own figure of 

1500 vehicle per day as a traffic generated, that was the basis of our 

calculation, do you agree with that? 

 15 

MR MILNE:   No, it is not a generator of 1500 a day - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is 1300 plus 200. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, 1300 plus 200, sir, it goes as a 1500. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was that your answer earlier, Mr Milne, that you were 

saying that the 1500 comprised 1300 plus 200? 

 

MR MILNE:   Correct, yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   200 had been assigned to the rezoning. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So on the basis that 200 is assigned to the rezoning, can 

you put your question again please? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   So that I have to again calculate less, let’s save the 

question, we will put it in our, sir, highlighting evidence. 35 

 

 Now this means that these heavy vehicles, whatever the numbers, 

would also travel past Merrin School and negotiate the Merrin 

Street/Withells Road roundabout, does it not? 

 40 

MR MILNE:   Well some truck movements may decide to do that, but in my 

evidence what I have said is, they will probably more likely go to the 

strategic arterial road of Memorial Avenue and then onto the State 

Highway. 

 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   But they will have to past through the Merrin Street, 

isn’t it so, otherwise they cannot reach Memorial Avenue? 

 

MR MILNE:   No, they do not need to go past Merrin Street to reach Memorial 

Avenue. 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Then which road – would you tell us that which road 

they will take to reach Memorial Avenue? 

 

MR MILNE:   They go up Hawthornden Road onto Avonhead Road, now they 10 

got choice, they may either go up Roydvale Avenue or if the MAIL site 

is accepted and thorough roads are established through that site, they 

may well choose to go through the MAIL site in order to get to 

Memorial Ave. 

 15 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir, thank you. Only a few more questions, 

Mr Milne, an estimate from MAIL Development was what we have 

heard, that more than 6,000 vehicles per day will use Avonhead Road 

and much of this traffic will use local roads like Hawthornden Road, 

now have you taken into account this figure for your estimate of the 20 

impact of Area 3 East on the local road and intersections? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Professor, which evidence from the MAIL hearing 

are you referring to for that question, which statement of evidence, Mr 

Clark’s? 25 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Mr Clark’s, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 30 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Mr Clark and Mr Tony Penny. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are referring to both Mr Clark and Mr Tony 

Penny? 

 35 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, they have agreed to a figure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So let’s put the question again, the witness may 

have an answer - do you have an understanding of the question, Mr 

Milne? 40 

 

MR MILNE:   I think I do, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well please answer it. 

 45 
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MR MILNE:   Look, traffic from the MAIL site there seems to be no benefit in 

traffic from the MAIL site routeing (ph 04.20) down Hawthornden 

Road and Merrin Street. I can see it accessing Avonhead Road which is 

a higher order road, but I cannot see any benefit in MAIL traffic using 

the lower order Hawthornden and Merrin Street. 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir, thank you. And just the last questions, 

about the impact, do you still believe that the impact of the Area 3 East 

rezoning on the surrounding roads would be minor? 

 10 

MR MILNE:   I think – yes, I believe that is 20 vehicles during the peak period 

and 40 vehicles I believe on the Merrin Street which – well when you 

take the percentage of heavies associated with that it is no more than 

one to three heavies per hour, which is no more than a typical bus 

service along those routes. 15 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:  Right, thank you. Have you considered the 

possibility of on-street parking on Hawthornden Road, Westgrove, 20 

Merrin Street, Avonhead Road as a result of the industrial development 

on area 3 east? 

 

MR MILNE:   No, I would have anticipated there would have been sufficient 

on-site parking in accordance with the District Plan requirements. 25 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   And I believe you were aware that when there are 

parked vehicles on either side of Hawthornden Road or Avonhead 

Road, cars moving in opposite direction cannot pass each other, even at 

a 50km/h speed. 30 

 

MR MILNE:   Hawthornden Road is eight metres in width from the kerb to the 

end of the actual made road.  I would anticipate that there is enough 

room for vehicles to pass, even with two parked cars on either side.  It 

would be tight, it would be slow moving vehicles but I believe they can 35 

do that. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:  Right, thank you.  Do you still stand by your 

evidence supporting rezoning the submitter 2183 in light of all these 

facts we have discussed? 40 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir, no more questions, sir. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Professor.  Ms Dawson? 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Milne.  Just following on from one comment 

that you made in I think response to the Professor’s questions.  You 

seemed to not be clear whether it was the Industrial General zone that 

was sought or Industrial Park zone. 5 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I was just looking at Ms Harte’s evidence where she confirms 

Industrial General.  Has your modelling assumed an Industrial Park 10 

zone rather than Industrial General? 

 

MR MILNE:   It uses a generic Industrial zone trip rate.  Having said that, 

Industrial General has the potential to have a higher proportion of 

heavy vehicles than Industrial Park.  But the scale of the site itself, of 15 

four hectares, the likelihood is that it will be a smaller type of industrial 

activity, probably one which does not include warehousing or freight 

type business. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So would it make much of a material difference to your 20 

conclusions if it was Industrial General versus Industrial Park? 

 

MR MILNE:   No, it would not, no. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So when you say a four hectare site, in the exchange that you 25 

have had with the Avonhead Community group and in your evidence, 

are you just concentrating on that site at 76 Hawthornden Road? 

 

MR MILNE:   Well the modelling takes into account the effects of MAIL as 

well. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   So when you say, it’s only a four hectare site, what site are 

you talking about there? 

 

MR MILNE:   Sorry that is 76 Hawthornden Road, yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and based on the assumption that there is no through 

road that would connect properties in the Russley side of that area 

through to Hawthornden Road. 

 40 

MR MILNE:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, thank you.  You were also asked by Mr Allen about the 

process to be gone through for the Better Business case, and where that 

is at now and how many steps there would be to go through before any 45 

funding was confirmed and any improvement works were actually 
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done.  What weight do you think the Panel should put on the Better 

Business case as potential mitigation for, in this case I think it was the 

Wairakei Road area that you were talking about. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, yes.  I acknowledge there is a risk in relying upon that to 5 

solve all the traffic issues to the west.  I believe though that it will be an 

effective tool in addressing the effects on that strategic road network, 

particularly the state highway.  To a lesser extent with its ability to 

address local and parks, it may have a lesser effectiveness. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   But in terms of whether we can be sure that it would happen 

or not, or whether the works would actually occur, um, if needed to 

address even the state highway mitigation, what weight do you think 

we should put on the likelihood that that work would occur and the 

mitigation actually be achieved? 15 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

MR MILNE:   Well it is the approach of the funding arm to use these business 

case approach.  Time will tell whether they are still seen as an effective 20 

tool as we go forward.  We know there are capacity issues on state 

highway.  We know that we have got a major strategic asset in the 

airport that requires free access to and from it, so I think there is a 

strong possibility, given the proximity of this strategic asset, that this 

Better Business case will provide measures to ensure that this strategic 25 

asset is protected. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right.  If you could turn to 6.8 of your evidence-in-chief.  I 

am just exploring something that you have said about the New 

Brighton centre.  You were referring in this paragraph to the requests 30 

that have been made to retain the Commercial zoning around the edge 

of the proposed New Brighton centre rather than change the zoning to 

Residential, and on page 8 at the end of that paragraph you talk about 

the fact that you consider that that may undermine what the master plan 

is seeking to achieve and that you opposed those requests.   35 

 

 Can you explain what you mean in more detail there and then tell me 

how what you’re saying compares with what you understand 

Mr Stevenson to be saying in terms of his recommendations about 

these rezonings, if you are aware of this. 40 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, from my understanding the New Brighton Master Plan had 

gone out to consultation and had received those consultations and had 

developed this master plan for the town centre which included a much 

more compact commercial core. And simply from a transport 45 

perspective I see the advantages of a more compact core in terms of 
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linking trips together, potentially linking trips on foot, whereas if you 

start to disperse from that then the benefits of that proximity dilutes to 

some extent.  Not to a major extent in this instance though. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Not to a major extent? 5 

 

MR MILNE:   No, no. 

 

MR DAWSON:  No. And are you familiar with those sites where 

Mr Stevenson has recommended that some changes be made? 10 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, I have, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And do you see those sites resulting in the problems that you 

outline in this paragraph here? 15 

 

MR MILNE:  No, I mean there will be a dilution of the benefits of the compact 

commercial but other than that no real transport concerns. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So not a substantive concern that you could raise here? 20 

 

MR MILNE:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  In 7.4A, the second of your 7.4s on page 20 of 

your evidence-in-chief, I was wanting to know where this was but it 25 

appears to be the site that you discussed with Ms Crawford. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so this is the Castle Rock, Port Hills site. 30 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes/ 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, sorry I, yes.  That’s fine, I now understand and you have 

discussed that further already so no further questions from me, thank 35 

you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Yes, thank you, no questions?  All right.  I 

have just got one, I think I have just got one question of you, Mr Milne.  

Do you have a copy of the rebuttal statement of Mr Carr with you?  

The 1st of October statement?  Because I wanted to take you to 45 

annexure A, I didn’t warn the Secretariat but I wonder if that could 
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possibly be brought up.  It’s the 1 October rebuttal statement of 

Mr Andrew Carr in annexure A. 

 

MR MILNE:   I’m just trying to find that. 

 5 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it is on the screen there anyway and it may be 

enough. 

 10 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I understand from reading the evidence that at this 

stage it is fair to probably say, isn’t it, that it is not yet determined 

finally who the road controlling authority will be between the Transport 15 

Agency and the Council for that section of the loop road illustrated in 

the vicinity of the proposed access? 

 

MR MILNE:   That is correct, yes, we are still in a draft stage of design and 

therefore there is still negotiation between the extent of ownership 20 

between the City Council and NZTA. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in terms of the nature of the road, are you familiar 

with the limited access road regime that applies both under the Local 

Government Act and under the Government Roading Powers Act? 25 

 

MR MILNE:   I am aware of it to the extent that a limited access road gives 

greater powers to the road controlling authority particularly to not 

establish access onto that particular part of road. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, in terms of the way this piece of loop road would 

function in regard to the state highway adjacent, is it your 

understanding, it may be in your evidence already, that this would be a 

limited access road? 

 35 

MR MILNE:   Well, I can’t say for sure but it is part of the expressway leading 

onto the state highway so I would imagine NZTA would wish to have 

some control over access. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What about the Council, the Council has its own 40 

functions, doesn’t it, under the Local Government Act in terms of 

determining whether a section of local road is limited access road, are 

you familiar with that? 

 

MR MILNE:   I am not familiar with that. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  It might be a matter that I will take up later.  Thank 

you very much, I don’t have any further questions.  Now, 

Professor Bagchi, any questions arising? 

 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY PROFESSOR BAGCHI [2.32 pm] 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, one question from Ms Dawson’s questions that, 

Mr Milne, you clarified in response to her question that it is Industrial 

General and you said 200 vehicles per day generated by 

76 Hawthornden Road, how does this fit with the QTP figure of 84 10 

vehicles per hour? 

 

MR MILNE:   Okay.  The 84 vehicles per hour is the total trips out of the 

access.  Once out of the access the traffic has a choice to either route 

along Hawthornden Road or Merrin Street and so that 84 is the total 15 

coming out of the access.   

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Coming from that, sir, one more, sir, just a 

clarification coming from that, the access is only from Hawthornden 

Road so how can the vehicle reach direct to Merrin Street? 20 

 

MR MILNE:   It travels south on Hawthornden Road and then access Merrin 

Street. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, professor.  Ms Crawford, any 

questions arising? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   No, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any re-examination, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, thanks very much, Mr Milne, you are free 

to go.  All right, so Mr Stevenson I think. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.33 pm] 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   I call Mr Stevenson, sir. 
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<MARK DAVID STEVENSON, affirmed [2.34 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.34 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   You confirm your full name is Mark David Stevenson? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have the qualifications and experience set out 

in previous evidence that you have presented to the Panel? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right. 10 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you have prepared two statements of evidence, 

Mr Stevenson, being your evidence-in-chief dated 2 September 2015 15 

and a rebuttal and supplementary statement dated 24 September 2015? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any additions or amendments to either of 20 

those statements? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I do, I have a number.  I will begin, paragraph 16.5 of my 

evidence-in-chief, the last sentence of that paragraph reads, “This is 

discussed further below” and I wish to delete that text as there is no 25 

further discussion after that. 

 

 Paragraph 15.13 of my evidence-in-chief, it has an error in the first line 

and should state “paragraph 15.8”. 

 30 

 Thirdly, paragraph 15.18 of my evidence-in-chief, it cross-references to 

paragraph 14.8 and that cross-reference should be to 15.8.  

 

 The fourth correction is paragraph 17.2 of my evidence-in-chief.  It 

refers to a decision of the Regional Council on 26 August which should 35 

be 27 August. 

 

 The next paragraph is paragraph 12.20, I wish to delete the last 

sentence that begins “On the basis of objectives in the commercial 

proposal…” and the text thereafter and replace it with the words “On 40 

balance I support Commercial zoning of the subject land based on 

historic use of that land, the existing environments and its anticipated 

use”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you do that more slowly, “On balance I support 45 

Commercial zoning of the subject land...”? 
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MR STEVENSON:   Sorry, “…based on historic use of the land, the existing 

environment and its anticipated use”. 

 

 Paragraph 1.2, I wish to add a new sentence of my evidence-in-chief. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that 8.2? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Sorry, paragraph 1.2. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MR STEVENSON:   I wish to add two sentences which read “I also led the 

preparation of a report on the northwest review area in 2011 and 2012 

an outcome of which was the identification - - - 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   An outcome of which? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   - - - was the identification of three areas for rezoning into 

business.” 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Three areas of rezoning into business. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Full stop.  New sentence, “This includes land north of 

Wairakei Road that Council proposes - - - 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Council proposes. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   - - - the rezoning of and two other areas, one being the 

subject of submissions 2278 and 2183 and the other being the subject 30 

of submission 2840”.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What was that number again? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   The last one was 2840. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MR STEVENSON:   Two more additions.  The end of paragraph 1.4 I wish to 

add “The Council has agreed to me giving expert evidence on its behalf 40 

in accordance with my duties under the Code of Conduct”. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

 Then lastly, in addition to paragraph 6.3 of my rebuttal, which would 45 

read, “however, it is accepted that a rule could be introduced limiting 
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development until the required wastewater upgrades are completed to 

provide capacity (subject to further modelling)”. 

 

MS HURIA:   Sorry, Mr Stevenson, could you start that sentence from 

“however”? 5 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, sure.  “However, it is accepted that a rule could be 

introduced limiting development until the required wastewater 

upgrades are completed to provide capacity (subject to further 

modelling).” 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, Mr Stevenson.  Subject to those additions 

and amendments, do you confirm that to the best of your knowledge 

and belief your evidence is true and correct? 

 15 

MR STEVENSON:   I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now you have a highlights package and 

also, I understand, as part of that you would like to produce a suggested 

plan provision, and I will ask you to do that at the relevant time. 20 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I will circulate the exhibit at the end, when I speak about 

it.  The Council’s Stage 2 proposal builds on the Stage 1 proposals.   

 

 The key issues raised in the submissions on the proposed zoning of 25 

greenfield areas for industrial use include the ability to manage effects, 

so at the interface with adjoining zones and residential properties, and 

secondly how an integrated approach is taken to land use and 

infrastructure where there is multiple ownership. 

 30 

 In respect of the latter, how stormwater is managed across the 

greenfield area north of Wairakei Road has required further discussions 

with submitters, which I will come on to. 

 

 In respect to changes to the zoning of the commercial area at New 35 

Brighton, agreement has been reached with all submitters bar one.  The 

proposed reduction in the height limit at New Brighton, however, 

remains a matter outstanding and in dispute. 

 

 Submissions have also been received seeking the zoning of additional 40 

areas which are outside the urban area and Greenfield Priority Areas, 

which I recommend are rejected on the basis of policy direction and 

policy 6.3.1, clause 4, of Chapter 6 to the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement. 

 45 
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 Notwithstanding this, the merits of the requests have been considered 

in my evidence and that of experts.  There are some areas where I 

would consider a change to Commercial or Industrial is appropriate, 

but not under the current framework. 

 5 

 Just taking a step away from my evidence, I wish to comment on an 

issue raised in the MAIL hearing regarding provision for 5,000 square 

metres of office floor space in each of the Industrial Park Zones.   

 

 By way of background, and I will be brief, the Council proposal in 10 

Stage 1 made provision for 5,000 square metres of office floor space at 

the Tait campus to recognise the development planned and 

subsequently built by Tait for a technology park environment where 

office floor space is an integral part of the space they occupy, and other 

companies may do so in the future. 15 

 

 The provision made in Stage 1 at the Industrial Park Zone (Awatea) 

was to provide a consistent approach across the two Industrial Park 

Zones.   

 20 

 The notified Stage 2 proposal did not make provision for 5,000 square 

metres in the two new Industrial Park Zones proposed, being the MAIL 

site and land north of Wairakei Road, the latter being the subject of this 

hearing.  This was an oversight at the time. 

 25 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

 I am not seeking to change or revisit the Council position taken in 

respect to Stage 1 as far as Tait and Awatea goes, or MAIL.   

 30 

 However, I am concerned that provision for 5,000 square metres in the 

Industrial Park Zone (Wairakei Road) together with the other locations 

has a cumulative effect of diluting the level of demand for space in the 

central city and suburban centres, with potential for further requests in 

the future that seek the same quantum. 35 

 

 I have not addressed this in evidence for the hearing, mainly because 

there were not submissions seeking provision for 5,000 square metres 

on the land north of Wairakei Road, but I consider it inappropriate to 

provide for 5,000 square metres of office floor space in that Wairakei 40 

Road area and other Industrial Park Zones going forward, based on the 

risk that this presents to the strategy of directing new commercial 

activity to centres. 
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 Turning to an issue I touched on at the start regarding stormwater 

management in the greenfield area north of Wairakei Road, paragraph 

4.17 - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Winchester, just on that particular statement just made, 5 

it troubles me again, procedurally, that a statement is volunteered on 

this matter in this way. 

 

 I am not aware of reading it.  I may have read in the evidence that it 

was tendered. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, no, it hasn’t been, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it has not been tendered at the request of the Panel. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Understood, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I just express a caution about that approach, because 

it can create a procedural problem for the Panel to have to deal with 

consideration of evidence of that kind, which may or may not be 20 

prejudicial to the interests of submitters that have not had a chance to 

hear it? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I understand that, sir.  As I indicated before I gave my 

legal submissions, I was intending to ask Ms Whyte about the 25 

evidence, about that issue in particular. 

  

JUDGE HASSAN:   The Panel has heard arguments and evidence on this topic 

already in the MAIL hearing. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am not proposing to ask the Council to supplement its 

position on evidence on these matters in this hearing, so perhaps if you 

wouldn’t mind managing your witness on a different basis, please. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Certainly, sir.  I will take that on board. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The evidence is on the record.  I am not sure what the 

Panel can do with it. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Perhaps it is best to add it for submission and me asking 

questions of other witnesses about the issue, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   We have already a couple of occasions where we have 

dealt with the difficulty where submitters have elected to brief evidence 

and call evidence beyond a theory of their submission.   

 

 I appreciate the Council is in a slightly different position in that it is 5 

actually bringing forward a plan for which it has statutory 

responsibility in an ongoing way, but I think as a rule of thumb the 

preferred approach would be, if the Panel considers it needs more 

information on certain matters, it can make direction and ask for it, 

rather than to have it volunteered without request, beyond the theory of 10 

the submissions that have been presented by all parties, including the 

Council. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On this matter that is all I will say.  Perhaps the witness 

can continue to present the summary of his evidence as opposed to 

offering new evidence like that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  I take responsibility for that.  That was 20 

my call as to whether that evidence was appropriate, so it should not be 

visited on the witness.  I will take responsibility for that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is just that I am trying to make sure that we abide due 

process in an enquiry which involves submitters that come along for 25 

particular days, submitters trying to keep a handle on how the process 

is developing, and we need to make sure we are fair and are seen to be 

fair to all interests in this process, bearing in mind what the Council has 

notified. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I understand that, sir.  I had apprehended it was a 

live issue.  I take on board exactly Your Honour’s comments in terms 

of the evidence you have heard about that matter, and that is probably 

as far is it needs to go.  But I apologise for that. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Mr Stevenson, if you could conclude your 

summary now, thank you. 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 40 

MR STEVENSON:   Thank you, sir, certainly. 

 

 Turning to an issue I touched on at the start, regarding stormwater 

management and the greenfield area north of Wairakei Road, paragraph 

4.17 of my rebuttal, indicates that discussions were to continue with the 45 
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landowner of 75 Stanleys Road and other properties and since that 

rebuttal evidence was filed I have met with that landowner and others. 

 

 The owners of 79 Stanleys Road do not have an interest in development 

or subdivision and are concerned about the proposed identification of 5 

part of their property for stormwater facilities. Their concern expressed 

to me was limitations that it has on future options as well as future use 

of the land being unnecessarily complicated by the ODP. 

 

 Inevitably there are issues arising where a greenfield area has multiple 10 

ownership and I accept that an outcome where all parties agree would 

be ideal. However, it has not been achieved in this context and the 

landowners’ concerns remain outstanding. 

 

 Stormwater needs to be managed in an integrated manner while 15 

providing flexibility for development in one part of the ODP 

proceeding ahead of another. This is proposed by identification of 

stormwater facilities on both the block east of Stanleys Road and the 

block west of Stanleys Road – that is described as Option B in my 

rebuttal evidence. 20 

 

 In respect of land sought for rezoning in submission 2.278, my 

recommendation to reject the submission stands – that is the land 

fronting Russley Road west of Hawthornden Road. 

 25 

 From review of Ms Harte’s rebuttal statement and having heard other 

Council witnesses, I remain of the position taken in rebuttal evidence. 

While an ODP for the land supports a planned approach to the land in 

question, it does not demonstrate how integration is achieved with the 

surrounding area and giving effect to policy 6.3.3 of chapter 6 to the 30 

RPS. 

 

 One point of detail missing for instance is areas for stormwater 

management.  

 35 

 There remain outstanding issues with respect to the zoning of this land 

although as alluded to earlier there is now an opportunity to manage 

wastewater discharge by rule until such time that capacity is available 

subject to modelling. 

 40 

 In terms of access to the land I rely on the evidence of experts and 

understand this remains outstanding, including the question of how 

land is accessed safely and efficiently. 

 

 Finally, I have identified in omission in the suite of rules for the 45 

industrial park zone north of Wairakei Road, there is an Outline 
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Development Plan in the notified proposal but there is no rule requiring 

compliance with the ODP in respect of the location of stormwater 

facilities and I have therefore proposed the addition of two rules and 

matters of discretion as an exhibit but should emphasise that this 

obviously has not been seen by other parties and this issue of fairness 5 

in presenting this now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well perhaps the way to do that may be for us to receive it 

in as an exhibit but on the basis that other parties who wish to recall 

you and ask you questions on it would do so, do you agree with that, 10 

Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely, sir, and again the intention was to assist the 

Panel on - - -  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I understand this is a matter of a gap fill as opposed 

to - - -  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is, sir, it is not fresh evidence, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - a revisiting of what we have heard before. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So if you would produce that, please. Registrar – I think 

that is - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So this would be the first exhibit in I think - - -  30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I believe so, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Call this Exhibit A, Proposed Additional Rules for ODP 

and Stormwater Facility Wairakei North – thank you. 35 

 

EXHIBIT #A – PROPOSED ADDITIONAL RULES FOR ODP AND 

STORMWATER FACILITY WAIRAKEI NORTH 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, Mr Stevenson, please remain where you are 40 

and answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now I think we – yes, so we have just got two – 

I think, Ms Crawford, thank you. 

 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   Sir, and just in relation to the procedural point you raised 

earlier, sir, just for the record, you will be aware that my firm 

represents MAIL, I do not personally act for MAIL or have any 

(INDISTINCT 5.00) with that case, and I am unable to assist the 

Panel, as you are aware Mr Christensen is now on sabbatical in Africa 5 

for six weeks, so I just note that for the record – it maybe he needs to 

address you upon his return, but it is in the Panel’s hands how you wish 

to handle that. 

 

  [2.55 pm] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I mean I think the reality is, we would not have regard to 

this part of Mr Stevenson's opinion for the reasons I discuss with Mr 

Winchester, notwithstanding the fact that it is on transcript. 

 15 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in regard to any matters that involve the interests of 

other parties, were the Panel to consider it needed further assistance it 

would issue a minute and deal with it in a proper procedural way 20 

involving all parties with relevant interests. So I think you possibly 

could leave it on that basis. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In a mechanical sense I think you could probably also 

assume, as we indicated in the MAIL hearing, that in regard to matters 

of integration, it is important for us to look at these matters on an 

integrated basis and therefore obviously for a variety of reasons 

including that one the MAIL decision is unlikely to come out until this 30 

decision comes out. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [2.56 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thought that might be the case, thank you for clarifying 35 

that, sir. 

 

 Mr Stevenson, good afternoon. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Good afternoon. 40 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Just a few questions in relation to three submitters, BDF 

Trust, Castle Rock, Port Hills Road submission, 2169 and Foddercube 

Products Limited, and just before I start, you emphasise in your 

evidence that a number of requests seek rezoning of land located 45 
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outside the existing urban area shown on map A of chapter 6 of the 

RPS, is that right? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   And as I understand your highlights package, there are 

some instances where you recognise the merits of rezoning but for what 

you say is the higher order policy direction? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is correct, yes. 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So just firstly BDF Trust, you understand that to be a 

fairly small slither of land that has been caught up in the redrawing of 

the district boundaries between Selwyn and Christchurch? 

 15 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And do you accept Ms Oliver’s evidence in the residential 

chapter at page 57 that some form of urban zoning maybe appropriate? 

 20 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, and I would agree with that. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And but for map A, the preferred relief of industrial 

general zoning might be appropriate of this location? 

 25 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, I would agree with that. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. Castle Rock/Port Hills Road, you say in your 

evidence-in-chief at paragraph 18.38 that you have reviewed the 

evidence of Ms Oliver on the residential chapter, you recall writing 30 

that? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Did you read the transcript when I questioned Ms Oliver? 35 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I read parts of it, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Do you recall at page 159 of the transcript that Ms Oliver 

agreed that the site is generally well located for urban activities? 40 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, although from memory she expressed concern about 

some constraints to urban activities including coastal hazards. 
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MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, but that is a matter for stage 3, so in terms of land use 

on the ground/stage 2 matter, that was the opinion she expressed under 

questioning, you recall that? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   To the best of my memory and knowledge, yes. 5 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Okay. Thirdly, Foddercube, you would agree that that site 

represents a logical squaring off of and would provide consolidation of 

the industrial zone boundaries in that part of the city? 

 10 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, over the long term beyond the life of chapter 6 in its 

current form. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. That helpfully leads to my next line of 

questioning which is around chapter 6 in its current form, you say in 15 

your evidence that policy 6.3.1 is quite clear in stating that new urban 

activities are only to occur within existing urban or identified 

greenfield priority areas, is that the general theme of your evidence? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And although Council witnesses have considered the 

merits of site specific rezoning request, you effectively say that policy 

6.3.1 prevents you from formally recommending rezoning outside of a 

line. 25 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It does, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well is it not the case that the Council has expressly and 

publicly stated the view that there are some relatively minor changes to 30 

the existing urban boundary that are considered to have merit at a local 

level and would not in fact compromise any higher order policy 

direction. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Sorry, do you have a reference to where that has been 35 

stated? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, I do – I will just produce as an exhibit – it is two 

exhibits, sir, they will be exhibits B and C. 

 40 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we will have to have a look at them first before we 

put them in I think. 

 45 

MS CRAWFORD:   Of course, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Has this gone to other counsel, Mr Winchester have you 

seen it? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right well move it to Mr Winchester first please, no, 

no, to Mr Winchester first please. 

 

<EXHIBIT #B – LAND AVAILABILITY: LETTER FROM CCC 10 

DATED 29 MAY 2015  

 

<EXHIBIT #C – LETTER FROM CCC DATED 28 AUGUST 2015 

 

MS CRAWFORD:  As Mr Winchester looks at them, just for everyone’s 15 

benefit, these are City Council’s comments on the LURP review, dated 

May and August, there are two sets of comments.  They are a matter of 

public record. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there a confusion with the documents there? 20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   They have two different dates on page 1. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just - - - 

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   So the formatting is the same but they are two separate 

documents. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester’s seen both of those? 

 30 

……….:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps just ask the witness if he is familiar with them. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Mr Stevenson have you seen these letters before? 35 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I have certainly seen the latter dated 28 August.  I had a 

hand in drafting two of the paragraphs in respect of land of interest to 

another party. 

 40 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what about the – that is the 28 August, yes. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   The 29 May letter, I was certainly a part of the, I had a 45 

hand in preparing as well. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right so we will call those Exhibits B and C. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you sir, and just so I am clear, Exhibit B 

presumably 29 May - - -  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, yes, Exhibit B is 29 May, Exhibit C is the 28 August. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So Mr Stevenson, as I understand your comment, you 

have been involved in both of those comments produced by the City 10 

Council or just the latter? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Both of them but I should emphasise a part, I have not 

previously reviewed the full letter. 

 15 

MS CRAWFORD:   I appreciate that so perhaps if I just take you to that now, 

firstly Exhibit B.  Section 2.3, it is on the second page of the comment.  

The heading is Land Availability. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you will see in the second paragraph where it says – 

this is the Council’s stated view – “there is concern that the current 

RPS polities that provide for new residential development lack some 

flexibility” and further down it says, “in this direction you have been 25 

carried through under Strategic Direction objective 3.3.7”, you see that 

there? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 30 

MS CRAWFORD:   And then in the following sentences, it is stated, “there are 

some relatively minor changes to the existing urban boundary that are 

considered to have merit at the local level and do not compromise any 

higher level policy direction.  Do you see that? 

 35 

MR STEVENSON:   I do. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:  And helpfully the Council has also provided some 

suggested wording that could be part of the RPS that provides for 

criteria under which activity might be enabled outside the line. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Of course we cannot change the RPS. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   No sir but this Panel does have the ability to reflect on the 

Strategic Directions objectives as well as the criteria for rezoning as 45 

Ms Aston suggested in the Residential chapter. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right so there will be legal submissions on how we 

give effect to it, no doubt. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Do you see that there Mr Stevenson? 5 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I do, yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you recognise the merits of this approach, do you 

agree? 10 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes I recognise the merits of amendments to the RPS to 

provide that flexibility but my expert opinion is that I struggle with the 

minor changes that are described as being not compromising the higher 

level policy direction and where required to give effect to the RPS the 15 

RPS wording is black and white in my opinion and this raises issues of 

what a minor change is, and in my mind (INDISTINCT 4.51) relief 

would not be a minor change. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   What about BDF Trust? 20 

 

MR STEVENSON:   There is a question of what criteria is used to determine 

what a minor change is.  It is not necessarily just – land area is a factor, 

the extent to which it extends beyond the urban area is another factor I 

would consider, and arguably the BDF submission is seeking a finger 25 

of sorts that goes beyond that line and would compromise what is 

intended by that line, which is to provide a clear definition of where 

urban activities occur. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 30 

 

 So, yes, the BDF submission would not be a minor change.  The BDF 

submission would not give effect to the RPS.  I was not the author of 

this part of the letter so I cannot categorically say what was meant by 

“minor change” but I do not consider “minor change” is appropriate in 35 

the current context of the RPS and giving effect to it. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So as an expert planner giving evidence in this 

proceeding, you are saying even though sites for rezoning have merit, 

and there is no dispute they have merit on the ground, you feel the 40 

Council’s hands are tied? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I do.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is not the Council’s hands that make any difference at 45 

this point in time; it is our hands, is it not?  It is the Panel that is 
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charged with giving effect to the RPS, Ms Crawford, which was behind 

my earlier comment that no doubt we will get legal submissions on this 

matter. 

 

 This expert might have an expert opinion, which we may well value, 5 

and I think you are bringing that out for him, and he is giving evidence 

in his capacity as a Council officer so no doubt you can explore that if 

you want, but ultimately it is for us, not the Council. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, sir.  You raise a very good point, because ultimately 10 

it is a matter of legal interpretation, and Mr Nixon (ph 1.34) for BDF 

Trust prior to me being engaged, acknowledged that ultimately it does 

come down a matter for legal submissions.  Ultimately the Panel’s 

decision.  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   So there is a range of views specified by planners in this 

proceeding and I appreciate the Panel will need to weigh those up. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Just while we are on the exhibits, just on Exhibit C, which 

is the letter, or comment, that the City Council sent to Environment 

Canterbury, dated 28 August 2015, turn to what is page 3, under the 25 

broad heading of section 2, as a planner, Mr Stevenson, looking at the 

second paragraph – it starts with “section 3.3 addresses the draft 

recommendations”.  Do you see that? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It does, yes. 30 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you will note, some way down that paragraph, “the 

Council’s express view is that consideration should be given to some 

interim changes to the RPS which do not undermine the intention of the 

RPS”. 35 

 

 Would you agree as a planner that would be an appropriate thing to do? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I agree that some changes are required to the RPS to 

consider those areas that have merit for an urban zoning. 40 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Presumably you would also agree in the following 

paragraph that an appropriate course of action would be for the map to 

be made indicative only, to get around what you interpret as an 

inability to recognise otherwise meritorious rezoning (INDISTINCT 45 

3.12). 
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MR STEVENSON:   My understanding of the draft recommendation in the 

LURP is to make Map A in the LURP indicative and to rely for 

planners making recommendations and for any Commissioner or Panel 

making a decision to consider the RPS in making those decisions, as far 5 

as the definition of areas for urban activities is concerned. 

 

 In effect, it is removing the arguably duplication that the LURP 

currently adds to – an impediment to these changes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Crawford, I do not want to interrupt again, but you 

elicited an answer there on an opinion on a topic that we have no 

jurisdiction to deal with. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sir, I have previously provided legal submissions on that 15 

point of residential - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you can provide supplementary legal submissions on 

that to this Panel for these purposes.  Obviously that is your 

prerogative. 20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But this Panel cannot revisit the RPS or the LURP.  It 

only has the jurisdiction that the statutes direct us to, in the way those 25 

statutes direct us to those matters, give effect to the RPS, have 

particular regard to these other documents.  

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If they are not in a form which suits particular party 

interests, that is academic from our point of view. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well, sir, in my submission I will address you further on 

this, as part of this particular hearing.  This Panel has the ability to 35 

express a merits-based view, but for the higher order policy direction, 

which may provide an opportunity for conversations outside of this 

proceeding to take place.   

 

 Or alternatively, this Panel may take an interpretive view on what “give 40 

effect to” means, and Map A has not been subject to a section 32 

analysis. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   A sword may cut both ways.  If the theory of your 

questions is that the documents are inconvenient, that sword may cut 45 

both ways for your interests, because we have to give effect to them. 
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MS CRAWFORD:   That is not my submission that they are inconvenient sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   I mean I will address you in closing and I have nothing 

further for this witness. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 10 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Mr Cleary. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [3.10 pm] 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   I am just wondering yet again whether it might not be more 

appropriate for Professor Bagchi to precede me? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a minute.  Professor Bagchi is not on my list again 20 

this time. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Oh I thought he were. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, yes, you are right, he is.  My apologies Professor and 25 

Mr Cleary I have jumped the line.  Just a minute hang on, no I have not 

jumped the line at all.  You are mixing me up like anything today Mr 

Cleary.  Helping to some extent but most of the time it is a kerfuffle. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Deliberately confusing sir.  It is a well-known tactic of mine.  30 

Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, let us go then. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I will just go.  All right Exhibit C, Mr Stevenson, good 35 

afternoon. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Good afternoon. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And I will not dwell on this but third page, yes, okay, and you 40 

refer there and questions from my friend to you having contributed 

towards two paragraphs of Exhibit C and I suspect you might have 

been referring to the third from last paragraph and the penultimate 

paragraph on page three, that is correct? 

 45 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right, the second and third to last paragraphs. 
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MS DAWSON:   B or C? 

 

MR CLEARY:   C. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   C. 

 

MR CLEARY:   It is the 28 August document.  But I think the penultimate 

paragraph is the most relevant to our clients that is correct, and it starts 

with “in respect of area 3”. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 15 

MR CLEARY: And so that concludes that, and this is the Council’s 

recommendation only, and you contributed to that, that the deletion of 

area 3 in its entirety may not be appropriate and further detailed work is 

required. 

 20 

MR STEVENSON:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  So essentially, and this is the Council’s position and 

not your position, I am not going to ask you any questions on the merits 

of the Council’s position, but I understand it is still seeking deletion of 25 

the balance of area 3, other than our client’s land. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It is not explicit on that but it is implicit in that paragraph, 

yes. 

 30 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  All right.  The fact that that is Council’s position, I am 

going to ask your opinion.  Does that have any bearing, do you think, 

on the criticisms that our friend Mr Winchester has made, and indeed 

you have said yourself, about us or my clients not preparing an ODP 

for the entire area? 35 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Sorry, can you repeat the question. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, so essentially the Council’s recommendation to the 

LURP is that with the exception of our client’s land, area 3 should be 40 

deleted from the list of greenfield priority areas?  That is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That paragraph refers to submissions and there is another 

submission in respect of another part of area 3 and if an integrated 

approach was to be taken to both those areas that are subject to 45 
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submission then an ODP would be prepared showing integration 

between those parcels. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And just those two parcels of land? 

 5 

MR STEVENSON:  Whilst acknowledging the RPS policy, Council’s 

recommendation not to proceed with zoning the balance, it would in 

my mind be reasonable not to expect an ODP for the whole area. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And while we are on the subject of the ODP, and you have 10 

had the opportunity to have a look at Ms Harte’s rebuttal evidence. 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, that is correct. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   Would you agree that sort of I suppose the nature and form of 

that ODP including the narrative is generally similar to other ODPs and 

associated narratives for Industrial zones? 

 20 

MR STEVENSON:   It is similar, yes, it is similar, it does not go as far as I 

would anticipate though in that it does not define stormwater areas or 

how stormwater is managed. 

 

MR CLEARY:   All right, okay.  So you would accept that, well, we are going 25 

to hear from Mr Hall tomorrow who is a wastewater and stormwater 

chap and he may be able to give an indication of where a stormwater 

system should go on that land, and so that is a matter that can be readily 

resolved, you would expect so, wouldn’t you? 

 30 

MR STEVENSON:   Without seeing it I would assume so.  It is difficult to 

answer without pre-empting.  I would add though that if the Panel were 

to accept the zoning request for 76 Hawthornden Road this ODP would 

not show integration with that land. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, all right.  Well, essentially I am going to ask you a very 

general question and it is to assist the Panel, what improvements would 

you recommend be made to the draft ODP? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I would expect in terms of process in preparing that ODP 40 

that there is dialogue with the owners of 76 Hawthornden Road and 

discussion about how the interface between 76 Hawthornden Road and 

the land shown by the red line on this ODP is dealt with, so interface is 

one matter. 

 45 

MR CLEARY:   Right. 
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MR STEVENSON:   Stormwater there could be merit in managing stormwater 

in an integrated manner, but obviously access is an issue whereby 

through access from the State Highway to Hawthornden Road is not 

supported, so there would not be a through road shown, but there could 5 

at least be pedestrian and cycle connections shown. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I think that would address integration with that adjoining 10 

land but I am not supporting 76 Hawthornden Road being zoned for 

other reasons as well. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, all right.  It must beg the question then why you are 

insisting on a sort of integration between our clients’ land and that land 15 

for the purposes of the ODP? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   If we make the assumption that the Panel see merits and 

accept the zoning of both those parcels there needs to be an integrated 

approach taken between them.  This is on the assumption that I support 20 

the zoning of this land subject to the ODP which I do not.  

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, okay. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   My recommendation on both those areas is the same, but 25 

if someone was to consider how integration is achieved and the Panel 

were seeking to understand that integration then that would be 

appropriate in my opinion. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  So essentially, I mean you could explore, couldn’t you, 30 

Mr Stevenson, the further details and issues of integration with, for 

example, Ms Harte? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Certainly but it does not address for the reasons I opposed 

the zoning of this area. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  But what I am suggesting, Mr Stevenson, if the Panel 

is minded to rezone these then it would be assisted by some - - - 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Absolutely, yes. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - co-operation between yourself and Ms Harte? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I would be more than happy to assist. 

 45 
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MR CLEARY:   I want to briefly now touch on the history behind this land and 

you are very familiar with it. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I am, yes. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   And just briefly, a brief highlights package, it was identified 

as a special treatment area in the RPS in 2009? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It was, yes. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And because of that and it was also addressed as a 

special treatment area in the chapter 12A of the Regional Policy 

Statement.  Yes, from memory and northwest review area which is the 

report you refer to in your recommended it proceed to a plan change, 

that is part of area 3, area 3 should proceed to a plan change to rezone 15 

as industrial, that is correct. 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, notwithstanding there being further investigations 20 

required. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So looking at the section 32 analysis that has been undertaken 

– and I will get to that in more detail later – can I perhaps sort of 

summarise one point in terms of the Council’s opinion?  The Council’s 25 

opinion is that rural zoning safeguards this resource and so it may be 

rezoned at a later date – a resource being area 3 including in our 

client’s land. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   If the issues currently identified were to be addressed 30 

then it is a question of timing of when this land is zoned as opposed to 

whether it is or not. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So there would be no planning certainty in terms of when it 

may be rezoned? 35 

 

MR STEVENSON:   No.  That is dependent on factors that remain 

unaddressed through this process. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  I am just thinking in terms of the RMA processes, 40 

there are various options available.  First of all, you’ve got a private 

plan change application which the land owners could embark on and 

they can’t embark on one of those for at least two years, that is correct?   

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is my understanding. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Okay, and they could prepare the very detailed and expensive 

plan change application which of no certainty that the Council would 

actually accept it for a notification, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is correct. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And there may be a review of the Regional Policy 

Statement in the foreseeable future? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and that may, for example, indicate that the area be 

retained within the urban limit but there may be submissions 

challenging that, that is correct? 

 15 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And so we could have lengthy litigation about potentially very 

protected RPS process. 

 20 

MR STEVENSON:   Essentially, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Creating further uncertainty. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   As with any process to zone land, yes. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   And assuming it did remain in the RPS and a plan change 

application was not notified, the next opportunity would be a full 

review of the District Plan. 

 30 

MR STEVENSON:   To change the zoning?  Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that might not be for 10 years. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And the land effectively could be in limbo for a further 

10 years, that’s correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   For industrial purposes, yes. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And so essentially we’ve got – if it is rezoned as Rural 

Urban Fringe, bear in mind it’s been identified as suitable for industrial 

use. 

 45 

MR STEVENSON:   Suitable I do not agree with. 
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MR CLEARY:   Okay. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Suitable in terms of location so the North West Review 

Area report from 2012 identified this area and two other areas based on 5 

locational attributes and other criteria but it was subject to further 

investigation through the plan change process including geotechnical, 

transport, other infrastructure, assessment and from that, from those 

assessments it is not deemed suitable at this time. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Well you have got no evidence about geotechnical? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Not here, no.  Sorry, I was only describing the fact that 

there were those assessments but the issues that remain outstanding in 

terms of stormwater and access remain on the table. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   And in terms of stormwater, Mr Norton agreed that that is a 

matter that can be resolved at the time of subdivision and discharge 

consent application.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that correct?  Did he do that?  You mean on the basis 

that the transcript says that he may have done that, I am not so sure if 

he did. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Shall we say in levels of confidence that they are well over 90 

percent confidence he agreed that that could be - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I mean put the question again but just, the 30 

premise, I wonder about, I will check the transcript, I am not sure if he 

went so far. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I am obviously not intending to mislead in any way.  But my 

understanding is that the matters of stormwater can be resolved at the 35 

time of subdivision and discharge consent allocation? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I do not know that the issue of the outfall and access 

across adjoining land was resolved this morning.  

 40 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, and did he not agree that that is a matter for the 

developer? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   The onus is on the developer to achieve that outfall, but if 

there is not an outfall in the same way as access, if it is not possible to 45 

achieve access then there is a question of whether it should be zoned.   
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MR CLEARY:   In terms of the issue of transport, your witness, the Council’s 

witness does not have any fundamental issues with rezoning? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Not in terms of effects, but there remains the ability to 5 

achieve safe access to the southern airport interchange. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And he actually has not provided any evidence on that. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   He has not, but there has been caucusing between Mr 10 

Milne and Mr Clarke of the Crown. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And Mr Penny as well. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   And Mr Penny.  And I understand the issue remains 15 

outstanding. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, absolutely.  But I am just thinking in terms of that 

particular issue, if the final design cannot be resolved at this stage but 

the experts are reasonably close, shall we say, do you think it might be 20 

appropriate to have a rule in the plan that requires a consent at the time 

of subdivision which deals with the final design of the access? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, only if the principle of access has been agreed and 

there is an option to achieve that, I would be concerned about such a 25 

rule being reliant on design if any form of access cannot be designed in 

a way to provide safe and efficient access to the state highway. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  Right, dealing with the LURP.  Common knowledge 

identifies this land as being a Greenfield Priority Area of business? 30 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It is, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you agree that the LURP directs that Greenfield Priority 

Areas, identified Greenfield Priority Areas be rezoned as part of the 35 

Proposed Replacement District Plan process? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Under action 19 of the LURP there is an action the 

Council is to enable in the next review of its district plan to provide for 

development, but that is to be in accordance of chapter 6 of the RPS. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  Assuming those things can be satisfied a decision not 

to rezone the land would be inconsistent with the LURP.  You accept 

that? 

 45 
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MR STEVENSON:   I do but it would not give effect to the RPS based on the 

current issues. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and just while we are on that, the current issues are 

transportation? 5 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Transportation. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. 

 10 

MR STEVENSON:   A land supplier. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Pardon? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Land supplier, based on the evidence of Mr Osborne. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right.  

 

MR STEVENSON:   And we have discussed wastewater and I accept that 

subject to further modelling that could be addressed by a rule. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Stormwater we have canvassed.  And then the question of 

integration but as we have discussed that could potentially be 25 

addressed. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And in terms of the chapter 6, would you agree that 

that is a fairly directive framework? 

 30 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And just in terms of some of the objectives and policies, and I 

am thinking about firstly objective 6.2.1, which is the recovery 

framework. 35 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that refers to recovery, building and development are 

enabled within greater Christchurch through a land use and 40 

infrastructure framework that identifies priority areas for urban 

development. 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 45 
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MR STEVENSON:   Yes, although it does not require a rezoning of those 

priority areas. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And the explanation and reasons for that objective? 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the question Mr Cleary? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sorry, that refers to the purpose of the objective is to provide 

for an outcome where appropriate urban development is enabled within 

specific spatial areas.  And those spatial areas include greenfield 10 

priority areas, don’t they? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Those spatial areas do include greenfield priority areas 

identified by this to be appropriate, it is to be appropriate urban 

development and the objective has to be read in the context of other 15 

objectives as well and objective 6.2.24 is also relevant as commented 

on in my evidence. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And objective 6.3.1? 

 20 

MR STEVENSON:   Policy 6.3.1. 

 

MR CLEARY:  Oh, yes, in relation to recovery in a building for greater 

Christchurch it talks about give effect to the urban form identified in 

map A. 25 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And the urban form includes - - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, it doesn’t quite – are you in paragraph 2?  6.3.1 

paragraph 2.  Is that your question? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, give effect. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it refers to key activity centres in that particular 

paragraph.  Is that the one you mean? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Development within greater Christchurch.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you paragraph 4. 

 

MR CLEARY:   No, no, no, 6.3, paragraph 1. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   It says, “give effect to the urban form identified in map A”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Which identifies the location extent of urban development 5 

et cetera, and the urban form identified in map A includes the 

greenfield priority areas, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It is but I come back to objective 6.2.2 which states that 

providing for development in greenfield priority areas on the periphery 10 

of Christchurch’s urban area at a rate and in locations that meet 

anticipated demand, and enables the efficient provision and use of 

network infrastructure. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  I will come back to that but in terms of objective 6.3.1 15 

a Rural zoning does not give effect to the urban, a Rural zoning for this 

land does not give effect to the urban form identified in map A, does it? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Not in that aspect, no. 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And when you talk about the rate, you talk about 

objective 6.3.2, or is it policy 6.2.2 or objective 6.2? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Objective 6.2.2. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay.   

 

MR STEVENSON:   Sorry, what was the question? 

 

MR CLEARY:   I was just going to say in terms of the rate at which it is 30 

provided, now the LURP and the RPS both refer to sufficient greenfield 

priority business land being required, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   And suitable in the RPS. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   But in terms of the amount of the land that is to be rezoned, 

that is directed by the LURP is it not? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   At a strategic level yes, but it is for the City Council to 

decide whether in giving effect to 6.2.2 clause 4, whether it is required 40 

to meet interspatial demand. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But you do agree that the LURP directs the amount of land 

that is to be rezoned between now and 2028? 

 45 

MR STEVENSON:   It identifies areas to accommodate growth to 2028, yes. 
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MR CLEARY:   That is correct.  Including my client’s land. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, it does.  Whilst being in accordance with chapter 6. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   Paragraph 15.2 of your evidence-in-chief. 

 

  [3.35 pm] 

 

 And then actually that section 15 you refer to rezoning of land north of 10 

Wairakei Road and 15.2 you refer to this land being consistent with the 

anticipated outcome for an area in the LURP and recognises that 

demand to 2028 requires a sufficient and suitable supply of land. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct.  And then at 15.3 you talk about the airport 

area. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And you discuss the fact that the airport, which would 

be the Special Purpose Airport zone, contributes to the supply of land 

but may not be suitable for all businesses particularly as it is on 

leasehold basis only. 25 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay.  And then, and this is some questions from 

Commissioner Willis talked about issues like suitability including land 30 

banking, infrastructure constraints, existing activities or physical 

features of the site that constrain development, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right, yes. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And in terms of our clients’ land it is obviously on the 

opposite side of the road from Dakota Park? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct.  And it would provide for land on a different 

basis, not on a leasehold basis? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, I would agree. 

 45 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct, okay. 
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MR STEVENSON:   Subject to the landowners’ decision of whether it is 

freehold or leasehold. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, but it can be provided on a freehold basis unlike the 5 

airport land, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is a decision of the landowner and I will accept that 

the landowner could choose to sell it as freehold, yes. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay.  So it provides a degree of, shall we say, 

competition in terms of increased supply to meet demand in that area? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   In the future, yes.  The question, as I said earlier, is one 

of timing and based on the evidence of Mr Osborne this land not being 15 

required at this time. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And Mr Osborne had not done any specific analysis of the 

costs of supplying 11 hectares, additional 11 hectares of land, has he? 

 20 

MR STEVENSON:   Not specifically for this land, no. 

 

MR CLEARY:   No, he just talked in very broad generalities. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the question, Mr Cleary? 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   The question is will you accept that Mr Osborne discussed the 

issue of oversupply in very broad general terms? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   His evidence looks at it at a macro level across 30 

Christchurch, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, you may be getting tired, it may be time for a 

break, you have been going for some time well beyond your allocated 

estimated and that last question perhaps demonstrated that the most.  35 

What is the point in getting this expert to agree or not agree with how 

we should evaluate another expert’s evidence on that broad basis?  So 

are there any further questions you want to put before the afternoon 

recess? 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   I have just got perhaps another two minutes or so hopefully, I 

apologise. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Counsel is expected to ask for permission to go beyond 

the allocated time. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So, just very briefly in terms of the section 32 analysis, for 5 

area 3, you have got that available, have you?   

 

 Does the Panel have access to that? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I think we might take the afternoon recess.  If you 10 

could think about the remaining questions you have, Mr Cleary, we 

will wrap those up after the afternoon recess once you have got a 

chance to think about your question on that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will get a copy of the section 32 report in front of the 

Panel before - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [3.39 pm] 

 25 

RESUMED [4.00 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes sir.  Final questions.  You have got the section 32 report 30 

in front of you? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I do not, I am sorry, but if it could be brought up on the 

screen. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think what we might do is probably produce this as an 

exhibit so what I will do through the Secretariat is to hand to 

Mr Stevenson a copy of – I just want to make sure we have got the 

right one.  Give that to Mr Cleary for a start thank you. 

 40 

 Mr Cleary is that the copy you wanted to refer the witness to? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now if you could refer to the witness to that 45 

copy which he may retain if he wishes and I think is it Exhibit 4?  D. 
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<EXHIBIT #D – CCC CHAPTER 16 INDUSTRIAL ZONES SECTION 

32 

 

MR CLEARY:   Can I please, Mr Stevenson, take you to page 9 and that starts 5 

with the option, first option is to rezone areas 1 and 3 as Rural Urban 

Fringe. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and just to be clear, we are not talking here about all of 

the area 3 now, we are talking about just part of area 3, our client’s 

land, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   And my answer is yes bearing in mind this was in respect 15 

to all of area 3. 

 

MR CLEARY:   It was, okay.  The first thing I just want you to comment on or 

get your opinion on is in terms of your assessment against the various 

objectives and policies of the Strategic Directions proposal. 20 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:  Yes and that assessment is against objectives that no longer 

exist, that is correct. 25 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:  Okay.  And so in terms of the Panel’s obligations under 

section 32AA, this section 32 analysis is actually essentially out of 30 

date, is it not? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It is, yes, but I am happy to assist the Panel in that regard. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Can I now take you to page 11 and the right hand column, and 35 

option 2 is to zone areas 1 and 3 for industrial activities, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and again here we are talking about a portion of area 3 40 

which is 11 hectares as opposed to 35 that was considered in this 

section 32 analysis, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right, yes. 

 45 
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MR CLEARY:   And in terms of the costs, at the last three bullet points, it 

refers to significant adverse effects. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   And in terms of the 11 hectares as opposed to the 35 hectares 

wold you accept that those effects are not significantly adverse? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I would need to look again at Mr Clark’s evidence in 

respect of effects on the State Highway. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, good. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   But - - - 

 15 

MR CLEARY:  But your witness, the Council’s witness, did not consider 

transportation effects to be significant - - -  

 

MR STEVENSON:   No. 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   - - - far from it. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:  And you have agreed now wastewater can be managed, subject 25 

to modelling. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Subject to modelling, yes. 

 

  [4.05 pm] 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes and so those effects would not be significant adverse 

effects if there is a window to provide for discharge. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   On that proviso, yes. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   And the effects would be negligible? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I cannot agree to that. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, I accept that. And in terms of potential for significant 

adverse effects on the surrounding environment and community, you 

would accept that at least in respect of our client’s land if it were to be 

developed for urban purposes, those amenity effects would not be 

significant? 45 
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MR STEVENSON:   As I state in my evidence-in-chief the interface issues can 

be managed, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. And now we got the adverse effects on effective 

functioning of the State Highway, due to additional traffic from Area 3 5 

exacerbating issues of vehicle seeking the merging weave between 

Memorial Avenue and the southern airport access? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, that issue is resolved, there is still a residual issue about 

the operation or the functioning of the State Highway but in terms of 

that issue of merging and weaving that is resolved in terms of the 11 

hectares to be rezoned. 

 15 

MR STEVENSON:   I would need to revisit the evidence on that, I do not 

recall that it has been fully resolved in respect of effects on safe and 

efficient operation of the State Highway. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That merging and weave movement – okay – but the 20 

modelling – maybe I will ask the traffic expert on this – but - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think to be fair, Mr Cleary’s question was asking about a 

specific subset called “merging and weaving” and whether that had 

been resolved, do you have any comment on that? 25 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I am unable to give an answer on that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   It is in the modelling – and then over the page in page 12, so 

you have got “necessitates the designation or acquisition of land in 30 

order to achieve an appropriate level of access to areas 1 and 3” and 

that is not an issue in terms of cost. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It is still an issue in respect of achieving access to the 

adjoining road network. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   But in terms of - - -  

 

MR STEVENSON:   Designation and - - -  

 40 

MR CLEARY:   - - - necessity for designation. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Sorry, that may not necessarily be an issue. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right. And then finally you have got an issue of “oversupply”, 45 

okay, which results in competing demands for the implementation of 
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infrastructure, the inefficient use of infrastructure and inefficient use of 

land. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, so the oversupply of land is essentially what you are 

saying is this may create pressure on the infrastructure system, do you 

mean that wastewater infrastructure system or do you mean something 

more than that? 

 10 

MR STEVENSON:   Wastewater is what I am referring to there. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay and that is resolvable? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Subject to further modelling, yes. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   I have no more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Cleary. Ms Dawson. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Hello, Mr Stevenson. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Hello. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I will start with my questions on this 25 

Hawthornden/Russley area thing we have just been talking about them, 

or you have been, you touched on the LURP actions in answer to some 

questions from Mr Cleary and Ms Harte refers to actions 19 and actions 

24 of the LURP in her evidence, and she states that by not rezoning this 

area at the moment in this review, that the plan would be inconsistent 30 

with these actions in the LURP. 

 

 And in response to Mr Cleary you said, “Well yes, but that is not the 

end of the story, there are matters in the RPS to consider as well”, so 

could you just take me through so that I understand your reasoning and 35 

how you come to your conclusion about not rezoning this area now 

when these actions in the LURP are so specific. 

 

  [4.10 pm] 

 40 

MR STEVENSON:   If we can go to action 19 in the LURP, my reading of that 

action is that the Council is to enable and review obviously to provide 

for development to the greenfield priority area.  But the last part of it 

reads in accordance with Chapter 6 of the Regional Policy Statement 

and my reading of that is that the whole action is to be in accordance 45 

with Chapter 6 of the RPS.  It need not, so if it is not in accordance 
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with Chapter 6 then there is a question of whether that action is 

appropriate to implement. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I just ask you to look at that wording again because one 

could take a different interpretation of those words in accordance with 5 

section 6 of the RPS because it could read in the next review, “to 

provide for the development of the greenfield areas shown on map A 

where they are not already zoned for development in accordance with 

section 6 of the RPS”. 

 10 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Which is the area that is already zoned. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I agree that you can interpret it in more than the way I 15 

have.  I guess stepping away from that action, Council has a number of 

statutory tests it has to, as you will well be aware, and we have to also 

give effect to the RPS and notwithstanding the Council’s proposal not 

being consistent with the LURP we still have to give effect to the RPS 

and giving effect to, subject to legal advice obviously, is potentially a 20 

stronger test than the LURP test of not being inconsistent.  

 

 The key strand of the RPS that I consider the proposal to zone it would 

not give effect to is clause 4 of objective 6.2.2 and that talks about 

development in these greenfield areas at a rate and in locations that 25 

meet anticipated demand and enable the efficient provision and use of 

network infrastructure.   

 

 The latter part in respect of the provision and use of network 

infrastructure, there remains the issue of transport and how the state 30 

highway can be used in an efficient manner arising from this zoning.  

The former part, the reference to demand, is dealing with the question 

of whether this land is needed to meet that demand and based on the 

evidence of Mr Osborne it is not at a macro level.   

 35 

 So that is really that strand that I am referring to in the RPS that I rely 

on. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So do you accept that there are, if you look at the two actions 

in the LURP and the various objectives and policies that Mr Cleary 40 

took you through in the RPS, some of them, I mean there are different 

strands I think you have used, so some of them are quite directive in 

saying, get on and do this in the next review, or enable the areas, 

whereas that clause 4 of objective 6.2 is the one that perhaps gives 

some discretion to the Council about the rate at which they go about 45 

this rezoning. 
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MR STEVENSON:   In effect it is a question of sequencing arguably, that 

Council and its review can subsequently decide that it may not be 

appropriate to bring forward all these areas at once and to provide for 

this area in addition to the existing supply and by managing it at a rate 5 

it provides for longer term growth should demand emerge that takes up 

supply that is best provided for at a future date. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And is that the only place in the objectives – in section 6 or 

chapter 6, objectives and policies, that opens this door to sequencing 10 

and looking at rates of making land available within these priority areas 

or is there anything else you rely on to allow some land to be held back 

and others to be put forward in the next review of the District Plan? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   At this point it is the only reference I could take you to.  15 

Objective 6.2.1, clause 9 talks about integration of strategic and other 

infrastructure and services with land use development, and obviously in 

achieving integration there is a need to ensure infrastructure is there to 

service development and that includes access and therefore arguably 

they should be sequenced in accordance with that infrastructure, which 20 

comes back to requirements for an ODP as well. 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  So moving onto the question of ODP, 25 

when you were answering questions from Ms Crawford and in your 

evidence, I think you have made it quite clear that you think you 

consider that the RPS is what it is in terms of not allowing the Council 

to consider rezoning of areas beyond the map A boundary at the 

moment, no matter how sensible that those areas might seem, it is clear, 30 

it is what it is and it says that map A boundary is the outer limit for 

urban rezoning. 

 

 But you seem to be more flexible in your interpretation of the RPS 

when it comes to the one about Outline Development Plans, because 35 

the Outline Development Plan policy 6.3.3 is also clear, or do you think 

that it is clear that the Outline Development Plan must be prepared for 

the whole of a priority area?  And that whether or not the Council 

thinks that the whole of a priority area should or should not be in map 

A at the moment, if it is in map A do you think that the RPS is quite 40 

clear that the ODP should be for the whole of that area? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I am pleased you raise that because over the break I was 

giving consideration to that very policy and the fact it requires an ODP 

for the whole area.  I was thinking through what – if Council or any 45 

party was seeking the zoning of just a part what would be the benefit of 
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the single plan for the whole area and an ODP for the whole greenfield 

area would ensure a level of integration for future decisions. 

 

 So if we use an example of the ODP that is in Ms Harte’s evidence, 

there are some dash lines indicating the future road network through 5 

that area and I note that the lines do not go to the edge, so 

hypothetically if the landowner to the south let us say wanted to 

develop and their land was to be serviced by the connection to the State 

Highway, then the risk with this ODP is that it does not provide for 

continuation of that road network into adjoining areas and the benefit 10 

of a single plan for the whole area would be that, at least if there was 

potential for this area to the south to develop and also be serviced from 

the State Highway then that comprehensive approach could be still 

achieved, whereas this potentially results in a cul-de-sac and each 

development being more insular.  15 

 

 And so I think, I would go back that my answer to the earlier question 

and say that to give effect to policy 6.3.3 is worded, I do not think the 

flexibility is there as you rightly point out and so in that regard I would 

retract from my earlier answer. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay.  Because that would seem – does that seem to you to 

be the point of having an ODP for this whole area that matters like, 

access and integration of roading networks and stormwater can be 

looked at as a whole, even if only parts of it are developed at any early 25 

time? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is where it got to, unfortunately it did not come to 

mind when I was answering Mr Cleary’s question. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   That is fine, thank you for answering that now. 

 

 Another question about these areas that are on map A, I mean 

regardless of how these areas came to be on map A, they have been 

through the process of a LURP and whatever things that came before 35 

that and then into the RPS, do you think it is reasonable for the Panel to 

expect issues to do with traffic and stormwater and wastewater that 

some regard has been given to them prior to those matters prior to these 

areas going into the RPS and that they would be able to be able to be 

addressed at some stage, even if it sequenced or things need to happen, 40 

but is it reasonable for us to think that there is a solution to these 

matters? 

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 45 
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MR STEVENSON:   I would like to think so.  I don’t think that is the case 

though.  Henderson, just using two examples, the first being these areas 

in the northwest review area.  The evaluation that was done in 2011 and 

12 was at a high level looking at the locational attributes relative to 

other parts of that northwest review area and in hindsight we should 5 

have done some modelling at that point to assess the transport effects of 

identifying these areas.  Unfortunately we didn’t and it was made clear 

in the earlier report of 2012 that those matters needed to be tested.  

Rightly or wrongly those areas got picked up and put into the LURP 

and RPS and given the weight they have.   10 

 

 But putting that to one side there is areas in the southwest which are 

identified for residential growth and there is parts of those areas which 

are unsuitable based on flooding issues I understand.  For instance, 

Council’s proposal in stage 1 identified parts of a greenfield area as a 15 

flood management area and so whilst they are identified they may not 

be suitable and so, as much as I would like to say that the Panel can 

assume there has been sufficient testing, I don’t know that there has 

been the detail or provides the level of comfort that we can work to. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   So I think you would have heard me ask a previous witness 

whether there were other priority areas, whether they are residential or 

business, that haven’t been zoned in either stage 1 or stage 2 of this 

review and you are saying that some are some residential areas in the 

southwest that haven‘t been picked up in the proposed rezonings? 25 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I would need to chat with my colleague, Ms Oliver, about 

that but in respect of other business areas in the northwest the other 

greenfield areas have been zoned through this process of the 

Replacement District Plan.  There hasn’t been issues identified with 30 

rezoning those areas of the nature I describe in respect of the 

Hendersons Basin residential area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just turning to area 1, is that – I mean in your rebuttal 

evidence I think you talk about the Dowding submission, does that 35 

relate to area 1? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It does. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it is the area that is called north of Waimakariri Road.  It 40 

is hard to see on a plan this size, I wonder if the plan could be brought 

up just so that the Panel knows where area 1 is.  Because that is the 

other area that isn’t proposed to be rezoned by the Council. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   But we have this late submission from Mr Dowding asking 

for it to be rezoned so is that the top blue area there? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, the blue area at the top there.  So in the Northwest 

Review Area report it was identified as providing for a cluster of 5 

industrial activity, the existing industrial activity being to the north on 

the opposite side of Johns Road, and its benefit being separated from 

residential areas.  

 

 In terms of transport effects the subsequent modelling of transport 10 

effects identified issues with the intersections that would be used to 

access this land, namely Harewood Road and the two roads that meet 

Harewood Road serving that land, Waimakariri Road and Watsons 

Road.  Watsons Road is to the right of Waimakariri Road where the 

cursor is.  So the pressure put on the intersections to the south where 15 

those two roads meet Harewood Road couldn’t be sufficiently managed 

to enable the rezoning of that land. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean Mr Dowding may well come and talk to us and may 

well bring evidence but we don’t have the same level of evidence 20 

available on this from the Council or other parties before us at the 

moment on this site as we do on areas 2 and 3.   

 

 So just moving off that area and just to ask you a few questions about 

some other areas, in the Wairakei Industrial Park area, there are the two 25 

properties that go out to Harewood Road up near Russley Road which 

are included in the proposed rezoning, I think you cover them in 15.4 

of your evidence.   

 

  [4.25 pm] 30 

 

 But you are now saying that they shouldn’t be included in that zoning 

because they are outside the map A boundary.  Has anyone submitted 

on those, asking for them to be removed from that zone, or did the 

Council submit on it? 35 

 

MR STEVENSON: I do not know.  There are submissions – there is no 

submission by Council on seeking to remove those areas.  The two 

landowners both submitted.  They both effectively support the Council 

proposal. 40 

 

 My recommendation is outside the scope of a submission and seeks to 

give effect to the RPS, which the notified proposal did not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well, that may be something we need to consider, in 45 

terms of scope.  A couple of more specific things.   
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 In paragraph 15.26, you talk about the screening with Harewood 

School and you say that further discussions may continue with 

submitters. Has anything further happened beyond what you have 

covered in that paragraph? 5 

 

MR STEVENSON:  Yes, at mediation, which I should point out I was not at, 

and following mediation there was agreement with Harewood School 

and the Ministry of Education over that interface, and an amended rule 

was filed as a memorandum to the Panel on that. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right.  So is that incorporated in the appendix 3 to your 

evidence-in-chief or is that – no, I think it is in a separate 

memorandum, isn’t it, with some additional provisions? 

 15 

MR STEVENSON:   It is in a separate memorandum. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, thank you.  Thank you for reminding me about that.  In 

terms of 15.33, you talk about the rule regarding upgrades to the 

intersections that are required before development takes place, 20 

otherwise it is a noncomplying activity.   

 

 Do you think that the wording that is now remaining in those rules is 

adequately certain, 16.4612? 

 25 

MR STEVENSON: Yes, I have been reflecting on this as well and I do not 

think it provides the certainty you would expect of a non-complying 

rule, or any rule for that matter.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Maybe you could have a look at that, because – I mean, one 30 

would have to know what an “upgrade” was, and it could just be 

repainting the lines or something.  It does not seem quite clear enough 

as to what level of upgrade will be needed to be the threshold between 

non-complying or not non-complying. 

 35 

MR STEVENSON: Yes. The previous wording did have a greater level of 

detail and that was changed due to the potential that a different design 

could alleviate the issues.  For instance, Stanleys and Harewood Road 

need not be limited to left and left-out, there could be a potential for a 

right-turning movement, but I will liaise with Mr Milne. 40 

  

MS DAWSON:  Yes, if you could have a look and see if you can say 

something that is maybe not tied in as much as you had before but still 

is just a bit more than “upgrade the intersection”.   

 45 

 So just thank you for that.  Turning to New Brighton for a minute.  



 Page 150 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  I wonder if the secretariat could pull up some plan of New 

Brighton.  Now, I would just like you to show us on an aerial photo or a 5 

planning map the various sites, some of which you recommend to 

remain as Commercial Mixed, I think.   

 

 I am not quite sure if you still are thinking that any should be 

Commercial or – so just take us through those.  I do struggle sometimes 10 

when there are not many maps in front of us to work out what is what 

when we are dealing with so many parts of the city. Yes, so if you 

could – around Beresford Street area. 

 

 Maybe while the map is coming up, I also have a policy question for 15 

you about New Brighton.  Policy 8, which is the Mixed Use policy in 

the Commercial section.  It is called Mixed Use Areas and it talks about 

the areas that are also zoned Commercial Mixed Use, or you have 

recommended to be Commercial Mixed Use in the Stage 1 hearings.   

 20 

  [4.30 pm] 

 

 And it specifically refers to Addington and Mandeville Street and 

Blenheim Road. Do you think that policy would need to have New 

Brighton added to it if the Commercial Mixed Zone was to be added 25 

into New Brighton? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It would, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Am I right in thinking that is the policy that relates to those 30 

zones? 

 

MR STEVENSON: That’s right, those other locations are where the 

Commercial Mixed Use zone exists and where it is proposed at New 

Brighton. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right so maybe could you just, so this is the proposed 

zoning. 

 

MR STEVENSON:  Yes, so if we go, the south side of Beresford Street - - - 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR STEVENSON: - - - there is three blocks of yellow.  The easternmost block 

closest to the sea, there are two properties on the north east corner of 45 

that block, those two there - - -  
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MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR STEVENSON: - - - they are 21 and 23 Beresford Street which are the 

subject of submissions from Steve Marshall and the other name I 5 

forget, and to the west of those two properties and zoned RSDT is 

Council car park, and that car park currently serves the commercial 

area of New Brighton, and so it is my recommendation that 21 and 23 

Beresford Street which front Beresford Street are zoned Commercial 

Core, so those two properties on the north eastern corner would become 10 

pink. 

 

 Now if we go from there to - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   The car park would remain? 15 

 

MR STEVENSON:  Residential.  I have had discussions with the Council’s 

Parking Unit and reflecting on the historic zoning of this land is, that 

the historic zoning is a special car parking zone in the Operative Plan, 

but in New Brighton it reverts back to the Residential zone so it 20 

effectively has an underlying zoning and so to zone it commercial, if 

Council were to ever sell it, the land, it is a sizable area that would 

compromise that objective to consolidate commercial activity in a 

smaller area. 

 25 

 If we go to the block that is yellow immediately west of the core 

between Beresford Street and Seaview Road, at that eastern end of that 

block, to the far right, there is two properties which are ANZ Bank and 

a youth hostel and those sites form an integral part of the existing 

centre so that Union Street which runs north-south benefits from shelter 30 

from the easterly and tends to attract some activity, particularly on 

weekends, what activity does exist, and then to the west or left of those 

two properties all the way back to Hardy Street, that block would be 

zoned Commercial Mixed Use and that Commercial Mixed Use zone 

provides for, it recognises existing retail and office use in that block but 35 

it does not allow for any new retail or office development in that block. 

 

 The current use of that block includes car sales yard, car repair, a large 

church, convenient retail, some other community activities and there is 

not any residential to it at the present time.  The notified proposal was 40 

to zone it all residential and it certainly would not provide certainty for 

the existing landowners and so the recommendation as part of my 

evidence was to zone it Mixed Use to recognise and provide for those 

business activities that are not as integral to the recovery of New 

Brighton as retail and office activity which the intent of the proposal is 45 

to direct new retail and office activity to the core zone which is to the 
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right and it is around that focus of retail activity at least within that pink 

area. 

 

MS DAWSON: You are still happy with that extended Commercial Mixed Use 

zone that the core of the centre would still be adequately consolidated 5 

in terms of the overall plan for consolidating and reducing the size of 

the centre at New Brighton? 

 

MR STEVENSON: Yes, in my evidence I looked at it firstly from the objective 

of the master plan which is to consolidate and one could take a view 10 

that all future business activities whether it is retail, office or other 

types of business activities should be located in a smaller area to 

concentrate activity. 

 

  [4.35 pm] 15 

 

 But to support that recovery and revitalisation in my opinion it is really 

retail that is most important to that recovery as well as office and if that 

can be channelled into that smaller area then that still achieves the 

consolidation objective of the master plan whilst still recognising the 20 

business activities that occur on that westernmost block, the difficulty 

is that, given the function of that block and its foreseeable use in the 

future is business, residential zoning of it which in my mind would not 

occur. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   So I think – yes, is that consistent with, I think Mr Osborne – 

I think it was Mr Osborne – answered in question of mine that - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Heath. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Heath it was I think, yes, thank you – that there is plenty 

of space around the main core of retail for the wider range of 

commercial service and community activities etcetera that still are an 

important function of this New Brighton as a centre for the area. 

 35 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, certainly the recommendation on mixed use for that 

block I did discuss with Mr Heath and which whilst not on the stand 

here, he saw merit and at least recognition and certainty for those 

businesses, that in terms of those wider functions there is strong 

community focus to New Brighton at present with the library but also 40 

with future Council investment, the master plan and that will not 

necessarily be channelled into the pink area, for instance Council has a 

proposal outside the master plan but is part of what is called “A Legacy 

Project” for outdoor hot saltwater pools and whilst the site has not been 

identified, it is potentially outside that pink area because there is not the 45 

capacity, the pink area on the map constitutes four and a half hectares 
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from memory which is above the four hectare recommendation but in 

making the recommendation into the zoning it is considered the 

existing land uses and also the pattern of streets and drawing logical 

boundaries. 

 5 

 I accept that if all activity was concentrated in the pink area then it 

would support a better outcome for that pink area but it would run the 

risk of the area west of that being compromised potentially into 

amenity to a level that does not provide certainty for those businesses 

or at least enables them to continue to the degree they want. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I guess the objective of consolidation only in the pink 

area, those landowners west of that would be reliant on existing use 15 

rights and not be able to extend except for a consenting process of 

course, but - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   While we’ve still got the map up there can you also just run 

us through these issues to do with heights, so that we understand what 20 

changes the Council’s proposing, and in the commercial area but may 

be just making sure we are aware of where the overlay – without giving 

us evidence on this, just pointing out where the higher height overlay 

areas are in the residential to the north and south. 

 25 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, can I refer to appendix 1 of my evidence-in-chief 

which is - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, certainly – which of the pages of appendix 1? 

 30 

MR STEVENSON:   The first one which has - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   The first page? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   - - - got a dated map which has got operative zone codes 35 

on it, so refers to LF4C which is - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Well maybe if we just leave this one up so it gives us the new 

zoning and then you have got the operative zoning in your appendix, 

yes. 40 

 

MR STEVENSON:   On the screen if you can zoom out slightly – and then that 

is an over – if you go across to the legend and tick the box beside 

“medium density”, so there is a box that should be to the right of that 

which if you tick that – so the operative zoning and height pattern, the 45 

dash lines on those maps represent where a 20 metre height limit was 
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proposed in stage 1, and that reflects what is in the operative plan for 

the L4C zone on appendix 1 and the red area on appendix 1 provide a 

30 metre height limit. 

 

  [4.40 pm] 5 

 

 So if you were viewing the centre from the pier then essentially there 

would be a bell curve with higher height limits in the commercial area 

of 30 metres and then dropping down to 20 metres either side of that, in 

the pink areas which are zoned L4C but in the proposed District Plan 10 

are zoned Medium Density.   

 

 So the Commercial Core zone, which is the pink area, we are proposing 

a reduced height limit of 12 metres across the whole centre.  It 

currently benefits from a mixed height limit of 30 metres in the red area 15 

on appendix 1 and 20 metres in the terracotta or orange area on 

appendix 1 and then the B1 zone, the grey area, it drops down to eight 

metres.  

 

 So I will briefly convey that again.  We are going from an operative 20 

plan which permits between eight and 30 metre height limits in the 

Commercial zones to a standard 12 metre height limit across the whole 

of the Core zone.  And then in the adjoining residential area, the 

overlay, the dashed line is the same area as what is in pink on 

appendix 1 and the height limits are the same in the operative and 25 

proposed plans, proposed plan stage 1 should I say. 

 

 In stage 2 we are proposing to remove the overlay which provides for 

that additional 20 metre height limit to avoid a situation where the 

residential height limits are greater than the commercial because you 30 

would end up with a 12 metre height limit in the middle and then either 

side in the dashed areas you would end up with potentially 20 metre tall 

buildings.  So we want to achieve some legibility to the commercial 

centre by providing for a greater height limit than the residential areas 

beside it. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is there a question mark around whether the Council can 

remove that 20 metre height limit? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, there is.  Yes, that is the subject of the 40 

memorandum. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so don’t worry about that.  All right, thank you for that 

and then just one further question or, sorry, two questions.  Do you 

think that there is a need for a particular policy wording or a policy for 45 

the consolidation of New Brighton to support this change of focus and 
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its revitalisation or do you think there is adequate wording in the 

policy, the commercial objectives and policies as it is, that gives a clear 

guidance as to what is trying to be achieved with New Brighton? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I did give consideration to that and felt that given the 5 

overall objective is about intensification within centres and to support 

appropriate consolidation around those centres, and particularly this 

matter came up in the stage 1 hearing about the reference to the 

recovery of centres and being more specific about which centres are 

subject to recovery, that those strands adequately address the matters 10 

that are pertinent to New Brighton.   

 

 I felt those themes of consolidation and as part of that intensification as 

well as recovery of centres that sustained significant damage, that those 

matters were already addressed for objective 2 and apply to other 15 

centres and so reflecting on that clause (vii) under objective 2 should 

now refer to New Brighton amongst those centres that sustained 

significant damage and are in recovery mode. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So objective 2 (vii) should refer to - - - 20 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I think - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Oh, because it refers to policy 11 which also refers to 

New Brighton.   25 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Sorry, you are right, yes, so we need - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all right.  All right, thank you.  Well, thank you for 

that.  And just remind me of your final position on urban design 30 

assessment in the Commercial Core, and what the Council’s closing 

position was because you cross-refer to that in your evidence. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, so I remain of the position taken in closing legal 

submissions on stage 1 which is that any new building or addition to a 35 

building of more than 1,000 square metres is subject to an urban design 

assessment.  But I should point out that following the filing of legal 

submissions on stage 1 there was a memorandum filed about an 

accreditation process being appropriate and Council’s response to that 

was that if accreditation was considered appropriate by the Panel as a 40 

different process, than a different step then controlled activity status 

should be considered rather than permitted on the basis that it is 

difficult to write standards or a permitted activity rule for an 

accreditation process but - - - 

 45 

  [4.45 pm] 



 Page 156 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

MS DAWSON:  But you are not recommending here in your evidence 

anything different from New Brighton than in a centre of this sort 

elsewhere in the city? 

 5 

MR STEVENSON:   No.   

 

MS DAWSON:   No?  All right, thank you.  And just one other question 

relating to this gravel extraction matter on pages 11.5 onwards in your 

evidence, you say that there may be some more, that this is an ongoing 10 

matter being addressed.  Is there anything more to bring to our attention 

about these issues to do with gravel extraction from business zones? 

 

MR STEVENSON:  I am afraid not. Regrettably I have not progressed 

discussions with the producers group, I should have done so. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well if there isn’t anything there is nothing more 

you can say. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   No, no. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, Mr Stevenson. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Thank you. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   That is all from me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:  Just a couple of really quick ones. Good afternoon, 30 

Mr Stevenson.  Can I support Ms Dawson’s suggestion for more maps? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   To make sure we are really clear each time where exactly we are 35 

talking about.  And the other question is, I do not know whether you 

will be able to answer it, but looking at what the planning is trying to 

achieve at Brighton, what sort of timeframe – and bearing in mind the 

evidence we have heard about the sort of slow growth – how long, or is 

that too hard to ask, would that be likely to take. 40 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It is a moving feast that.  I am not aware of the specific 

timeframe for some aspects of revitalising New Brighton.  Certainly 

New Brighton is on the agenda for the new organisation established, I 

think called Revitalise Christchurch - - - 45 
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MS HURIA:   Okay. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   - - - and there is a lot of projects outside the District Plan 

I think which are required in conjunction with consolidation of the 

zone, I think consolidation of the zone will not in itself achieve what is 5 

required.  I think Council is looking to invest more money in the area 

but the issue in my mind also comes back, as I touched on in my 

evidence, to what extent or how coastal hazards are managed in the 

long term as well, and the catchment that Mr Heath has drawn for New 

Brighton is an area that is at risk of coastal hazards in the long term 10 

according to the Tonkin & Taylor report. 

 

 Now obviously if the coastal hazards proposal is no longer, my 

understanding is it is not subject to the review although there is still 

further detail to be worked through on that but that could have a 15 

significant bearing on New Brighton’s catchment and therefore it needs 

to draw on spend from elsewhere if it is to achieve the level of recovery 

that is anticipated and the likes of the hot saltwater pools project, if it is 

proven viable and is established then it is that type of project which 

could draw people from further afield.   20 

 

 I do not think drawing on spend from a local catchment, based on 

Mr Heath’s evidence, is going to be enough in itself. 

 

MS HURIA:   Very clear, thank you.  Thank you sir, that’s it. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Huria.  Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Stevenson, thanks for the evidence.  

You have touched on many of the questions I was going to ask but I 30 

will just go over one or two of them if I may just for extra clarity, and I 

have a few very detailed matters too I might just run by you when I 

have the opportunity. 

 

 First while we are on New Brighton, we may as well stick with New 35 

Brighton for a minute but you did give me one of the answers I was 

looking for which was around what size you have actually zoned there 

given we had evidence about how much was supportable if I can use 

that term, and I think you said the core zoning is 4.5 hectares, is that 

what you said a moment ago? 40 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Thereabouts and in hindsight I think it is closer to 4.9. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, yes.  And then the additional part which we do not really 

need the map again, but it was the yellow part that you were looking at 45 

zoning Mixed Commercial I think. 



 Page 158 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, Commercial Mixed Use. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, how big is that? 

 5 

MR STEVENSON:   I think from memory it is in the order of two hectares. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Right.  And just to recap what Commissioner Dawson raised 

with you, and I think you may have said it yourself, in the absence of 

doing anything the businesses that are there now would be relying on 10 

existing use rights, correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That’s right, yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And if they wished to get slightly bigger in some fairly small 15 

way they would require a consent and what sort of consent would they 

require if that was not changed? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Full discretionary from memory but I would just double 

check that. 20 

 

  [4.50 pm] 

 

MR WILLIS:   Is it full discretionary – I mean I can check it as well, I thought 

you meant – sorry. 25 

 

 Okay, so what I understand by rules and I think you said “What mixed 

use would do”, is what I understood from reading the rules was that, 

you could change your activity as long as you did not change the 

building is that correct, so you could go from – I do not know what is 30 

in there, you could have different uses, but let’s say there is some retail 

there, you could go from retailing shoes to hats and that would be okay, 

but as a shoe shop you could not pull down the building and build a hat 

shop, is that right? 

 35 

MR STEVENSON:   If it was on the same footprint it could be done under 

“existing use rights”, but if it was beyond existing use rights then you 

could not build new effectively on the same site, for retail. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay. Okay, thank you, I understand that now. 40 

 

 The other point you just raised (INDISTINCT 1.07), I just wanted to 

explore with you, you mention the hazards provisions being withdrawn, 

now you kind of mention that in your evidence, and I thought you were 

suggesting – I may be wrong, correct me if I am wrong – that those 45 

provisions would likely mean that you could not build anyway so that 
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there was not any great imposition by this zone, is that what you were 

suggesting? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, although that part of my evidence should be taken 

out now that - - -  5 

 

MR WILLIS:   It was – I am sorry, you - - -  

 

MR STEVENSON:   No, I have not alerted you to that yet - - -  

 10 

MR WILLIS:   I thought you did. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   - - - the reference to proposals in stage 3, I think the 

implications of the government’s decision have not yet been – the 

detail of the government has not yet been fully understood – but if they 15 

are not considered through this process then any reliance or reference 

to coastal inundation and coastal erosion management areas should be 

taken out. 

 

 Having said that, there is still a Tonkin and Taylor report which 20 

identifies these areas at risk and so it is still a question of whether there 

is likely to be change in an area that is identified as being exposed in 

the long term to erosion and/or inundation, by that I mean that area that 

is currently used for business but would be zoned Commercial Mixed 

Use, the rate of change to achieve residential development within that 25 

block, what I was suggesting was, that would be limited given that the 

Council proposal in stage 3 was to make new buildings non-compliant 

in parts of that block, but that proposal is not being on the table now, so 

it is really what level of building activity can occur in that block given 

those properties potentially will still have a hazard notice on them 30 

under the Building Act. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay. So I take it to that you will not – the fact that those 

provisions do not appear to be there any longer that will not change 

your opinion, your planning analysis that you provided us there in 35 

evidence? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I think in my opinion there is still going to be 

impediments to development in areas that Tonkin and Taylor have 

identified at risk of erosion or inundation, but that is not subject to 40 

whether hazard notices will be imposed under the Building Act on that 

land. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, thank you. Okay, another matter that was discussed 

earlier was obviously the role in place of the RPS in this broader 45 

discussion, and you have relied as you – well, I think your overall view 
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is that, you do not have to zone land within the Greenfield Priority 

Areas, but if a land is not within the Greenfield Priority Area then you 

cannot zone, that seems to be what I took from it, correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   The latter if it is not in a greenfield area or the existing 5 

urban area, that is right. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. And the position – your basis for the first part of that, 

which is you do not have to zone within that area, is reliant, as I think 

we discussed earlier, perhaps with your discussion with Commissioner 10 

Dawson was that you are relying on that objective 6.2.2, as I 

understood that at that stage - - -  

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 15 

MR WILLIS:   - - - largely on that (INDISTINCT 4.36) 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, 6.2.1 is also relevant in respect to that strand of 

integration between land use and infrastructure also. 

 20 

MR WILLIS:   Just interested in your interpretation of the provisions here, are 

you suggesting then that we read the RPS or the RPS ought to be read 

so that the objective applies kind of independent of the policies if you 

know what I mean, because another way would it not be to interpret 

this objective as by relation to the policy which we would expect to 25 

implement it?  In other words, the policy 6.3.14 might be read as 

implementing that particular objective that you mentioned a moment 

ago.  Would that be a fair alternate interpretation? 

 

  [4.55 pm] 30 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I think you are right, the policy has to be read in the – the 

objectives about the outcome have to be read in conjunction with the 

policies about how it is to be achieved.   

 35 

 And in terms of the policy that that particular objective that I have been 

referring to hangs off, there are other policies, such as 6.33, which talk 

about integration.  So it is about tying it back to – there are a number of 

policy strands, I think, that carry through on that objective, clause 4, 

and one of those is about development form and function, 6.32 but also 40 

6.33 about development in accordance with the RDP and that 

integration, which has to be achieved. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes.  I am just interested in your view about I guess the ability 

to apply those two things kind of independently, rather than being one 45 

contingent on the other, or one implementing the other.   
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 It is just another interpretation that one can give and I had not 

considered it until I saw your evidence, so I was interested to read and I 

was interested in your views. 

 5 

 Okay, I do have one or two others.  At the beginning of this session you 

did mention briefly the provisions which relate to office space and, 

without going into the policy of that or the merits of that, I was 

interested just in your interpretation of the current wording in the 

provisions about that, which I think is rule 16.42, if I am not mistaken.   10 

 

 I just wanted to get your opinion as to whether those provisions, from a 

planning point of view, I take it are as clear as they might be, given this 

is a rather important sort of court provision – whether they are quite as 

clear as they might be. 15 

 

 Just looking at – it is P11, isn’t it, at the bottom of that page?  And 

really just the construction of that provision, which talks about the 

office activity within each Industrial Park Zone.  And I guess it is the 

words “each Industrial Park Zone”, and then kind of somewhat 20 

contradicted by the brackets afterwards, and I just wonder whether you 

would consider some – setting aside, as I say, what it should it say – 

whether some greater clarity on that might be beneficial. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Putting aside the issue, the words in brackets “Tait”, 25 

“Awatea” need not be there if that provision was to apply to all 

Industrial Park Zones.  But that is putting to one side the issue I raised 

earlier, which I should withdraw. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, thank you.  One or two more minor things.  The 30 

provision in the Regional Policy Statement talks about the policy we 

are talking about, 6.3.14 (ph 3.44).  The wording that we have not 

discussed, and I wonder how relevant it is – the little word “existing” in 

there where it talks about “ensuring new urban activities only occur 

within existing” – sorry.   35 

 

 Sorry, the word I am focusing on here is “new urban activities”, the 

word “new”.  Do I take it from that that if you were zoning an existing 

urban activity, this policy would not apply?  And if that is the case, are 

there any of the sites that you have considered where the zoning you 40 

are looking at is applying over an existing activity? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Existing urban activities – existing commercial and 

industrial activities are generally speaking within those areas which are 

defined, but there is outside the existing urban area, there is 45 



 Page 162 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

undoubtedly existing industrial activity.  For instance, at Yaldhurst, the 

contour line, but – sorry, I - - - 

 

MR WILLIS:   No, you may be all right.  I was wondering, for example, I think 

the Bridle Path site – is that an existing - - - 5 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is an existing urban activity but it is in a proposed 

Rural Zone and outside the existing urban area. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, that is my point, I guess, Mr Stevenson.  Is it the fact that 10 

it is outside the Greenfield Priority Zone, because it is existing, is it 

caught by that policy? 

 

  [5.00 pm] 

 15 

MR STEVENSON:   I see.  I guess in respect of existing, it would still have to 

give effect to clause 1 of giving effect to the urban form identified on 

map A, arguably that is, activities like the coffee shop at 131 Bridle 

Path Road that are outside the existing urban area, some of which serve 

the urban area, some of it do not.  In answer to your question that 20 

strand from clause 4 only applies to new activities, so existing is not 

covered by it, but existing activities would not – they would be reliant 

on existing use rights obviously, but they need not be recognised by the 

zoning.   

 25 

MR WILLIS:   I was simply wondering whether this did in fact prevent you 

zoning.  If the other merits of the case stacked up where this potentially 

could prevent you from doing that. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I guess by zoning it though you would be plotting for 30 

new urban activities.  If you were zoning land where there are existing 

urban activities, and that zoning provides for new urban activities then 

that strand of clause 4 is still relevant, because new urban activities 

may include intensification or expansion.   

 35 

MR WILLIS:   So it would depend on the detail and the specifics of the case? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, thank you.  Just a couple of very, very minor points but 40 

seeing we have you I may as well just seek your advice on them.  At 

14.12 of the proposal, sorry 14.12 of your evidence-in-chief you 

propose a new (INDISTINCT 2.18) Heinz-Wattie (ph 2.22) I think it 

was from memory.  And it is a very minor point, but just the wording 

that has been used where it talks about any activity within the area 45 

identified which results in a daily average sewage flow from a site to 
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the Council’s reticulated network to exceed – and I am just looking, 

wondering whether the grammatical correctness of that provision and 

then wondering whether that ‘to exceed’ should not read ‘exceeding’, 

as it does in fact, if you go to the actual provision, which we can do if 

you like. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think we could probably just take it on the language of 

that particular provision, ‘in exceeding’ rather than ‘to exceed’. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, what I was wanting to explore with you, I am not missing 10 

something there in the context.  Thanks, thank you.  And one final 

matter of detail, at 15.39 you talk about notification, and you talk about 

the situation necessitates notification, and I am assuming there you 

were just simply saying that in your opinion it was inappropriate to 

have a blanket non-notification provision, rather than having a 15 

provision which required notification? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, that is all, thank you. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, sorry, there are some more matters I have got.  

Wonder if I could ask the Secretariat to put up the Land Use Recovery 

Plan on page 26 please.  Now just looking at that in the blue text there, 

Mr Stevenson, I am just trying to grapple with this – I am just trying to 25 

get this understanding of the relationship between the Land Use 

Recovery Plan and the RPS clearer.  So the first thing I see is that there 

is a difference between actions that are statutory directions, shaded in 

blue, and other agree actions shaded in yellow.  You are familiar with 

that system in the LURP? 30 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if we go over to action 19 on the next page, which is 

a yellow one, well it does not show yellow there but it is yellow in my 35 

copy, so to enable in the next review of the plan to provide for the 

development of the Greenfield Priority Areas, now just in terms of the 

latter phrase about the RPS, so this was on the construct that those 

provisions that we have been discussing in the RPS were introduced 

through this document, they were all in the document at the time, 40 

weren’t they? 

 

  [5.05 pm] 

 

 In other words it was not reference to an existing chapter 6 but one that 45 

was put into the RPS through the LURP? 
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MR STEVENSON:   That is right, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, sorry, just in terms of understanding that 

relationship I thought that was helpful.  And if we look at policy 6.2.2 5 

just sub-paragraph 4, this question of provision according to a rate or in 

locations holding that there, so it would also be giving effect to sub-

clause 4 to provide for a deferred zoning, wouldn’t it, or am I wrong 

about that? 

 10 

MR STEVENSON:   No, I think it would provide for development at a rate and 

in locations subject to meeting anticipated demand and subject to 

enabling efficient provision and use of infrastructure it would, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and in terms of that latter thing, and the other reasons 15 

why an outline development plan is also directed as you covered off 

with Ms Dawson, if we look at the blue area we are concerned with, 

which is identified as a greenfield priority area in the RPS, and we 

consider the concept of deferred zoning then were the Council to be 

required to give effect to that construct, that would be on the basis that 20 

the ODP would have to cover the entire blue area in issue, correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right, yes I would agree.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And one means to that end under the order in Council is 25 

through the notification of an additional set of provisions, is that 

correct?  Under clause 13.4. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is my understanding, yes. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you.  Any other questions arising? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sorry, I do have two quick questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 35 

 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [5.07 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Leading from questions from Commissioner Dawson and the 

first one is in relation to the level of analysis that had been undertaken 40 

to support the north-west review area process.  Do you recall that 

question? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes I do. 

 45 
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MR CLEARY:   And I think you said something along the lines of a high level 

analysis and perhaps we should have done some more detail in relation 

to that but perhaps I might be paraphrasing what he - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you could bear in mind how long your original cross-5 

examination took Mr Cleary and how far behind the ball we are in 

terms of time. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Absolutely, I am totally conscious of that.  You recall your 

answer? 10 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I do, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of area C, the Council had done sufficient analysis to 

advance it to a stage where those areas were ready for notification as a 15 

plan change. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   We had undertaken sufficient – so following the adoption 

of the October 2012 North West Review Area Report, Council 

undertook, following that identification of the area we undertook 20 

consultation with the community about the proposal to zone it and then 

undertook investigations including geotechnical, transport, other 

infrastructure. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And the detail of those investigations, a list of those were set 25 

out at page 4 of the section 32 analysis, that is correct? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, okay. 30 

 

MR STEVENSON:   But they did not sufficiently address the issues identified 

through those technical reports – we were not on the verge of 

notification of that land based on those reports which identified issues 

that still remain issues today. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes and included for example in the integrated transport 

assessment? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right, for the whole of area 3. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   The second thing quickly, in terms of the issue of shall we say 

a change of opinion in terms of whether ODP required the whole area, 

and I think you referred to an example of the road not sort of going as 

far as the adjacent land, the land owned by Equus Trust, okay.  And I 45 

am conscious that the ODP should not preclude development outside 
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that area but do you believe that there are amendments that can be 

made to the ODP which can satisfy your concerns in that respect or in 

any other respect? 

 

  [5.10 pm] 5 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I think those amendments would include increasing the 

area that is covered by the ODP to include the whole of the area 

identified in the LURP chapter 6, and notwithstanding the zoning, 

notwithstanding any decision about zoning not applying to part of it, it 10 

would need to show how the integration is achieved across the whole. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, and you are happy to assist in that? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary are you referring to the questions of the Panel? 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And those were about the Regional Policy Statement 

policies? 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are your questions related to that? 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, be careful how you frame them because it 

sounded like you are going right back over the ground you covered in 

cross-examination some while ago. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   He changed his opinion. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Cleary, the point you missed was that your 

question must relate to the Panel’s questions which were about giving 35 

effect to the RPS and please bear that in mind, and the time. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sorry, I will just confirm you are happy to assist? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Sorry, yes, I am. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary.  All right, so counsel, just where 

we are at, we are somewhat behind on our time, hence I have got my 45 

grumpy pants on.  So we could keep pushing on I think, does that suit 
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counsel to do that, the other option is that we will go some distance, say 

perhaps towards 5.30 if I can read that clock, and then resume at 9.30. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is fine. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you, I think we will call, so it is 

Mr Allen. 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Your Honour, I made a mistake. I am unavailable, Ray 

Edwards, the submitters who were last on today. (INDISTINCT 2.00) 10 

from the North Island this week. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Based on what I have heard today (INDISTINCT 2.07)  15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that okay, Mr Allen? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, that is fine, I was going to raise it, I did not realise 

Mr Edwards was here. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean we are somewhat behind and I am mindful of 

keeping people waiting.  Mr Edwards if you could come forward, we 

will have your evidence through and, Mr Allen, what we might do with 

the remaining time, if you were okay with this, is you could speak to 25 

your submissions in the morning if you wanted to and we will just call 

the evidence through tonight, we will see how we go either way. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, whichever way suits the Panel. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks very much, Mr Stevenson, you are free to 

go for the moment.  Now, Mr Edwards, I need to find your evidence. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.12 pm] 

 35 
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<RAYMOND JOHN EDWARDS, affirmed [5.13 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So, Mr Edwards, you do not have counsel here? 

 

MR EDWARDS:   No, I am just here by myself. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So your full name is Raymond John Edwards? 5 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have the qualifications and experience you have 

set out at paragraphs 1 to 2 of your evidence? 10 

 

MR EDWARDS:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, in light of what you have heard so far, is there 

anything you wish to add to or change or correct in your evidence? 15 

 

MR EDWARDS:   No, nothing in the evidence as submitted. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So you confirm that evidence to be true and 

correct? 20 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, Mr Winchester, are you ready to go? 

 25 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [5.14 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, I should not be long.  Good evening, 

Mr Edwards.  Now, today we have heard evidence from Mr Norton 

about stormwater matters, have you read Mr Norton’s rebuttal evidence 30 

and supplementary? 

 

MR EDWARDS:   No, and I was not here for when Mr Norton presented. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  Well, the rebuttal and supplementary evidence 35 

has been filed, have you read that? 

 

MR EDWARDS:   I have read the rebuttal evidence of Mr Stevenson which I 

believe covers the issues that the clients I represent in relation to 

option B which we support. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Option B? 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Of the ODP. 

 45 



 Page 170 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, okay, thank you.  That is all I wanted to confirm, 

thank you for that.  And in terms of the basis for that support can you 

advise what expert advice on stormwater matters and legal issues your 

clients have received, have they received any? 

 5 

MR EDWARDS:   They have not received any, no.  The issue that they were 

concerned about was simply a more equal distribution of stormwater 

facilities and it was one to actually facilitate development across 

multiple ownerships of land in a stable manner. 

 10 

  [5.15 pm] 

 

 So where they were coming from was not to try and hinder the ODP 

progressing anyway, but it was actually to facilitate it, and through 

those discussions with the Council with both Mr Norton and Mr 15 

Stevenson in particular is move from the notified version of the ODP to 

option B in Mr Stevenson's rebuttal. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, thank you that is all, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Winchester, I will check if there are 

questions from the Panel and where we got to with this – Ms Dawson 

have you - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Well the only question is, Mr Norton today, after having 25 

talked to the owners of 79 Stanleys Road, it says he now thinks that 

option A is preferable, and that if agreement cannot be reached with the 

property owners required to implement option B, which requires 

stormwater facilities on the western side of Stanleys Road to go onto 79 

and 75 Stanleys Road, then if that cannot be achieved because they are 30 

not interested in developing and being party to that, that he would 

prefer to go back to the Council’s original preferred option which is 

option A. 

 

 So what is your client’s position on option A? 35 

 

MR EDWARDS:   I am actually quite surprise that Mr Norton said that, when 

we met onsite, I was at the site meeting that resulted from the 

mediation, when Mr Norton advised myself and my clients that he 

estimated that the total land area that we required for stormwater 40 

facilities for the total land area in the ODP was 7-10%, and my 

experience as a Civil Engineer that seems about right. 

 

 The comment that was made is that, my client’s property at 66 Stanleys 

but particularly at 279 Wooldridge, they are the lowest lying two 45 

properties of this entire ODP area because that is where the head of 
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Styx comes in, that area required for stormwater for the ODP area 

would essentially and approximately require all of 279 Wooldridge and 

the site below. 

 

 Now that in itself is not the issue, what the issue is, is that Mr Nichols 5 

who is the owner of 279 Wooldridge has no particular desire to 

redevelop the site anytime soon, and the problem as he sees it, is that if 

he was to be the last person to redevelop and he has the downhill site, 

how do the other sites provide for their stormwater? 

 10 

 So the suggestion that we went back to the Council with was a more 

equitable distribution of stormwater facilities, such as that indicated in 

option B. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well we do seem to be at a bit of a stalemate I guess - - -  15 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Yes, we do. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - because Mr Glubb I think it is who is 79 Stanleys Road, 

he is not interested in developing either or providing stormwater 20 

facilities for the western side if it is to be divided into a sort of, the west 

looks after themselves and the east looks after themselves, so you 

probably cannot take it any further, but it may be something that even 

though you are going to the North Island, requires some further 

discussion with the Council. 25 

 

MR EDWARDS:   I agree, with the Panel’s indulgence what I was going to 

suggest that we achieve today is that in my statement I said that if – I 

foresaw that there was a risk that the parties on the western side of 

Stanleys Road who would not have been aware of option B till just 30 

recently, might have an issue with it.  But because with the timetable 

we had to keep going so we lodged this statement simply to say, “Here 

is where we are at, we were hoping we would not need to appear but 

what we predicted might happen has and with the Panel’s indulgence I 

was going to suggest similar to what occur with the job in Hornby 35 

through this process I was involved with, is perhaps we reappear in 

about two weeks and try and come to a compromise solution that keeps 

everyone happy”. 

 

 I am not too sure how that works with timetabling but I think it is 40 

something we could work towards a resolution just through further 

discussion. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, I mean if there is potential for resolution that would be 

helpful because it does not seem like we have got there yet. 45 
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MR EDWARDS:   I agree. 

 

MS DAWSON:   We are potentially looking to sit again in about two weeks 

but I will leave that to the Chair. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And perhaps - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all from me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just check if there are any other questions. 10 

 

  [5.20 pm] 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis, any questions?  So Mr Edwards, just on that, so 

the concept you have in mind is that you confer with the Council, 

Mr Norton - - - 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - with a view to presenting a joint statement on whether 

you can achieve a consensus. 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Yes.   25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or otherwise reporting to us with an application for any 

supplementary evidence to come in. 

 

MR EDWARDS:   The subtlety here being that the stick in the mud so to speak 30 

is actually a third party, the Glubbs. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR EDWARDS:   So it would need to be a three-way thing between - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR EDWARDS:   - - - Mr Norton, ourselves and the Glubbs. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Winchester, do you have any issue with 

this? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir.   

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Could we suggest perhaps 19 October might be a suitable 

date to think about for a direction to be able to be issued for further 

report? 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Yes, I suspect that is right and certainly in light of 5 

Mr Norton’s change of view that is appropriate that further discussions 

take place. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I mean I understand the intricacies around the time 

pressures and so forth as well. 10 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So there is no criticism of anyone on this.  I will set a 

direction now that by 19 October at 4.00 pm, by that date and time you 15 

have leave to file a joint statement with Mr Norton following 

discussions you may have with other parties on this matter and in the 

absence of agreement if that is the scenario by that same date and time, 

to file a brief supplementary statement with any request being made for 

when you might be re-heard.  And on that basis we can probably stand 20 

you down and we will just wait for any report to come through by that 

time and date. 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Thank you, sir, I agree that is a good way forward. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well thank you very much you are free to go for 

the moment. 

 

MR EDWARDS:   Thank you. 

 30 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.22 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, so it may be, let me see it is getting rather late now.  

I think what we will do Mr Allen is have Mr Clark called and just 

present his summary but not put him under cross-examination this 35 

evening but start tomorrow morning at 9.30 and see if we can catch up. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir, and also if overnight our opening submissions 

were filed with the Secretariat this morning - - -  

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   - - - we will just have them taken as read.  Of course with the 

paragraphs 20, 21 and 22 - - - 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
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MR ALLEN:   - - - which relate to Port Hills Road removed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 5 

MR ALLEN:   And that way, unless there are questions from the Panel we will 

just carry straight on.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do you have an updated statement from Mr Clark on 

those paragraphs, with those paragraphs removed at this - - -  10 

 

MR ALLEN:   Yes, and I understand they have been sent to the Secretariat. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, do we have copies of those available?  Because 

what I would prefer to do is either put them on the file now if they are 15 

ready or otherwise just simply adjourn now and start at 9.30. 

 

MR ALLEN:  Apparently we have filed electronic copies with those 

paragraphs removed. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right well I think for the sake of proper process I think 

the best thing is that we will have our files updated overnight, we will 

start here at 9.30, have Mr Clark called at that time, apologise that we 

are slightly behind the ball in terms of our timetable but sometimes it 

happens. 25 

 

MR ALLEN:   That’s fine, sir, the witnesses will be here tomorrow at any rate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 30 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sir, before you adjourn. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Just it may assist you tomorrow morning, I have conferred 35 

with my friend on the basis of his undertaking that those paragraphs 

will be removed - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 40 

MS CRAWFORD:   - - - there is no evidence on that point and no jurisdiction.  

I have no questions for Mr Clark. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well thanks very much Ms Crawford, that will 

help our timetable. 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   If I could be excused until tomorrow afternoon? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you may, thank you.  Professor Bagchi? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, by your leave sir, the Avonhead Community 5 

Group be shifted for our evidence from Wednesday to Thursday if it is 

convenient for the Panel?  I have already spoken to Mr Winchester, the 

counsel for the Council - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   - - - who is to cross-examine and he has no 

objection. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is for your evidence to come through on Thursday? 15 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, if it’s - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that was following Ms Appleyard was it and the 

airport? 20 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, after that even, sir.  At your convenience. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But you will be, now your questions have – and you did 

not have any questions for Mr Clark I see so you do not intend to 25 

cross-examine Mr Clark? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir we have questions but no we do not have any 

questions for Mr Clark. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

  [5.25 pm] 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   We have questions for Mr Penny, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  We will look at the timetable overnight and we 

will let you know in the morning whether that is possible.  It just 

depends on making sure we can manage all the logistics, but I 

understand it is because of the limited resources that your voluntary 40 

group has and the need to manage timetables.   

 

 But mindful of that and Mr Winchester not having any issues, we can 

probably manage it, but I need to make sure the secretariat can inform 

me of that before tomorrow morning.  45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thanks. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, it is quite likely I will be looking at the need to 

cross-examine and there is a potential for that request to be withdrawn, 

which may smooth things along. 5 

 

 I should just report on two matters that we discussed early on, and I do 

not want to hold you up.  I have spoken with my learned friend Mr 

Hughes-Johnson QC and it is unlikely he is going to file expert 

evidence.  He will probably look to file a statement from his client.   10 

 

 I have discussed the jurisdictional issue with him about scope and 

provided further detail to him about the order in Council.  I do not think 

he is necessary aligned to that, so he is going to take instructions on 

that issue.  15 

  

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is clearly a bit of a complexity, when it is really a 

matter for Sir John to determine, I think, around how in due process 

terms you cope with a situation where it so late that further submissions 

were not given the opportunity to be tested or received. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, yes, sir.  And the second matter was the 

position of the airport with regard to the evidence of Mr Penny.  I have 

alerted Mr Williams, who has sent an email to the Secretariat, basically 

putting the matter on Ms Appleyard, in terms of she is the person who 25 

is apparently most responsible for that and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We should thank him for that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No doubt, yes.  And I understand he has indicated she is 30 

likely to either appear tomorrow or at least clarify the position as 

regards Mr Penny’s evidence.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thanks very much, Mr Winchester.  I 

appreciate you did that as a messenger.  Is there anything else? 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, that is it.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we will see you tomorrow at 9.30 am. 

 40 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.27 PM UNTIL  

TUESDAY, 6 OCTOBER 2015 


